
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday, 10 December 2019. 
 01476 406080

Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Wednesday, 18 December 2019 at 2.00 pm
Witham Room - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Committee 
Members:

Councillor Ian Stokes (Chairman)
Councillor Paul Wood (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Chris Benn, Councillor Gloria Johnson, Councillor 
Mark Whittington and Councillor Sue Woolley

Agenda
1.  Membership

The Committee to be notified of any substitute members.

2.  Apologies

3.  Disclosure of interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

4.  Minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2019 (Pages 3 - 6)

5.  Updates from previous meeting

6.  Certification of the 2018/19 Housing Benefit Subsidy Claim
Verbal update from Grant Thornton on the external audit qualification letter. 

Governance 
and Audit 
Committee

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


7.  Internal Audit Update including Internal Audit Indicative Plan 2020/21
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance. 

(Pages 7 - 81)

8.  Risk Management Annual Report 2018-19 including proposed changes to 
the Risk Management Framework
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance. 

(Pages 83 - 91)

9.  Treasury Management activity 2019/20 mid-year review
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance. 

(Pages 93 - 100)

10.  Review of Financial Regulations
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance. 

(Pages 101 - 168)

11.  Contract Procedure Rules
Report of the Cabinet Member for Communities and HR and the Cabinet 
Member for Finance.

(Pages 169 - 194)

12.  Local Government Ombudsman Annual Report 2018/19
Report of the Cabinet Member for Communities and HR. 

(Pages 195 - 199)

13.  Any other business, which the chairman, by reasons of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent.



1

Minutes
Governance and Audit Committee
Wednesday, 25 September 2019

Committee members present

Councillor Ian Stokes (Chairman)
Councillor Chris Benn (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Gloria Johnson

Councillor Sarah Trotter
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Sue Woolley

Cabinet Members

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance

Officers External Audit

John Gregory (Grant Thornton)
Paul Harvey (Grant Thornton)

Internal Audit

Director of Finance (Richard Wyles)
Head of Finance (Alison Hall-Wright)
Community Engagement and Policy 
Development Officer (Carol Drury)
Governance and Risk Officer (Tracey Elliott)
Democratic Officer (Naomi Page) Chris Williams (RSM)

Amjad Ali (RSM)

18. Membership

The Committee was notified that Councillor Trotter was substituting for Councillor 
Whittington for this meeting only.

19. Apologies

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Baxter.

20. Disclosure of interests

No interests were disclosed.

3

Agenda Item 4



2

21. Minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2019

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2019 were noted as a correct record, 
subject to the amendment that an additional note be included under item 15 stating that 
Councillor Woolley had abstained from the vote regarding the Statement of Accounts 
and Annual Governance Statement, as she had not had sufficient opportunity to 
consider the corresponding information. 

22. Updates from previous meeting

Under item 16 of the previous meeting, it had been recommended that arrangements 
were made for the Committee to receive training in respect of treasury management by 
the Council’s treasury advisors. Members were advised that this training had been 
arranged for 18 December 2019, preceding the next Governance and Audit Committee 
meeting.

23. External Audit- Value for Money opinion

John Gregory from Grant Thornton was in attendance to present the External Audit 
report; ‘The Value-for-Money Audit Findings for South Kesteven District Council’. Mr 
Gregory explained that the deferral of the report from the previous Committee meeting 
had been due to the unfortunate timing of the departure of two Statutory Officers at a 
late stage in the production of the audit opinion on the Statement of Accounts and the 
Value for Money conclusion. The External Auditors had felt that further consideration of 
the Council’s governance arrangements was required in order for an accurate Value for 
Money conclusion to be given, as was standard procedure in such cases. This 
additional work had now been carried out, and the Auditors were able to report a 
positive value for money opinion. It was also noted that there were initiatives underway 
to further strengthen governance arrangements.

The production of the Value for Money conclusion report signified that the formal 
completion of the audit could now be certified. The conclusion found that the Council’s 
financial sustainability position was currently under control, but external influences such 
as the Fair Funding Review may bring increased challenges in the future, calling for 
difficult decisions to be made moving forward. Members were assured that the 
additional fees for the further work undertaken in relation to the Value for Money 
conclusion were at a consistent level with those made to all clients requiring additional 
work. 

Committee members were given the opportunity to ask any questions arising from the 
report. Reference was made to the discussions between Auditors and Senior Officers 
which had been undertaken as part of the additional work. One Member wished for 
clarification as to who the Auditors had consulted. Auditors had spoken to the Section 
151 officer, the Monitoring Officer and the Interim Chief Executive in order to seek the 
necessary assurances. 

4



3

Members concluded that they were pleased to note the findings of the report and the 
overall positive result of the Value for Money conclusion. 

 
24. Internal Audit progress report

Members were invited to consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and the 
Internal Audit Progress Report (Appendix 1). It was noted that there was an error in the 
Cabinet Member’s report under Section 1 - ‘Progress Report’. The headings ‘Building 
Control’ and ‘Allocations & Lettings’ should have been displayed the other way around 
in the table. All other details within the table were in the correct order. 

The progress report summarised the four audits that had been undertaken in the 
financial year to date by the Internal Auditors RSM. The Internal Audit plan was on track 
to be completed within the time frame agreed. Those audits which had not yet been 
carried out were in the process of being scoped and arrangements were being made 
with the relevant service areas. 

The four audits covered by the Internal Audit progress report were Building Control, 
Allocations and Lettings, Housing Benefits and Customer Relationship Management. All 
four audits had received a positive opinion, with some management actions identified 
for each audit. 

The Building Control Audit identified four medium and two low management actions and 
implementation dates had been put in place for these. One Member stated that the 
number of medium priority findings relating to the same twenty building control 
applications was a significant proportion and queried whether this was a concern. The 
Internal Audit team explained that as the findings were minor gaps of information in 
relation to the amount of data processed overall for each application, reasonable 
assurance had been able to be found. There would be follow up work undertaken to 
review the progression of the agreed actions. The Customer Relationship Management 
Audit had also required some medium level actions relating to the Council’s current 
CRM system. 

The Committee were satisfied that they had received a comprehensive review of the 
report and were able to note its contents. 

25. Safeguarding Annual Report

Members were invited to consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Communities, 
Health and Wellbeing along with the Safeguarding Annual Report (Appendix 1). The 
Cabinet Member praised the Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer, 
who had highlighted the importance of the safeguarding of the district being a shared 
responsibility of all Officers and Members. 

The Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer then presented the 
report, explaining that it had been brought to the Governance and Audit Committee 

5



4

annually due to the constitutional requirement for the report to be produced, which was 
consistent with the regulatory work undertaken by the Committee. 

The report gave an overview of the Council’s response in relation to Safeguarding, 
including the current policies and procedures in place. It also outlined the Council’s 
training arrangements in relation to safeguarding. Thirty three Members had already 
undertaken safeguarding training as part of their induction process earlier in the year. 
Officers were all required to undergo a form of safeguarding training, the level of which 
would be dependent on individual job role and responsibilities. It was also now a 
requirement for taxi drivers to partake in e-learning safeguarding training before they 
could receive or renew a licence. 

Members were advised that eleven safeguarding referrals had been made by the 
authority in the 2018-19 period. Five of the referrals had related to adults, seven to 
children/young people and one to an unborn child. The report also outlined the Council’s 
involvement in the Lincolnshire Assurance and Assessment Framework (LAAF). Under 
the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board, the Council was required to undertake a 
self-assessment audit every three years in order to prove its compliance with its 
safeguarding duties. The authority’s most recent self-assessment, along with 
supplementary evidence was submitted earlier in 2019. A response was now awaited 
from the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board. 

Members were invited to ask questions arising from the report. One Member asked 
what measures were in place to ensure that taxi drivers and housing repair contractors 
had been employed subject to DBS checks. It was explained that DBS checks were not 
required for any officer of a district authority, as the provision of care was the 
responsibility of Lincolnshire County Council for the area of South Kesteven. Another 
Member related that as there had been so much information received during the 
Member induction process (when the initial safeguarding training had been provided), 
that additional training would be welcomed as a refresher for Members. 

The Chairman added his thanks for the report and suggested that additional training be 
put forward as a recommendation of the Committee. The Committee confirmed that the 
contents of the appended 2018/19 Safeguarding Annual Report had been noted.

Recommendation

That additional training be provided for Members in relation to safeguarding

26. Any other business, which the chairman, by reasons of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent.

There was no other business to be discussed.

27. Close of Meeting

The meeting closed at 14.34.

6



Governance and Audit 
Committee
18 December 2019

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

        

Internal Audit Update including Internal Audit 
Indicative Plan 2020/21
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards the internal audit service provides 
assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the authority’s governance, risk management 
and control arrangements. The opinion provided within individual reports issued to management 
contributes towards an annual audit opinion that forms part of the framework of assurances that 
informs the Council’s Annual Governance Statement.

Report Author

Tracey Elliott, Governance & Risk Officer

 01476 406038

 t.elliott@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright – Head of Finance 3 December 2019

Approved by: Richard Wyles – Director of Finance 3 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 4 December 2019

Recommendations to the decision maker

1. The Governance and Audit Committee is asked to review and note the contents of 
the attached Progress Report and Follow Up Report that have been prepared by the 
internal auditors RSM. 

2. The Governance and Audit Committee is asked to review and provide feedback on 
the Indicative Plan 2020/21 that has been prepared by the internal auditors RSM.

7

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 Progress Report
1.1 The Internal Audit plan was approved by Governance and Audit Committee on 21 March 

2019.  The Progress Report, attached as Appendix A, details the finding of the audits 
undertaken since the last progress report.

1.2 The five reports being presented are:  Enforcement – Littering, Health & Safety 
Arrangements and Reporting, Complaints and Freedom of Information, Communications – 
Social Media and IT Project Management:

Audit Assurance H M L Total

Communications – Social Media Amber Green - 3 1 4

IT Project Management Amber Red 1 3 2 6

Enforcement – Littering Green - - - -

Complaints and Freedom of Information Amber Green - 4 2 6

Health & Safety Arrangements and Reporting Amber Green - 3 2 5

Total 1 13 7 21

1.3 The Follow Up Report, attached as Appendix B, details the follow up of 25 management 
actions (10 Low, 15 Medium).  Reasonable progress has been made with 13 actions being 
implemented and the remaining 12 either not implemented or ongoing.

1.4 The indicative internal audit plan, attached as Appendix C, has been extracted from the 
three year strategy presented to Governance and Audit Committee on 21 March 2019.  This 
is being presented to Committee for early comment.  Following input from senior managers 
the draft internal audit plan will be presented to the Committee meeting on 18 March 2020 
for review and final approval.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 N/A

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 N/A

4 Preferred Option
4.1 N/A

5 Reasons for the Recommendations
5.1 To conform with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, and to provide assurance to the 

Governance and Audit Committee regarding the Council’s internal control environment, it is 
recommended that Committee review and note the contents of the attached Progress 
Report and Follow Up Report.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 N/A

8



7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There are no financial implications.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 

require every local authority to maintain an adequate and effective internal audit service that 
would include a review of progress. Those charged with governance are asked to review 
the contents of the attached reports which summarises the work undertaken by the internal 
auditors and the indicative internal audit plan 2020/21.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 None

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 None

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 None

12 Background Papers
12.1 None

13 Appendices
13.1 Appendix A – Internal Audit Progress Report

13.2 Appendix B – Internal Audit Follow Up Report

13.3 Appendix C – Internal Audit Indicative Plan 2020/21

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  18 December 2019

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 
Internal Audit Progress Report 
Governance and Audit Committee 

18 December 2019 
 

Page 1 of 50

11

Appendix 1



 

 

  South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 1 

CONTENTS 

 
1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................... 2 
2 Reports considered at this Governance and audit committee ..................................................................................... 3 
3 Looking ahead .............................................................................................................................................................. 7 
4 Other matters ............................................................................................................................................................... 8 
Appendix A: Internal audit assignments completed to date .............................................................................................. 9 
For further information contact ........................................................................................................................................ 10 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 2 of 50

12



 

  South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 2 

The Internal Audit Plan for 2019/20 was approved by the Governance and Audit Committee on 21 March 2019. Below 
provides a summary update on progress against that plan and summarises the results of our work to date. Please see 
chart below for current progress with the Plan.  

   

 

58% 11% 5% 26%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

1

Assignments Complete Assignments in Draft Assignments in Progress Assignments Not Yet Due

1 INTRODUCTION 

Page 3 of 50

13



 

  South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 3 

This table of the audit assignments that have been completed and the impacts of those findings since the last 
Governance and Audit Committee held. The Executive Summary and Key Findings of the assignments below are 
attached to this progress report. 

Assignments Status Opinion issued Actions agreed 
  H M L
 
 
Communication – Social Media (6.19/20) 
 

 
 
Final 

 

 
 
0 

 
 
3 

 
 
1 

 
 
IT Project Management (7.19/20) 

 
 
Final 

 

 
 
1 

 
 
3 
 

 
 
2 

 
 
Enforcement – Littering (8.19/20) 

 
 
Final 

 

 
 
0 

 
 
0 

 
 
0 

 
 
Complaints and Freedom of Information 
(9.19/20) 

 
 
Final 

 

 
 
0 

 
 
4 

 
 
2 

 
 
Health and Safety Arrangements and 
Reporting (10.19/20) 

 
 
Final 

 

 
 
0 

 
 
3 

 
 
2 

 

* The Follow Up 2 report will be presented to the Governance and Audit Committee separately. 

 

 

 

 

 

2 REPORTS CONSIDERED AT THIS GOVERNANCE 
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Page 4 of 50

14



 

  South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 4 

2.1 Impact of findings to date 

 

Communication – Social Media (6.19/20) 
Conclusion: Reasonable Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing undertaken, three ‘medium’ and one ‘low’ priority findings were identified. 
Management actions were agreed in respect of all the findings. 

The medium priority findings relate to: 

• The Council does not have an up to date Communications Strategy in place and in turn does not 
have a Social Media Strategy in place either as a standalone document or as part of the 
Communications Strategy. 

• There is a Communications Risk Register in place, but this has not been reviewed and updated 
since March 2018. A review of the current register confirmed that there were no Social Media 
risks detailed and there was no evidence that Social Media had been considered for inclusion. 

• Review of usage of the social media platforms listed on the Council’s website identified that 
although the use of Facebook and Twitter was frequent, the use of others such as LinkedIn and 
Instagram was less frequent so the Council may not be getting as much engagement as possible 
from these. 

 

IT Project Management (7.19/20) 
Conclusion: Partial Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Negative 

As a result of testing undertaken, one ‘high’, three ‘medium’ and two ‘low’ priority findings were 
identified. Management actions were agreed in respect of all the findings. 

The high priority finding relates to: 

• We confirmed that documentation outlining the initial scope, key deliverables, roles and 
responsibilities, and a project plan including initial timescales and key milestones, have not been 
established at the initial planning stage for projects.  

The medium priority findings relate to: 

• We confirmed that all project related risks and current issues are documented in the Project 
Highlight Reports. All issues and decisions are documented in a separate Issue Log and Decision 
Log. The lack of a single consolidated document increases the risk that not all risks and issues 
are fully captured, evaluated and addressed in a timely manner.  

• We confirmed that the benefits of undertaking a project has not been defined at the initiation stage 
of the Agile rollout project. The lack of benefit tracking can lead to the project not fully realising the 
benefits outlined during the initiation stage. 

• The Council does not have documentation in place establishing initial budget requirements for the 
Agile rollout project.  

Page 5 of 50

15



 

  South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 5 

 

Enforcement – Littering (8.19/20) 
Conclusion: Substantial Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

We did not consider it necessary to raise management actions as a result of this audit. 

Full details are included in the Executive Summary, attached as an appendix to this report. 

 

Complaints and Freedom of Information (9.19/20) 
Conclusion: Reasonable Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing undertaken, four ‘medium’ and two ‘low’ priority findings were identified. 
Management actions were agreed in respect of all the findings. 

The medium priority findings relate to: 

• Through review of the FOI Civica Procedure Document, it was noted that the document contained 
screenshots of personal information which could be deemed as identifiable information under 
GDPR.  

• The Project Delivery Officer does not currently maintain a training log or record of individuals who 
have been provided with Civica training in relation to the management of FOI’s. The Operations 
Co-ordinator - Customer Services maintains a training log of admin staff who require and have 
received FOI training. Through review of the log it was noted that six Council Officers were yet to 
receive FOI training at the time of audit. 

A sample of 20 FOI requests were selected and tested from the current Financial Year. Four 
instances were noted where evidence of a response to the original request was not maintained on 
file and the 20 working days set guideline had passed. A further instance was noted where a 
request had been aborted within the 20 working days period, however, evidence could not be 
provided as to why the request had been aborted within the system and as to whether a 
satisfactory response had been provided to the original requestor. 

• The Council currently do not undertake any management reporting for requests made under the 
FOIA 2000. 

• The Project Delivery Officer does not currently maintain a training log or record of individuals who 
have been provided with Civica Training in relation to the management of complaints. The 
Operations Co-ordinator - Customer Services maintains a training log of officers who require and 
have received complaints training. Through review of the log it was noted that five Council 
Officers were yet to receive complaints training at the time of audit. 

 

Health and Safety Arrangements and Reporting (10.19/20) 
Conclusion: Reasonable Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing undertaken, three ‘medium’ and two ‘low’ priority findings were identified. 
Management actions were agreed in respect of all the findings. 

The medium priority findings relate to: 

Page 6 of 50

16



 

  South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 6 

• A sample of five activity based and five play-area risk assessments were selected and tested from 
the Property Department. Five Instances were noted where the risk assessments had not been 
fully completed and not maintained up to date. 

• Through discussion with the Corporate Operations – Property officer it was confirmed that the 
Property Department does not currently maintain a log of training delivered to Property staff 
members. As a result, it was not possible to confirm that staff members had received appropriate 
Health and Safety training relevant to their specific job-role. 

• A sample of 20 reported incidents within the current financial year were selected and tested from 
the Health and Safety central incident log. Eight instances were noted where an Accident and 
Incident Report Form had not been provided to the Health and Safety Team within 10 days of the 
initial accident date, with one instance taking 32 days after the original incident date. 

At the time of audit, there had been two RIDDOR reportable incidents in relation to accidents 
within the workplace. One instance was noted where an incident had been reported to the HSE 23 
days after the original incident date and was therefore outside the 15-day reporting period 
required. 

Page 7 of 50

17



 

  South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 7 

Assignment area Timing per approved      
IA plan 2019/20

Status 

Purchasing Cards Quarter 3 Draft Report Issued

Procurement and Contracts Quarter 3 Draft Report Issued

Risk Management  Quarter 3 In Progress 

Homelessness * Quarter 3 Not Yet Due 

Capital Strategy * Quarter 2 Not Yet Due 

Flexible Working Quarter 4 Not Yet Due 

Void Management Quarter 4 Not Yet Due 

Planning Service Quarter 4 Not Yet Due 
 

* see section 4.1 Changes to the Audit Plan. 

3 LOOKING AHEAD 

Page 8 of 50

18



 

  South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 8 

4.1 Changes to the audit plan  
At the request of management an advisory review of cash handling processes at Wyndham Park, Council Markets 
(Grantham, Stamford and Bourne), Arts Centres (Grantham and Stamford), Public Toilets (Grantham and Stamford) 
and Grantham Travellers Rest was undertaken and a report has been issued to management. 

Both the Capital Strategy and Homelessness reviews was scheduled for quarter 2 and quarter 3 respectively and 
these have been moved into quarter 4. 

4.2 Quality Assurance and Continual Improvement  
To ensure that RSM remains compliant with the PSIAS framework we have a dedicated internal Quality Assurance 
Team who undertake a programme of reviews to ensure the quality of our audit assignments. This is applicable to all 
Heads of Internal Audit, where a sample of their clients will be reviewed. Any findings from these reviews being used 
to inform the training needs of our audit teams. 

The Quality Assurance Team is made up of: Ross Wood (Manager, Quality Assurance Department) with support from 
other team members across the Department. All reports are reviewed by James Farmbrough as the Head of the 
Quality Assurance Department. 

This is in addition to any feedback we receive from our post assignment surveys, client feedback, appraisal processes 
and training needs assessments. 

4.3 Post Assignment Surveys  
We are committed to delivering an excellent client experience every time we work with you. Your feedback helps us to 
improve the quality of the service we deliver to you. Currently, following the completion of each product we deliver we 
attached a brief survey for the client lead to complete.  

We would like to give you the opportunity to consider how frequently you receive these feedback requests; and 
whether the current format works. Options available are: 

• After each product (current option); 
• Monthly / quarterly / annual feedback request; and 
• Executive lead only, or executive lead and key team members. 

 

 

 

 

  

4 OTHER MATTERS 

Page 9 of 50

19



 

  South Kesteven District Council Internal Audit Progress Report | 9 

APPENDIX A: INTERNAL AUDIT ASSIGNMENTS 
COMPLETED TO DATE 
Report previously seen by the Governance and Audit Committee and included for information purposes only: 

Assignment Status Opinion issued 
Actions agreed

H M L
 
Follow Up 1 (1.19/20) 
 

Final  Reasonable progress   0   9   4 

Building Control (2.19/20) Final 

 

 0  4  2 

 
 
Allocations and Lettings (3.19/20) 
 

 
 

Final 
 

 0  0  2 

 
 
Housing Benefits (4.19/20) 

 
 

Final 
 

 0  0  2 

 
 
Customer Relationship Management 
(5.19/20) 
 

 
 

Final 

 

 0  3  1 

 

  

Page 10 of 50

20



 

rsmuk.com 

This report is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed. To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM Risk Assurance 
Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party. 
 
The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are not necessarily 
a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. Actions for improvements 
should be assessed by you for their full impact. This report, or our work, should not be taken as a substitute for management’s 
responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. We emphasise that the responsibility for a sound system of 
internal controls rests with management and our work should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may 
exist. Neither should our work be relied upon to identify all circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there be any. 
 
Our report is prepared solely for the confidential use of South Kesteven District Council, and solely for the purposes set out herein. 
This report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party wishing to acquire any rights 
from RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP for any purpose or in any context. Any third party which obtains access to this report or a 
copy and chooses to rely on it (or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM Risk 
Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party and shall not be liable for 
any loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature which is caused by any person’s reliance on representations in this report. 
 
This report is released to you on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save as otherwise 
permitted by agreed written terms), without our prior written consent. 
 
We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.  
 
RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales no. OC389499 at 6th floor, 25 
Farringdon Street, London EC4A 4AB. 

 

Chris Williams, Head of Internal 
Audit 

chris.williams@rsmuk.com 

Address: 
RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP 
Suite A, 7th Floor 
City Gate East 
Tollhouse Hill 
Nottingham NG1 5FS 

Phone: 01159 644450 
Mobile: 07753 584993 

 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT 

Page 11 of 50

21



 

  South Kesteven District Council Communication – Social Media 6.19/20  

1.1 Background  
A review of Communications - Social Media was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council (the Council) as part of 
the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2019/20. 

The Council has a Communications Team in place overseen by the Head of Communications. As part of the Team 
there is a Web Monitoring and Social Media Officer who is responsible for ensuring social media is up to date, posts 
are applicable, and queries made through social media are responded to.  

The Council uses a wide variety of social media platforms including: 

• Facebook; 

• Twitter; 

• Instagram; 

• YouTube; 

• LinkedIn; and 

• Flickr. 

 

Each of the platforms has at least one account; a parent Council site but there are also a number of child sites as 
tourist attractions and festivals. There are additional moderators allocated to each account able to make posts to keep 
the accounts up to date. 

1.2 Conclusion 
Our review had identified that the use of some of social media platforms is infrequent, and this may reflect the lack of a 
Communications Strategy being in place. From our review and testing undertaken we have agreed with management 
and raised three ‘Medium’ and one ‘Low’ priority management actions which has resulted in a reasonable assurance 
opinion being provided.  

The medium priority actions were in relation to there being no Communications Strategy in place, the Communications 
risk register not being up to date and the infrequent use of social media. 

Internal audit opinion: 
Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can 
take reasonable assurance that the controls in place to 
manage this area are suitably designed and consistently 
applied. However, we have identified issues that need to 
be addressed in order to ensure that the control 
framework is effective in managing the identified area. 

 

 

 

COMMUNICATION – SOCIAL MEDIA - EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY 

Page 12 of 50

22



 

  South Kesteven District Council Communication – Social Media 6.19/20  

1.3 Key findings 
We have identified the following well managed controls in place: 

• The Council has an up to date Social Media Usage Policy included as part of the Employee Handbook that outlines 
clear requirements for the use of social media by staff. If the Policy is breached it will result in disciplinary action 
being taken. 

• The use of Facebook and Twitter is frequent and keeps stakeholders up to date with anything happening within the 
district. 

• Stakeholders such as members of the public can provide feedback and ask questions using Social Media. It was 
confirmed through sample testing that comments and questions are replied to in a timely manner. 

• Documented evidence was provided that social media plays a part in disaster recovery at the Council and through 
discussions with the Head of Communications and the Web Monitoring and Social Media Officer it was confirmed 
that social media had been used as part of an Emergency Planning exercise recently performed. 

• The use of social media is monitored by the Web Monitoring and Social Media Officer on a regular basis using a 
variety of management tools including; Facebook Business Manager, Hootsuite and Google Analytics. Information 
from the monitoring is included in weekly press roundups when necessary to keep Senior Management up to date 
with key information. 

However, the following findings have resulted in three medium priority management actions being agreed: 

• The Council does not have an up to date Communications Strategy in place and in turn does not have a Social 
Media Strategy in place either as a standalone document or as part of the Communications Strategy. 

• There is a Communications Risk Register in place, but this has not been reviewed and updated since March 2018. 
A review of the current register confirmed that there were no Social Media risks detailed and there was no evidence 
that Social Media had been considered for inclusion. 

• Review of usage of the social media platforms listed on the Council’s website identified that although the use of 
Facebook and Twitter was frequent, the use of others such as LinkedIn and Instagram was less frequent so the 
Council may not be getting as much engagement as possible from these. 

Details of the ‘low’ priority management action can be found in Section 2 of this report. 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 
The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made. The detailed findings section 
lists the specific actions agreed with management to implement. 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 
reviewed in this area. 

 

Area Control 
design not 
effective*

Non-
Compliance 
with controls*

Agreed management actions
Low Medium High 

Communications – Social Media 1 (9) 3 (9) 1 3 0 

Total  
 

1 3 0 

Page 13 of 50

23



 

  South Kesteven District Council Communication – Social Media 6.19/20  

1.5 Additional feedback  
As part of the audit we carried out some benchmarking of the use of the various social media platforms at similar Local 
Authorities. The results of this can be found below: 

 

 

 

 

Twitter Actively posting Anything non-council related Instagram Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Yes, posting about a Street 
cleaning, bins, job 
oppurtunities and local 
festivals. Also retweeting local 
initiatives etc No Yes

A post in the last two weeks 
but nothing prior since 
October 2018 No

YouTube Actively posting Anything non-council related LinkedIn Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Post on average once a month. 
Range about highlights of 
events, work conducted by the 
council, clips from the news. No Yes No, only two posts No

Facebook Actively posting Anything non-council related Flicker Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Yes, posting about a street 
cleaning, bins, job 
opportunities and local 
festivals No Yes

Not active but a series of 
photos from festivals and 
some of the work done by 
the council. No

SKDC

Twitter Actively posting Anything non-council related Instagram Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Yes, about council related 
activities. They have not 
shared much related to local 
activities Yes

Doesn't appear to be 
working N/a

YouTube Actively posting Anything non-council related LinkedIn Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Nothing for 8 months, but 
previously had been actively 
posting. Uploaded videos 
about council related services, 
e.g. benefit claims No Yes

Not many posts, half of them 
job listings. One of the 
accounts N/a

Facebook Actively posting Anything non-council related Flicker Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Yes, have a number of events 
set up. Messenger pops up 
automatically. Not much 
sharing of other stuff No No N/a N/a

Local 
Authority 1

Twitter Actively posting Anything non-council related Instagram Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Yes, about a variety including 
council work. Not much 
related to local festivals and 
events N/a Yes

Yes, but not much 
information. Mainly 
promotion pictures from 
around the area N/a

YouTube Actively posting Anything non-council related LinkedIn Actively posting Anything non-council related

No N/a N/a Yes

Yes, mainly relating to 
service or events that can 
help businesses N/a

Facebook Actively posting Anything non-council related Flicker Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Yes, similar to twitter, Have 
events linked to it. The 
messenger pops up for queries. No Yes No, nothing since 2011 No

Local 
Authority 2

Page 14 of 50

24



 

  South Kesteven District Council Communication – Social Media 6.19/20  

 

Overall our benchmarking shows that the usage of social media platforms is relatively consistent with other similar 
Local Authorities is the area.  

Facebook and Twitter are the two platforms used most frequently by the other Local Authorities. 

The Council appears to utilise YouTube more frequently than others; however, the Council’s use of LinkedIn for 
recruitment and other business related posts appears to be limited compared to others. 

 

 
 

Twitter Actively posting Anything non-council related Instagram Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Yes, but very informal. Not 
much about council services or 
events.

Not all 100%, a lot of 
retweets Yes

Yes, but nothing relating to 
council services. Mainly brief 
announcements No

YouTube Actively posting Anything non-council related LinkedIn Actively posting Anything non-council related

No N/a N/a Yes

Nothing for 10 months, 
before that there has been 
mainly jobs, office space and 
getting online No

Facebook Actively posting Anything non-council related Flicker Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Yes, a lot of sharing of other 
statuses. Not much relating to 
council services. No No N/a N/a

Local 
Authority 3

Twitter Actively posting Anything non-council related Instagram Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Yes, retweet a number of local 
services. Not much on the 
services provided by the 
council No Yes

Yes, mainly of successful 
projects or events happening No

YouTube Actively posting Anything non-council related LinkedIn Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

All posts seem to be from 2 
months ago, and all about 
swimming Occasionally Yes

Yes, the odd job related post. 
Not much related to the 
businesses and services 
provided by the council. No

Facebook Actively posting Anything non-council related Flicker Actively posting Anything non-council related

Yes

Similar sharing of stories to 
the twitter page except not as 
many shares of local services. No Yes

Nothing since 2012, even 
then just photos of events. No

Local 
Authority 4

Page 15 of 50

25



 

  South Kesteven District Council Communication – Social Media 6.19/20  

2 DETAILED FINDINGS 
Categorisation of internal audit findings 
Priority Definition

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality.

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could lead to: Financial losses which could affect the 
effective function of a department, loss of controls or process being audited or possible regulatory scrutiny/reputational damage, negative publicity in local 
or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management issue that may lead to: Substantial losses, violation 
of corporate strategies, policies or values, regulatory scrutiny, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media or adverse 
regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines.

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included in this section, only those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in control identified 
from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Area: Communication – Social Media 

1 Missing Control  

The Council has a 
Communications / 
Social Media Strategy 
in place which sets out 
the approach adopted 
to engage with 
stakeholders via social 
media platforms. 

No - Discussion with the Head of 
Communications and the Web 
Monitoring and Social Media Officer 
confirmed that there is not currently 
a Social Media Strategy in place.  

The Head of Communications has 
only been in post for six months and 
for the 12 months prior to that there 
was no one undertaking the role.   

There is also not an overall 
Communications Strategy in place at 
the Council and discussion with the 
Head of Communications confirmed 
that this will be developed prior to 
the Social Media Strategy as they 
will feed into each other.    

Without a Communications / Social 
Media Strategy in place there is no 

Medium A Communications 
Strategy will be 
developed, and this will 
either include Social 
Media or a separate 
document will be 
developed. 

Management Comment 

This will be implemented 
following the adoption of 
a new Corporate Plan. 

31 December 
2020 (Strategy to 
be produced six 
months after 
Corporate Plan 
approved). 

Head of 
Communications 

Page 16 of 50

26



 

  South Kesteven District Council Communication – Social Media 6.19/20  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

clear direction of what the Council’s 
view, and priorities are in relation to 
the use of Social Media. 

2 The Council uses a 
number of social media 
platforms including 
Facebook, Twitter, 
LinkedIn, Google+, 
YouTube, Flickr and 
Instagram.  

The platform used is 
selected to maximise 
the engagement from 
members of the public 
and other stakeholders. 

Yes No The Council's website outlines the 
social media platforms it uses. The 
Council is the 'parent' account on 
each of the platforms but there are 
also a number of 'child' accounts for 
various events and tourist 
attractions.   

A sample of 20 posts were reviewed 
across the various platforms and 
accounts listed on the website and 
the results were as follows:   

Facebook and Twitter   

Facebook and Twitter are frequently 
used for a number of reasons and 
campaigns including: 

• Promoting events in the area; 
• Ensuring members of the public 

are up to date with any changes to 
services such as refuse collection; 

• Notifying them of any incidents 
that have occurred or that are 
predicted such as weather 
warnings and road closures due to 
accidents; and  

• They are also used for advertising 
current job vacancies.  

Both platforms had been used within 
the 24 hours of them being 
reviewed.   

 

Medium The Council will update 
the website to reflect 
platforms and accounts 
used and review the 
accounts the Council 
currently has to ensure 
they are all needed, if so, 
they will review these to 
ensure they are used to 
their full potential. 

Management Comment 

It is agreed that dormant 
accounts should be 
removed, and their use 
reviewed as part of any 
future strategies/plans 

Immediate Head of 
Communications 

Page 17 of 50

27



 

  South Kesteven District Council Communication – Social Media 6.19/20  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

LinkedIn   

There are two LinkedIn accounts, 
the Council account which has not 
had any activity in the last six 
months and the Council jobs 
account that has had two jobs 
posted over the last week but prior 
to that it had also not been used in 
the six months.   

YouTube   

There were various informative 
videos by the Council available on 
YouTube and the latest one had 
been posted within the last week.   

Instagram   

There had been a post on the 
Discover South Kesteven account 
within the last two weeks, however, 
when the Wyndham Park and 
Gravity Fields Festival accounts 
were reviewed there had not been 
any posts since October 2018.  

Flickr    

There was no recent activity by the 
Council on Flickr.   

The website also mentions Google+ 
which is no longer active, and it has 
not been updated to reflect this.   

If the Council does not use all of the 
social media platforms it advertises 
on a regular basis for information 
relevant to the particular platform or 
account, there is the risk that 

Page 18 of 50

28



 

  South Kesteven District Council Communication – Social Media 6.19/20  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

stakeholder engagement is not 
maximised which may lead to an 
increased number or queries and 
complaints. 

3 Each social media 
platform/page has a 
moderator responsible 
for ensuring information 
is up to date and 
making appropriate 
posts to the site.  

The Web Monitoring 
and Social Media 
Officer has access to all 
of these platforms and 
sites to make changes 
and update where 
necessary. 

Yes No The current organisational structure 
for the Communications Team is in 
the process of being revised and 
updated by the Head of 
Communications as part of a 
restructure but this is not currently 
available to view.   

There is currently a Web Monitoring 
and Social Media Officer responsible 
for social media overseen by a Head 
of Communications.    

Each social media platform / page 
has a moderator responsible for 
ensuring information is up to date 
and making appropriate posts to the 
site. The Web Monitoring and Social 
Media Officer has access to all of 
these platforms and sites to make 
changes an update where 
necessary.   

Although there is a list of officers 
with access to update the various 
social media platform there was no 
evidence of defined roles and 
responsibilities clearly outlined.   

Without clear roles and 
responsibilities there is the risk that 
officers may not be undertaking their 
correct duties in relation to social 
media. 

Low This will be part of the 
social media plan that 
supports our 
Communications 
Strategy.  

Management Comment 

This will be implemented 
following the adoption of 
a new Corporate Plan. 

31 December 
2020 (Strategy to 
be produced six 
months after 
Corporate Plan 
approved). 

Head of 
Communications 

Page 19 of 50

29



 

  South Kesteven District Council Communication – Social Media 6.19/20  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

4 There is a Corporate 
Risk Register in place 
along with service level 
risk registers.  

The Risk Registers are 
reviewed on an annual 
basis to ensure all risks 
are current.   

There is a 
Communications Risk 
Register and social 
media risks are 
considered as part of 
this. 

Yes No Through discussion with the Head of 
Communications and the Risk and 
Governance Officer it was confirmed 
that there is both a Corporate Risk 
Register and a Communications 
Risk Register.    

Review of the Communications Risk 
Register confirmed that it was last 
reviewed and updated in March 
2018 and there were no specific 
social media risks included.   

Review of the Risk Management 
Group minutes from May 2019 
confirmed that the service level risk 
registers are due to be reviewed and 
updated over the summer period, 
but this has not yet been 
undertaken.   

If the Council does not consider risks 
in relation to social media, there may 
not be mitigating controls put in 
place leading to increased risk of 
reputational damage. 

Medium The Communications 
Risk Register will be 
reviewed and updated.  

Social media risks will be 
included as part of this 
review. 

Management Comment 

The Head of 
Communications will 
reschedule a meeting 
with the Risk and 
Governance Officer to 
ensure this takes place. 

31 January 2020 Head of 
Communications 

Page 20 of 50

30



 

  South Kesteven District Council Project Management 7.19/20 

1.1 Background  
A review of IT Project Management was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council as part of the approved 
internal audit plan for 2019/20. South Kesteven District Council (‘the Council’) has an internal Project team, consisting 
of three Project Leads who report to the Organisational Development and Change Manager. The Organisational 
Development and Change Manager reports to the Strategic Director – Transformation and Change. 

Projects are initially identified by service areas and then discussed at Corporate Management Team (‘CMT’) meetings. 
CMT meetings are attended by the Chief Executive and four Strategic Directors. During these meetings, projects are 
prioritised and then allocated resources (Organisational Development & Change team) to deliver the project. Service 
reviews are used to help identify future projects. CMT then prioritise the projects and determine delivery timescales. 

As agreed with Management, the review focussed on the Council’s approach to project management, with particular 
reference to the ‘Agile rollout’ project, which involved the replacement of all desktop PC’s, old laptops for staff with 
new laptops that have a new build and configuration to work in any location. The project was initiated in July 2018, and 
the Council began rollout of new devices in January 2019. 

1.2 Conclusion  
This review has confirmed that South Kesteven District Council has in place some adequate controls surrounding 
Project Management, but we have also identified some weakness in the controls and have agreed one ‘high’, three 
‘medium’ and two ‘low’ category management actions.  

The ‘high’ and ‘medium’ category management actions are in relation to the lack of formal documentation at the 
planning stage for projects, outlining initial scope, budget, benefits, and key milestones. 

Internal audit opinion: 
Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can 
take partial assurance that the controls to manage this risk 
are suitably designed and consistently applied. 
Action is needed to strengthen the control framework to 
manage the identified risk(s). 

 

 

1.3 Key findings 
The key findings from this review are as follows: 

• We confirmed that documentation outlining the initial scope, key deliverables, roles and responsibilities, and a 
project plan including initial timescales and key milestones, have not been established at the initial planning 
stage for projects. Without a clearly defined and approved scope, there is a risk of scope creep; which could 
have potential negative effects upon project delivery. 

• We confirmed that all project related risks and current issues are documented in the Project Highlight Reports. 
All issues and decisions are documented in a separate Issue Log and Decision Log. The lack of a single 
consolidated document increases the risk that not all risks and issues are fully captured, evaluated and 
addressed in a timely manner. This can lead to risks materialising if they are not properly mitigated. 

IT PROJECT MANAGEMENT - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page 21 of 50

31



 

  South Kesteven District Council Project Management 7.19/20 

• We confirmed that the benefits of undertaking a project has not been defined at the initiation stage of the Agile 
rollout project. The lack of benefit tracking can lead to the project not fully realising the benefits outlined during 
the initiation stage and as a result, failing to deliver its objectives and expected outcomes. 

• The Council does not have documentation in place establishing initial budget requirements for the Agile rollout 
project. There is a risk that the project may incur additional costs and operate over the assigned budget. 
Management comment - Non Key Decision report was produced and approved November 2019 to cover the 
full funding for the completion of the project. 

 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 
The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made. The detailed findings section 
lists the specific actions agreed with management to implement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

Risk Control 
design not 
effective

Non 
compliance 
with controls

Agreed management actions
Low Medium High 

The delivered solution does not meet 
requirements as it contains defects, 
missing functionality, or is not fit for 
purpose, does not meet business 
objectives, resulting in disruption to the 
business, loss of reputation & potentially 
loss of business. 

2 4 2 3 1 

Total  2 3 1

Page 22 of 50

32



 

  South Kesteven District Council Project Management 7.19/20 

2 DETAILED FINDINGS 
Categorisation of internal audit findings 
Priority Definition

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality.

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could lead to: financial losses which could affect the 
effective function of a department, loss of controls or process being audited or possible regulatory scrutiny/ reputational damage, negative publicity in local 
or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management issue that may lead to: substantial losses, violation 
of corporate strategies, policies or values, regulatory scrutiny, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media or adverse 
regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines.

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included in this section, only those risks of weakness in control or examples of lapses in control identified 
from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Risk: The delivered solution does not meet requirements as it contains defects, missing functionality, or is not fit for purpose, does not meet business 
objectives, resulting in disruption to the business, loss of reputation & potentially loss of business.

1  At the initial planning 
stage for all projects, 
the Council have 
documentation in place 
outlining: 

• Scope of the project; 

• Objectives; 

• Deliverables; and 

• Key milestones. 

A business case is also 
required for all projects 
within the Council. 

Yes No In discussion with the Head of 
Customer Experience and the 
Project Lead, we were informed that 
formal documentation identifying the 
scope of the project, key objectives 
and deliverables, and a business 
case would have been established 
during the early planning stages of 
the Agile rollout project in 2018.  

However, we were unable to obtain 
evidence to confirm that this is in 
place. 

In the absence of formal 
documentation  to ensure projects 
do not continue without a clearly 
defined and approved scope, there 

High Management will ensure 
that formal 
documentation is 
established at the initial 
planning stage for all IT 
projects. Although not a 
definitive list, the 
following will be 
established: 

• Business case; 

• Initial scope and scope 
boundaries; 

• Key deliverables; 

• Roles and 
responsibilities; and 

31 December 
2019 

Head of 
Customer 
Experiance 

Page 23 of 50

33



 

  South Kesteven District Council Project Management 7.19/20 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

is a risk of scope creep; which could 
have potential negative effects upon 
project delivery. 

• Project plan including 
initial timescales and 
key milestones. 

2 Missing control: 

The benefits of 
undertaking a project 
has not been defined at 
the initiation stage of 
the Agile rollout project. 

No - In discussion with the Project Lead 
and Software and Technical Project 
Team Leader, we were informed that 
the benefits of the project would 
have been considered at the 
initiation stage. However, we were 
unable to obtain evidence to confirm 
that this had taken place during that 
stage of the project. 

The lack of benefit tracking can lead 
to the project not fully realising the 
benefits outlined during the initiation 
stage and as a result, failing to 
deliver its objectives and expected 
outcomes. 

 

Medium Management will ensure 
that a benefit realisation 
framework is established 
for IT projects.  

It will define how benefits 
should be identified, 
structured, planned and 
realised. The framework 
will reflect the 
organisation’s current 
strategic goals and 
objectives. 

Once identified, 
management will ensure 
that they are formally 
tracked through the 
course of each IT project 
to ensure that the project 
stays on track in terms of 
delivering these benefits. 

31 January 2020 Head of 
Customer 
Experiance  

3 Budget monitoring is 
conducted as part of the 
monthly Project 
Highlight Reports. 

Yes No Although budget monitoring is 
included as part of the Project 
Highlight Reports, we noted that it 
does not make reference to whether 
the project is being delivered within 
the assigned budget. 

In addition, we were unable to obtain 
documentation establishing initial 
budget requirements or budgetary 
approval.  

Medium Management will ensure 
that a budget is formally 
approved, assigned and  
documented during the 
planning stage for all IT 
projects. In addition, the 
expenditure incurred 
against the budget will be 
recorded in the Highlight 
report. 

 

31 March 2020 Project Lead 

 

Software and 
Technical Project 
Team Leader 

Page 24 of 50

34



 

  South Kesteven District Council Project Management 7.19/20 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Without having formal 
documentation in place outlining the 
initial budget and current 
expenditure, there is a risk that the 
project may incur additional costs 
and operate over the assigned 
budget. 

Management Comment: 

Non Key Decision report 
was produced and 
approved November 
2019 to cover the full 
funding for the 
completion of the project.

4 Missing control: 

All project related risks 
and current issues are 
documented in the 
Project Highlight 
Reports. All issues and 
decisions are 
documented in a single 
source document. 

No - On review we noted that only the 
risks and issues for the current 
period are documented with the 
Project Highlight Reports. 

It would be beneficial for this 
information to be consolidated in a 
single source document. This may 
be in the form of a RAID log (‘Risks, 
Assumptions, Issues, Decisions’) 
which will allow them to capture all 
risks, mitigating controls and the 
current RAG status. It can also be 
used to capture any closed risks that 
are no longer relevant.  

There is a risk that all risks and 
issues may not be fully captured, 
evaluated and addressed in a timely 
manner. This can lead to risks 
materialising if they are not properly 
mitigated. 

Medium Management will ensure 
that all risks and issues 
are consolidated in a 
single source document. 
This may be in the form 
of a RAID log (Risks, 
Assumptions, Issues, 
Decisions), which will 
allow them to capture 
and monitor risks and 
issues efficiently. 

30 November 
2019 

Project Lead 

5 Key milestones and 
deliverables relevant to 
the current month are 
documented within 
Project Highlight 
Reports.  

Yes No We reviewed a sample of these 
reports and noted that the 
milestones reported are only 
applicable to the current reporting 
period. 

In addition, we noted that within the 
Project Highlight Reports, goals 

Low Management will ensure 
that all key milestones to 
be achieved are 
consolidated in a single 
document. 

 

31 March 2020 Project Lead 

 

Software and 
Technical Project 
Team Leader 

Page 25 of 50

35



 

  South Kesteven District Council Project Management 7.19/20 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

achieved in the current period and 
goals to be achieved for the next 
period are also documented. 
However, as there was no plan 
documenting past, present and 
future milestones there is difficulty in 
monitoring current and past progress 
against the overall timeline of the 
project. 

There is a risk that agreed actions 
and key milestones may not be 
followed up and completed, and 
corrective action may not be 
implemented. 

Actions raised within the 
Project Highlight Reports 
will be included, and a 
completion date and 
action owner will be 
assigned. The status of 
actions will be reported at 
Project Team meetings. 

6 The Council have 
established a Rollout 
Plan, which consists of 
a list of all staff that 
have received or are yet 
to receive a new device. 

Yes No We obtained and reviewed the 
Rollout Plan. We noted that the Plan 
includes a version control however, 
it does not include the date that it 
was last updated. 

A lack of version control details 
within key documents increases the 
risk of incorrect versions being 
referred to, and thereby leading to 
errors or incorrect decisions being 
taken. 

Low Management will ensure 
that the Rollout Plan is 
updated with the date 
that it was last updated. 

30 November 
2019 

Project Lead 

 

Software and 
Technical Project 
Team Leader 

Page 26 of 50

36



 

  South Kesteven District Council Enforcement - Littering | 2 

1.1 Background  

A review of Enforcement – Littering  was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2019/20.  

Section 87 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA) states that “if a person drops, throws deposits or leaves 
anything so as to cause defacement in a public place, they could be committing a littering offence”. The offence of 
littering carries a maximum fine of £2,500 and can be tried in a Magistrates Court. 

Local authorities have been granted powers under Section 87 of the EPA to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) to 
littering offenders, offering them the opportunity of discharging any liability to conviction for the offence by payment. All 
FPN’s issued by the Council are set a fixed fee of £100, which is reviewed and agreed as part of each annual budget 
review.  

If payment is not made within the specified time frames as per the notice, the Council will issue an initial Reminder 
Letter after seven days and a Final Reminder Letter after a period of 14 days. If payment is not received after a Final 
Reminder Letter has been issued, the Council can begin court proceedings via the Single Justice Procedure.  

All members of the public who have been issued an FPN for littering have the right to appeal the notice within five 
working days of the notice issue date. 

The Council began issuing FPN’s for littering in July 2018 and at the time of audit, 469 FPN’s had been issued. 97 per 
cent of all littering FPN’s issued to date have been in relation to the dropping of cigarette stubs. 

1.2 Conclusion 

There is an appropriate control framework in place for governing Littering Enforcement. Our work confirmed that there 
are adequate controls in place. We identified no issues that required us to comment upon or to raise management 
actions that would require improvement actions to be taken.  

Internal audit opinion: 
Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can 
take substantial assurance that the controls upon which 
the Council relies to manage the identified area are 
suitably designed, consistently applied and operating 
effectively. 

 

1.3 Key findings 
Our audit review identified that the following controls are suitably designed, consistently applied and are operating 
effectively:  

 The Council has an Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy in place. The Policy creates consistency in terms of 
the Council's approach to the issuing of FPN's and supports the investment made by the Council in keeping local 
streets clean. 

 The Council has procedure notes in place for Council Officers regarding the issuing of FPN's for littering. Procedure 
notes are maintained up to date and readily available to relevant staff members.  

ENFORCEMENT – LITTERING - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page 27 of 50

37



 

  South Kesteven District Council Enforcement - Littering | 3 

 The Council website has a dedicated section in place for the reporting of littering. Members of the public can 
provide their personal details, details of the offence as well as pinpointing the location of the offence on an 
interactive map. A Council Officer within the Enforcement Department will follow-up the report and may order 
patrols in the area to catch re-offenders. 

 Members of the public can use all other communication channels in place for the Council in regard to the reporting 
of littering, such as phone, email or in person via the customer services desk. 

 FPN’s, Single Justice Procedure Notices (SJPN’s) and reminder letters issued by the Council contain appropriate 
corporate branding and clear reference to the Council. 

 A central database (Civica APP Database) is maintained on all enforcement action taken by the Council in relation 
to littering. 

 Communication channels are in place for cross-communication between Council departments regarding the 
reporting of littering and any reports received from other departments are followed up where appropriate. 

 Where a court summons has been issued for an FPN non-payment and the defendant enters a 'not guilty' plea, the 
Council's in-house Legal Team will be appointed to manage the case. 

 All littering FPN's are set at a fixed fee of £100. FPN fees are approved as part of the Council’s annual budget 
review. 

 Once an FPN has been issued, If the person either refuses to accept the FPN or, having accepted the notice, does 
not pay before the end of the suspended enforcement period of seven days, a Reminder Letter will be issued giving 
a further seven days’ notice, If payment has not been received after 14 days since the original date the FPN was 
issued, a Final Reminder Letter will be issued. 

 If payment has not been received after the issuing of a Final Reminder, The Council has a period of six months 
since the initial FPN issue date to issue a SJPN advising referral to court. The matter will then be processed 
through the Single Justice Procedure. Prior to the issuing of a SJPN the case will be reviewed by the Head of 
Environmental who will determine whether the issuing of a court summons is appropriate based on the 
circumstances of the matter.  

 The Environmental Crime Enforcement Policy states that in order to be considered valid, appeals must be made 
within five working days of the date of issue of the FPN and are considered on a case-by-case basis. Matters for 
consideration by the Council are as follows: 

o Demonstrable lack of mental capacity; and 

o Demonstrable lack of physical capacity.  

Appropriate medical evidence must be provided which each appeal such as a doctor’s letter confirming the lack of 
capacity. Responses to appeals are provided within 10 working days. The FPN is suspended during this appeal 
period. Should the appeal be dismissed then a further period of five working days is allowed for payment. 

 Management have confirmed that there is no mandatory requirement to present management information on litter 
enforcement to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, but information updates can be provided to the 
Committee if requested. 

 

 

 

Page 28 of 50

38



 

  South Kesteven District Council Enforcement - Littering | 4 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 
The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made. The detailed findings section 
lists the specific actions agreed with management to implement. 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 

reviewed in this area. 

 
 
 

Area Control 
design not 
effective* 

Non 
Compliance 
with controls* 

Agreed management actions 

Low Medium High 

Enforcement - Littering 0 (13) 0 (13) 0 0 0 

Total  
 

0 0 0 

Page 29 of 50

39



 

  South Kesteven District Council Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) 9.19/20  | 2 

1.1 Background  
A review of Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit 
periodic plan for 2019/20. 

The Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) provides public access to information held by public authorities. 

It does this in two ways: 

 Public authorities are obliged to publish certain information about their activities; and 

 Members of the public are entitled to request information from public authorities. 

The Act covers any recorded information that is held by a public authority in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, and 
by UK-wide public authorities based in Scotland.  

The Act also requires all public authorities to produce and maintain a Publication Scheme. This contains a directory of 
information and publications routinely available and gives the public direct access to information without having to 
make specific FOI requests.  

At the time of audit there had been a total of 397 FOI requests since the start of the 2019/20 Financial Year. 

Complaints are received by individual departments or the Customer Services Team and are then logged on the Civica 
system and assigned to a designated owner. Within the Civica system, complaints can be acknowledged and 
responded to with documents attached for additional information and providing a full audit trail.  

At the time of audit there had been a total of 256 complaints submitted to the Council since the start of the 2019/20 
Financial Year. 

1.2 Conclusion 
The review of Complaints and FOI's has identified that overall the control framework is well designed. However, 
weaknesses in compliance with the established control framework have been identified which has resulted in the 
agreement of four 'medium' and two ‘low’ priority management actions.  

Internal audit opinion: 
Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can 
take reasonable assurance that the controls in place to 
manage this area are suitably designed and consistently 
applied. However, we have identified issues that need to 
be addressed in order to ensure that the control 
framework is effective in managing the identified areas. 

 

 
 

COMPLAINTS AND FREEDOM OF INFORMATION  -
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page 30 of 50

40



 

  South Kesteven District Council Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) 9.19/20  | 3 

1.3 Key findings 
The key findings from this review are as follows: 

Freedom of Information 

 Various channels are in place for individuals and companies to make FOI requests to the Council such as via the 
Council’s website, e-mail or letter. 

 All FOI requests are recorded onto the Civica system by the relevant department receiving the request. Once an 
FOI has been logged, the request is then allocated to a designated member of staff in the relevant department to 
action. 

 All FOI requests are made in writing (email or letter), as per the FOIA. Evidence of the original request is scanned 
and retained on the Civica system. 

 The FOI request is considered by the relevant department for data protection and sensitive information. 
Consideration is also given to the cost of providing the information and where costs are likely to be due to 
information not being readily available these will be declined. 

 The Council has a Publication Scheme which details the classes of information that are publicly available, together 
with details of how the information can be obtained and any associated costs. The Publication Scheme is published 
on the Council’s website. 

However, the following weaknesses were identified: 

 Guidance for Dealing with Requests for Information under the FOIA 2000 and Environmental Information 
Regulations is available on the Council’s website; however, it was noted that the guidance was last updated in 
January 2013 and therefore has not been maintained up to date.  

 Through review of the FOI Civica Procedure Document, it was noted that the document contained screenshots of 
personal information which could be deemed as identifiable information under GDPR.  

 The Project Delivery Officer does not currently maintain a training log or record of individuals who have been 
provided with Civica training in relation to the management of FOI’s. The Operations Co-ordinator - Customer 
Services maintains a training log of admin staff who require and have received FOI training. Through review of the 
log it was noted that six Council Officers were yet to receive FOI training at the time of audit. 

 A sample of 20 FOI requests were selected and tested from the current Financial Year. Four instances were noted 
where evidence of a response to the original request was not maintained on file and the 20 working days set 
guideline had passed. A further instance was noted where a request had been aborted within the 20 working days 
period, however, evidence could not be provided as to why the request had been aborted within the system and as 
to whether a satisfactory response had been provided to the original requestor. 

 The Council currently do not undertake any management reporting for requests made under the FOIA 2000. 

Complaints 

 Various channels are in place for members of the Public to submit complaints to the Council such as via the 
Council’s website, e-mail or letter. 

 All complaints are recorded onto the Civica system by Customer Services or the department in receipt of the 
complaint and information including the date received and information about the complaint are attached. Once 
complaints have been logged on the system, they are assigned to a designated owner responsible for dealing with 
the request. 

 Upon receipt of the complaint, the Council are required to acknowledge the complaint within three working days by 
response to the complainant. 

Page 31 of 50

41



 

  South Kesteven District Council Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) 9.19/20  | 4 

 On a monthly basis, a report is created by the Customer Services Department and sent to the Head of Customer 
Experience and the Strategic Director - Transformation and Change documenting all claims reported during the 
month with an overview of the number of complaints and the adherence to the procedure timescales. 

However, the following weaknesses were identified: 

 A Customer Feedback Process – Compliments, Comments and Complaints document was available on both the 
intranet and the website; however, it was noted that this was last updated in September 2013 and therefore in line 
with good practice the document was deemed to be out of date.  

 The Project Delivery Officer does not currently maintain a training log or record of individuals who have been 
provided with Civica Training in relation to the management of complaints. The Operations Co-ordinator - Customer 
Services maintains a training log of officers who require and have received complaints training. Through review of 
the log it was noted that five Council Officers were yet to receive FOI training at the time of audit. 

 A sample of 20 complaints were selected and tested from the current Financial Year. Four instances were noted 
where a stage one complaint was still awaiting a response at the time of audit despite the 15-day guideline being 
passed. A further instance was noted where a stage three complaint had been updated on the Civica system since 
May 2019, and therefore it was not possible to confirm that the complaint had been closed or dealt with in a timely 
manner in line with policy requirements.  

 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 
The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made. The detailed findings section 
lists the specific actions agreed with management to implement. 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 

reviewed in this area. 

Area Control 
design not 
effective* 

Non 
Compliance 
with controls* 

Agreed management actions 

Low Medium High 

Freedom of Information (FOI) 1 (11) 2 (11) 1 3 0 

Complaints 0 (7) 2 (7) 1 1 0 

Total  
 

2 4 0 

Page 32 of 50

42



 

  South Kesteven District Council Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) 9.19/20  | 5 

2 DETAILED FINDINGS 

Categorisation of internal audit findings 

Priority Definition 

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality. 

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could lead to: Financial losses which could affect the 
effective function of a department, loss of controls or process being audited or possible regulatory scrutiny/reputational damage, negative publicity in local 
or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management issue that may lead to: Substantial losses, violation 
of corporate strategies, policies or values, regulatory scrutiny, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media or adverse 
regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines. 

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included in this section, only those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in control identified 
from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with  

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for 
management 

Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Area: Freedom of Information (FOI) 

1 The Council has a 
Freedom of Information 
Policy and guidance 
document in place which is 
available via the Council's 
website. The document 
sets out guidance for 
Council officers for dealing 
with requests for 
information under the 
Freedom of Information Act 
2000 (FOIA) and The 
Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 (EIR).    

A procedure document is 
also in place which details 
the process of managing 

Yes No Review of the 'Guidance for Dealing 
with Requests for Information under 
the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) 
2000 and Environmental Information 
Regulations' document confirmed 
sufficient detail was present to enable 
members of the public to make FOI 
requests to the Council.  

Types of information which can be 
disclosed along with exemptions and 
potential costings are clearly define.  
The document was last updated in 
January 2013 and it is recommended 
that policies and process documents 
are updated every three years as 
good practice to ensure they are kept 
up to date.  

Low The Guidance for 
Dealing with Requests 
for Information under 
the Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) 
2000 and 
Environmental 
Information Regulations 
document will be 
reviewed to ensure it is 
reflective of current 
working practices. 

31 March 2020 Head of 
Customer 
Experience 

Page 33 of 50

43



 

  South Kesteven District Council Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) 9.19/20  | 6 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with  

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for 
management 

Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

FOI requests through the 
Civica system. 

There is a risk that where documents 
are not maintained up to date, 
inconsistent working practices will be 
followed by staff members. 

2 The Council has a 
Freedom of Information 
Policy and guidance 
document in place which is 
available via the Council's 
website.   

The document sets out 
guidance for Council 
officers for dealing with 
requests for information 
under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 
(FOIA) and The 
Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 (EIR).    

A procedure document is 
also in place which details 
the process of managing 
FOI requests through the 
Civica system. 

Yes No A procedural guidance documents is 
in place which details the process of 
managing FOI requests through the 
Civica system. The procedure 
document was found to have been 
maintained up to date and reflective of 
current practices.   

However, it was noted that the 
procedure document contained 
screenshots of personal information 
which could be deemed as identifiable 
information. If personal details are not 
removed from procedural documents 
there is a risk of the Council being in 
breach of the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR). 

Medium The Civica Complaints 
Procedure Document 
will be reviewed and all 
personal details 
contained within it will 
be removed. 

31 December 
2019 

Head of 
Customer 
Experience. 

3 Council officers have been 
provided with training in 
regard to the management 
of FOI requests. 

Yes No Training for FOI requests is currently 
provided on a one-to-one basis for 
Management and Heads of Service.    

The Project Delivery Officer is 
responsible for system training 
regarding the inputting and processing 
of requests via the Civica system.   

The Operations Co-ordinator - 
Customer Services is responsible for 
procedural training regarding the 

Medium The Council is intending 
to implement a new 
Civica Module for the 
handling of FOI and 
complaint requests.  

Once the new module 
has been implemented, 
refresher training will be 
provided on the use of 
Civica to ensure that 

31 March 2020 Head of 
Customer 
Experience 

Page 34 of 50

44



 

  South Kesteven District Council Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) 9.19/20  | 7 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with  

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for 
management 

Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

processing of FOI requests within the 
admin tray and allocating them to a 
relevant service area.   

The Project Delivery Officer does not 
currently maintain a training log or 
record of individuals who have been 
provided with Civica training.    

The Operations Co-ordinator - 
Customer Services maintains a 
training log of admin staff who require 
and have received FOI training. 
Through review of the log it was noted 
that six Council Officers were yet to 
receive FOI training at the time of 
audit.   

If training is not provided to all relevant 
staff members in regard to the 
processing of FOI requests, there is a 
risk that requests will not be dealt with 
in an appropriate manner that is in 
compliance with the Council’s policy 
and procedures. 

responsibility and 
accountability in regard 
to FOI requests is 
understood. 

4 As required by the 
Freedom of Information Act 
the requests are dealt with 
by the relevant department 
within 20 days of receipt of 
the request.  

Once a request has been 
responded to, evidence will 
be uploaded and retained 
on the Civica system. 

Yes No A sample of 20 FOI requests were 
selected and tested from the current 
Financial Year.   

In 15 instances it was noted that the 
request had been answered and 
appropriately dealt with within the 20 
working days set guideline.  

Evidence to support the response had 
been maintained on file within the 
Civica system for all 15 requests.   

However, four instances were noted 
where evidence of a response to the 

- See management action three. 

Page 35 of 50

45



 

  South Kesteven District Council Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) 9.19/20  | 8 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with  

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for 
management 

Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

original request was not maintained on 
file and the 20 working days set 
guideline had passed.   

A further instance was noted where a 
request had been aborted within the 
20 working days period, however 
evidence could not be provided as to 
why the request had been aborted 
within the system and as to whether a 
satisfactory response had been 
provided to the original requestor.   

If FOI requests are not properly 
responded to within the set 
timeframes, there is a risk that the 
Council will not be in compliance with 
the FOIA. 

5 Missing Control  

The Council undertake 
monthly reporting and 
monitoring of FOI requests. 

No - The Council currently do not have any 
management reporting on FOI 
requests.   

Without adequate management 
reporting arrangements in place for 
FOI requests there is a risk that timely 
and accurate information will not be 
provided to management. 

Medium The Council is intending 
to implement a new 
Civica Module for the 
handling of FOI and 
complaint requests. 
Once the new module 
has been implemented, 
monthly management 
reporting of FOI's will be 
actioned. 

31 March 2020 Head of 
Customer 
Experience 

Area: Complaints 

6 The Council has a 
Customer Feedback 
Process - Compliments, 
Comments and Complaints 
Guidance Document in 
place which is available via 
the Council's website.   

Yes No Review of the Customer Feedback 
Process - Compliments, Comments 
and Complaints Guidance Document 
confirmed sufficient detail was present 
to enable potential complainants to 
understand the process and make a 
complaint.      

Low The Customer 
Feedback Process - 
Compliments, 
Comments and 
Complaints Guidance 
Document will be 
reviewed to ensure it is 

31 December 
2019 

Head of 
Customer 
Experience 

Page 36 of 50

46



 

  South Kesteven District Council Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) 9.19/20  | 9 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with  

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for 
management 

Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

The document sets out 
guidance for the three 
types of customer 
feedback that can be 
provided to the Council and 
the process for how the 
Council will deal responses 
received. 

The document was last updated in 
September 2013 and it is 
recommended that policies and 
process documents are updated every 
three years as good practice to ensure 
they are kept up to date.  

There is a risk that where documents 
are not maintained up to date, 
inconsistent working practices will be 
followed by staff members. 

reflective of current 
working practices. 

7 Council officers have been 
provided with training in 
relation to processing and 
responding to complaints 
received by the public. 

Yes No Training for complaints is currently 
provided on a one-to-one basis for 
management and heads of service.    

The Project Delivery Officer is 
responsible for system training 
regarding the inputting and processing 
of complaints via the Civica system.   

The Operations Co-ordinator - 
Customer Services is responsible for 
procedural training for admin staff 
regarding the processing of 
complaints via the admin tray and 
allocating them to a relevant service 
area.   

The Project Delivery Officer does not 
currently maintain a training log or 
record of individuals who have been 
provided with Civica training for the 
processing of complaints.    

The Operations Co-ordinator - 
Customer Services maintains a 
training log of officers who require and 
have received complaints training. 
Through review of the log it was noted 

Medium The Council is intending 
to implement a new 
Civica Module for the 
handling of FOI and 
romplaint requests.  

Once the new module 
has been implemented, 
refresher training will be 
provided on the use of 
Civica to ensure that 
responsibility and 
accountability in regard 
to complaints is 
understood. 

31 March 2020 Head of 
Customer 
Experience 

Page 37 of 50

47



 

  South Kesteven District Council Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) 9.19/20  | 10 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with  

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for 
management 

Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

that five Council Officers were yet to 
receive complaints training at the time 
of audit.   

If training is provided to all relevant 
staff members in regard to the 
processing of complaints, there is a 
risk that complaints will not be dealt 
with in an appropriate manner that is 
in compliance with the Council’s policy 
and procedures. 

8 The Council has three 
complaints stages prior to 
the complaint being 
escalated to Ombudsman 
and are classified as 
follows:   

 Stage 1, acknowledge 
within three working 
days and the Service 
Manager responds 
within 15 working days;  

 Stage 2, acknowledge 
communication within 
three working days and 
Service Head not linked 
to the original 
department responds in 
15 working days; and   

 Stage 3 acknowledge 
communication with 
three working days and 
Director not linked to 
Service Head or 
Service Manager 
previously dealing with 

Yes No Testing a sample of 20 complaints 
identified the following:     

In 15 instances it was noted that the 
complaints had been dealt with in a 
timely manner in line with policy 
requirements.   

However, four instances were noted 
where a stage one complaint was still 
awaiting a response at the time of 
audit despite the 15-day guideline 
being passed.   

A further instance was noted where a 
stage three complaint had been 
updated on the Civica system since 
May 2019, and therefore it was not 
possible to confirm that the complaint 
had been closed or dealt with in a 
timely manner in line with policy 
requirements.  

Through further investigation it was 
confirmed that the stage three 
complain had been dealt with outside 
of the Civica system and had since 
been closed.   

- See management action seven. 

Page 38 of 50

48



 

  South Kesteven District Council Complaints and Freedom of Information (FOI) 9.19/20  | 11 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with  

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for 
management 

Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

the complaint responds 
in 15 working days.   

Where these targets are 
unlikely to be met due to 
needing additional time the 
Council should 
communicate this to the 
complainant with an 
explanation.  

All complaints are dealt 
with through the Civica 
system using standard 
documents for the 
acknowledgement and 
there is a consistency of 
response for complaint 
responses.    

All documents and their 
outcomes are maintained 
on file scanned in or saved 
electronically. 

There is a risk that where responses 
are made outside of the system these 
will distort management information 
and it cannot be confirmed that a 
consistent response was made. In 
addition, where responses are not 
made within the defined timescales, 
there is a risk that if the complaint is 
escalated to the Ombudsman the 
delayed responses will expose the 
Council to potential negative findings 
and or litigation. 

Page 39 of 50

49



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

1.1 Background  
A review of Health and Safety Arrangements and Reporting was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council (the 
Council) as part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2019/20. 

The focus of this review was to consider the Council’s current Health and Safety arrangements in place including a 
review of policies and procedures, risk assessments and training. Additionally, the current reporting structures in place 
to provide regular and effective communication of Health and Safety related matters were also reviewed as part of this 
audit. Sample testing was undertaken at a departmental level in regard to risk assessment and job-specific Health and 
Safety training. Three departments were selected as part of this review based on their risk levels in relation to Health 
and Safety (Waste, Property and Improvement and Repairs). 

The Council has a Corporate Health and Safety Team in place who are responsible for the overall management of 
Health and Safety throughout the Council. The Team compromises of a Corporate Compliance Officer and an 
Administration Assistant. A Council Health and Safety Policy is in place which sets out key Health and Safety 
principles for Council staff members.  

Any staff members within the Council who have experienced an accident or near-miss are required to report the 
incident to the has Corporate Health and Safety Team via an Accident and Incident Report Form. At the time of audit, 
there had been a total of 22 reported incidents, of which two were deemed RIDDOR reportable.  

Upon commencing employment with the Council, staff members must complete Health and Safety and Equality and 
Diversity Corporate induction training. The training session is delivered through a one-day programme which is held on 
a periodic basis. Individual departments within the Council also carry out induction and job-specific Health and Safety 
training depending upon the roles and duties of their staff members.  

The Corporate Health and Safety Team maintain a suite of generic Health and Safety risk assessments which can be 
assessed by all staff members within the Council. Individual departments are responsible for maintaining departmental 
level risk assessments which are applicable to the day-to-day role of their staff members.    

1.2 Conclusion 
The review of Health and Safety Arrangements and Reporting has identified that overall the control framework is well 
designed. However, weaknesses in compliance with the established control framework have been identified which has 
resulted in the agreement of three 'medium' and two ‘low’ priority management actions.  

Internal audit opinion: 
Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can 
take reasonable assurance that the controls in place to 
manage this area are suitably designed and consistently 
applied. However, we have identified issues that need to 
be addressed in order to ensure that the control 
framework is effective in managing the identified area(s). 

 

HEALTH & SAFETY ARRANGEMENTS AND 
REPORTING - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page 40 of 50

50



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

1.3 Key findings 
Our audit review identified that the following controls are suitably designed, consistently applied and are operating 
effectively: 

• The Council has a Health and Safety Policy in place which clearly sets out health and safety arrangements and 
reporting procedures. 

• Upon commencing employment with the Council, all new starters are required to undertake Corporate Health and 
Safety induction training.  

• All data held by the Corporate Health and Safety Team is stored securely and subject to regular back-ups. 

• The Council has Corporate Health and Safety Management Performance Indicators in place which are produced 
and reported as part of a dashboard. The dashboard is sent to all Business Managers on a quarterly basis. 

• An Annual Health and Safety Report is produced and presented to the Governance and Audit Committee. The 
report provides an overview of the Health and Safety approach and performance for the Council in the relevant 
financial year. 

However, we identified the following exceptions with the Council’s established control framework: 

• Through review of the Council's ‘Monty’ intranet site it was confirmed that eight Health and Safety guidance 
documents are in place for staff members. Through review of the documents in place it was confirmed that two of 
the documents did not have a last reviewed date recorded, therefore it was not possible to confirm they had been 
maintained up to date. Additionally, two documents had surpassed their set review dates. 

• The Corporate Health and Safety Team currently have four generic risk assessments in place which are applicable 
to all Service Areas within the Council. One of the assessments was out of date at the time of audit, and another 
did not have a last reviewed date recorded, therefore it was not possible to confirm it had been maintained up to 
date. 

• A sample of five activity based and five play-area risk assessments were selected and tested from the Property 
Department. Five Instances were noted where the risk assessments had not been fully completed and not 
maintained up to date. 

• Through discussion with the Corporate Operations – Property officer it was confirmed that the Property Department 
does not currently maintain a log of training delivered to Property staff members. As a result, it was not possible to 
confirm that staff members had received appropriate Health and Safety training relevant to their specific job-role. 

• A sample of 20 reported incidents within the current financial year were selected and tested from the Health and 
Safety central incident log. Eight instances were noted where an Accident and Incident Report Form had not been 
provided to the Health and Safety Team within 10 days of the initial accident date, with one instance taking 32 days 
after the original incident date. 

• At the time of audit, there had been two RIDDOR reportable incidents in relation to accidents within the workplace. 
One instance was noted where an incident had been reported to the HSE 23 days after the original incident date 
and was therefore outside the 15-day reporting period required. 

 

Page 41 of 50

51



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 
The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made. The detailed findings section 
lists the specific actions agreed with management to implement. 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 
reviewed in this area. 

 

Area Control 
design not 
effective*

Non 
Compliance 
with controls*

Agreed management actions
Low Medium High 

Health and Safety Arrangements and 
Reporting 0 (11) 5 (11) 2 3 0 

Total  
 

2 3 0 

Page 42 of 50

52



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

2 DETAILED FINDINGS 
Categorisation of internal audit findings 
Priority Definition

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality.

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could lead to: Financial losses which could affect the 
effective function of a department, loss of controls or process being audited or possible regulatory scrutiny/reputational damage, negative publicity in local 
or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management issue that may lead to: Substantial losses, violation 
of corporate strategies, policies or values, regulatory scrutiny, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media or adverse 
regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines.

 

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included in this section, only those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in control identified 
from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Area: Health and Safety Arrangements and Reporting

1 Health and Safety 
guidance documents 
which are maintained 
by the Corporate 
Health and Safety 
Team are available to 
all staff members on 
the local ‘Monty’ 
intranet site. 

Yes No Through review of the Council's ‘Monty’ intranet 
site it was confirmed that there were eight Health 
and Safety guidance documents in place for staff 
members. 

Through review of the current eight guidance 
documents it was confirmed that four of the 
documents had been maintained up to date.  

However, two instances (Legionella Management 
Protocol and Electrical Safety) were noted where 
the guidance document did not have a last 
reviewed date recorded on them and therefore it 
was not possible to confirm they had been 
maintained up to date.  

Additionally, two instances were also noted where 
the guidance documents had surpassed their set 

Low All Health and Safety 
guidance documents on 
the Council's intranet 
page will be reviewed 
and updated.  

Set review dates will be 
documented for all 
guidance documents. 

31 December 
2019 

Corporate 
Compliance 
Officer for 
Health and 
Safety 

Page 43 of 50

53



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

review date (Risk Assessments and Blood Borne 
Viruses).   

If Health and Safety guidance documents are not 
subject to regular review and maintained up to 
date, there is a risk that the documents will not be 
reflective of current working practices within the 
Council.   

Through discussion with the Corporate 
Compliance Officer for Health and Safety it was 
confirmed that the current guidance documents 
are currently being reviewing, with additional 
documents soon to be added to the intranet also. 

2 The Corporate Health 
and Safety Team 
maintain a suite of 
generic risk 
assessments which 
are applicable to all 
service areas within 
the Council.  

Risk assessments are 
regularly reviewed to 
ensure they remain 
reflective of current 
working practices. 

Yes No The Corporate Health and Safety Team currently 
have four generic risk assessments in place 
which are applicable to all Service Areas within 
the Council.    

The Driving at Work Risk Assessment was noted 
to have been maintained up to date with a set 
review date of September 2021.   

The Office Safety Risk Assessment was last 
reviewed in August 2017, with a bi-annual review 
date and was therefore out of date at the time of 
audit.   

The Manual Handling and Lone Working Risk 
Assessments do not contain a last reviewed date 
and therefore it was not possible to confirm that 
they have been subject to regular review and 
been maintained up to date.   

If risk assessments are not regularly reviewed 
and maintained up to date, there is a risk that the 
assessments may not be reflective of current 
working practices and therefore be no longer fit 
for purpose. 

Low All generic risk 
assessments maintained 
by the Corporate Health 
and Safety Team will be 
reviewed and a revised 
review date will be 
documented for each 
assessment. 

31 December 
2019 

Corporate 
Compliance 
Officer for 
Health and 
Safety 

Page 44 of 50

54



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

3 Individual departments 
within the Council 
maintain risk 
assessments relevant 
to their individual roles 
and responsibilities.  

Risk assessments are 
regularly reviewed to 
ensure they remain 
reflective of current 
working practices. 

Yes No A sample of 30 risk assessments were selected 
and tested across the following three Council 
departments:   

Improvement and Repairs    

Risk assessments for the Improvement and 
Repairs Department are maintained electronically 
in a local shared folder.  

A sample of five responsive and five improvement 
risk assessments were selected and tested.  

In all 10 instances it was noted that the risk 
assessments had been maintained up to date 
with a set review date documented on each 
assessment.   

Waste  

Risk assessments for the Waste Department are 
maintained hard-copy in a folder.  

A sample of 10 driver and operative waste risk 
assessments were selected and tested.  

In all 10 instances it was noted that the risk 
assessments had been maintained up to date 
with a set review date documented on each 
assessment.   

Property  

Risk assessments for the Property Department 
are maintained electronically in a local shared 
folder as well as hard-copy.  

A sample of five activity based and five play-area 
risk assessments were selected and tested. For 
the five activity-based assessments reviewed, it 
was noted that the assessments had been 
completed in the current financial year. However, 
for all five assessments, a set review date had 

Medium Risk Assessments for the 
Property Department will 
be reviewed and 
updated.  

A set review date will be 
documented for each 
assessment. 

31 December 
2019 

Assets and 
Estates 
Manager – 
General Fund 
Assets 

Page 45 of 50

55



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

not been documented and they had not been 
approved.  

Additionally, in all instances the assessments had 
not been fully completed as control measures and 
action owners had not been properly 
documented.   

For the five play-area assessments reviewed, it 
was noted that all assessments were last 
reviewed in 2017 and were therefore out of date 
at the time of audit. Additionally, a set review date 
had not been documented for each assessment.  

If risk assessments are not regularly reviewed 
and maintained up to date, there is a risk that the 
assessments may not be reflective of current 
working practices and therefore be no longer fit 
for purpose. 

4 Individual departments 
within the Council are 
responsible for 
ensuring their staff 
members have 
received sufficient 
Health and Safety 
training which is 
applicable to their 
roles and 
responsibilities.   

A central training log 
is maintained by each 
department to ensure 
staff members have 
received relevant 
training and that the 

Yes No A sample of 30 current staff members were 
selected and tested across the following three 
Council departments:   

Waste    

When a new driver or operative is appointed, they 
must undergo a Health and Safety Induction 
Training Session specific to their job role.  

The training is delivered by an assessor within 
the Waste Department who will sign-off a training 
sheet when completed.  

A sample of 10 current employees within the 
Waste Department were selected and tested.  

In all 10 instances it was confirmed that the 
employees had received Health and Safety 
Induction Training relevant to their role.   

Improvements and Repairs   

Medium A training log will be 
developed and 
maintained by the 
Property Department.  

The log will detail all 
Health and Safety and 
job-specific training that 
staff members within the 
department have 
received. 

31 December 
2019 

Assets and 
Estates 
Manager – 
General Fund 
Assets 

Page 46 of 50

56



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

training received is still 
up to date. 

When a new member of staff commences work 
within the Improvements and Repairs 
Department, they are provided with Health and 
Safety Induction Training which covers the basic 
risks involved in office working.  

The Department also maintains a Training Matrix 
which documents the job-specific training that 
each staff member within the department has 
received.   

A sample of 10 employees were selected and 
tested from within the Improvements and Repairs 
Department. In three instances, it was confirmed 
that Health and Safety Induction Training had 
been provided to the staff members.  

In the other seven instances, the staff members 
had been with the Council for a considerable 
time-period and therefore induction paperwork 
were not on-hand at the time of audit.   

All 10 employees reviewed were found to have 
been documented within the Training Matrix. 
From review of the matrix it was confirmed that 
job-specific training had been maintained up to 
date for all staff members reviewed.  

Property   

Through discussion with the Corporate 
Operations – Property officer it was confirmed 
that the Property Department does not currently 
maintain a log of training delivered to Property 
Staff Members.  

As a result it was not possible to confirm that staff 
members had received appropriate Health and 
Safety Training relevant to their specific job-role.   

If individual departments within the Council do not 
maintain a log of all job-specific Health and 

Page 47 of 50

57



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Safety training delivered, there is a risk that 
management will not be aware of any outstanding 
or outdated training for staff members. 

5 The Corporate Health 
and Safety Team 
maintain a central log 
of all reported 
incidents.  

The Council has an 
Accident and Incident 
Report Form in place 
for the reporting of 
incidents and near-
misses.   

Once an incident or 
near-miss has taken 
the place, section one 
of the form is 
completed by the 
employee, recording 
all relevant details of 
the particular incident. 

Section two of the 
form is completed by 
the employee's Line 
Manager and 
documents the 
investigation process 
of the incident.   

Once an incident has 
taken place, the 
relevant service area 
has a total of 10 
working days to 
complete an Accident 

Yes No A sample of 20 reported incidents within the 
current financial year were selected and tested 
from the Health and Safety Central Incident Log.  

In all 20 instances it was confirmed that a 
corresponding Accident and Incident Report Form 
had been completed and maintained on file by 
the Corporate Health and Safety Team.    

In all instances the forms were found to have 
been fully completed with sufficient detail and had 
been signed and dated by the injured party.  

All forms reviewed were found to contain 
evidence of an investigation taking place which 
had been reviewed and approved by the injured 
employee’s Line Manager.    

In all instances, the forms had been reviewed by 
the Corporate Compliance Officer for Health and 
Safety who then subsequently deemed each case 
as ‘closed’, as no further investigation or action 
was required.   

In 12 instances it was confirmed that the 
Corporate Health and Safety Team had been 
provided with a fully completed Accident and 
Incident Report Form within 10 days of the 
accident taking place.  

However, eight instances were noted where an 
Accident and Incident Report Form had not been 
provided to the Health and Safety Team within 10 
days of the initial accident date, with one instance 
taking 32 days after the original incident date.   

Medium A reminder will be issued 
to all Council staff 
members to highlight the 
importance of ensuring 
Accident and Incident 
Report Forms are 
provided to the Corporate 
Health and Safety Team 
within 10 days of an 
incident taking place. 

31 December 
2019 

Corporate 
Compliance 
Officer for 
Health and 
Safety 

Page 48 of 50

58



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

and Incident Report 
Form and return this 
to the Corporate 
Health and Safety 
Team, who will 
determine whether the 
case can be closed or 
requires further action.

If Accident and Incident Report Forms are not 
provided to the Corporate Health and Safety 
Team within a timely manner following an incident 
taking place, there is a risk that the team will not 
have sufficient team to carry out further 
investigations if required and may miss key 
deadlines such as RIDDOR reporting 
requirements. 

6 Where reported 
incidents require 
escalation, the 
Corporate Health and 
Safety Team will 
action this accordingly 
reporting on the 
relevant reporting 
procedure.  

The Council must 
report any noted 
Injury, Disease or 
Dangerous 
Occurrence (RIDDOR) 
to the Health and 
Safety Executive 
(HSE) within 15 
working days of the 
incident taking place. 
Regulations Four to 
Six cover the reporting 
of work-related deaths 
and injuries other than 
for certain gas 
incidents RIDDOR 
requires deaths and 
injuries to be reported 
only when:  

Yes No Page 20 of the Council’s Health and Safety Policy 
advises the following “in the case of 
serious/significant incidents, then the Health and 
Safety Team can assist with investigations. It is a 
legal requirement under the Reporting of Injuries, 
Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences 
Regulations (RIDDOR) to report certain specified 
accidents and work-related ill health”.    

At the time of audit, there had been two RIDDOR 
reportable incidents in relation to accidents within 
the workplace.    

In both instances it was confirmed that the 
Corporate Health and Safety Team had submitted 
a report to the HSE, with evidence of the report 
being maintained on file.   

In one instance, the report had been filed with the 
HSE, 10 days after the original incident date. 
However, one instance was noted where an 
incident had been reported to the HSE, 23 days 
after the original incident date, and was therefore 
outside the 15-day reporting period required.  

Through further investigation it was noted that the 
Corporate Health and Safety Team did not 
receive an Accident and Incident Report Form, 
informing them of the incident, until 20 days after 
the original incident date.   

- See management action five. 

Page 49 of 50

59



 

  South Kesteven District Council Health and Safety  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

• There has been 
an accident which 
caused the injury; 

• The accident was 
work-related; and 

• The injury is of a 
type which is 
reportable. 

If Accident and Incident Report Forms are not 
provided to the Corporate Health and Safety 
Team within a timely manner following an incident 
taking place, there is a risk that the team will not 
have sufficient team to carry out further 
investigations if required and may miss key 
deadlines such as RIDDOR reporting 
requirements. 

Page 50 of 50

60



 

 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT 
COUNCIL  
Follow Up 2 

FINAL 

Internal Audit Follow Up Report 12.19/20 

2 December 2019 
 

61

Appendix 2



 

  South Kesteven District Council Follow Up 2 12.19/20 | 1 

CONTENTS 
1 Executive summary ...................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2 Findings and management actions .............................................................................................................................. 4 

Appendix A: Scope .......................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Appendix B: Actions completed and superseded ............................................................................................................ 13 

For further information contact ........................................................................................................................................ 15 

 

 

  

 

Debrief held 14 November 2019 Internal audit team Chris Williams, Head of Internal Audit 
Amjad Ali, Senior Manager 
Iain Daire, Assistant Manager 
Cara Green, Lead Auditor 

Draft report issued 26 November 2019 

Responses received 2 December 2019 

Final report issued 2 December 2019 Client sponsor Richard Wyles, Director of Finance   

Distribution Richard Wyles, Director of Finance  
Tracey Elliott, Governance and Risk 
Officer 

62



 

  South Kesteven District Council Follow Up 2 12.19/20 | 2 

1.1 Introduction 
As part of the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2019/20 we have undertaken a review to follow up progress 
made to implement the previously agreed management actions. The audits considered as part of the follow up review 
were: 

 9.18/19 Member's Allowances and Expenses; 

 17.18/19 Follow Up 2; and 

 1.19/20 Follow Up 1. 

The 25 management actions considered in this review comprised of 10 'Low' and 15 'Medium'. Concentrating on the 
actions classified as 'Medium', the focus of this review was to provide assurance that all actions previously made have 
been adequately implemented.  

1.2 Conclusion 
Taking account of the issues identified in the remainder of the report, and in line with our definitions set out in 
Appendix A, in our opinion South Kesteven District Council has demonstrated reasonable progress in implementing 
agreed management actions.  

We have made new management actions where appropriate; these are detailed in section 2 of this report. 

1.3 Action tracking 
Action tracking enhances an organisation’s risk management and governance processes. It provides management 
with a method to record the implementation status of actions made by assurance providers, whilst allowing the Audit 
Committee to monitor actions taken by management. 

Action tracking is undertaken by South Kesteven District Council’s management on a regular basis, with an update 
provided to the Audit Committee throughout the year. 

The following graph highlights the progress made on the actions that have been followed up. 

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

1.19/20 Follow Up 1

17.18/19 Follow Up 2

9.18/19 Members Allowances and
Expenses

Implemented (Incl Superseded)

Not implemented

In progress

Not due

63



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 3 

 

1.4 Progress on actions  

Implementation 
status by review 

Number of 
actions 
agreed 

Status of management actions   

Implemented 
(1) 

Implementation 
ongoing 

(2) 

Not 
implemented 

(3) 

Superseded 
(4) 

Not yet 
due (5) 

Confirmed as 
completed or 

no longer 
necessary 

(1)+(4) 

9.18/19 Members 
Allowances and 
Expenses 

3 3 0 0 0 0 3 

17.18/19 Follow 
Up 2 

10 3 2 2 3 0 6 

1.19/20 Follow Up 
1 

12 4 4 4 0 0 4 

        

Implementation 
status by 

management 
action priority 

Number of 
actions 
agreed 

Status of management actions   

Implemented 
(1) 

Implementation 
ongoing 

(2) 

Not 
implemented 

(3) 

Superseded 
(4) 

Not yet 
due (5) 

Confirmed as 
completed or 

no longer 
necessary 

(1)+(4) 

Low 10 4 3 2 1 0 5 

Medium 15 6 3 4 2 0 8 

Totals 
25 10 6 6 3 0 13 

64



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 4 

2 FINDINGS AND MANAGEMENT ACTIONS 
This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included only those actions graded as 2 and 3. Each action followed up has been categorised in 
line with the following: 

 

 

 

 

Status Detail 

1 The entire action has been fully implemented. 

2 The action has been partly though not yet fully implemented. 

3 The action has not been implemented. 

4 The action has been superseded and is no longer applicable. 

5 The action is not yet due. 

17.18/19 Follow Up 2 

Ref Management action Original  
date 

Original 
priority  

Audit finding Current 
status 

Updated 
management 
action 

Priority 
issued 

Revised  
date 

Owner 
responsible 

1. 18.17/18 Corporate 
Governance   

The Council regarding its 
website will ensure that:  

a) The information 
required to be published 
by the Transparency 
code for 2017/18 will be 
published. 

b) Going forward the 
Council will publish the 
correct information on the 
expenditure for 
November 2018. In 
addition, the Council 
should consider including 
p-card expenditure in its 
published data.  

c) A breakdown of how 
the Council has spent the 

29 March 
2019 

Medium On review of the Council's 
website it was found that the 
information required to be 
published by the 
Transparency Code was not 
up to date for 2019/20.   

It was found that up to date 
information regarding the 
Council's expenditure was 
published alongside 
information regarding Fraud 
and a breakdown of the 
Council’s surplus relating to its 
parking account. However, the 
following information is left 
outstanding;   

a) The number of marked out 
controlled on and off-street 
parking spaces within their 
area, or an estimate of the 
number of spaces where 
controlled parking space is not 

2 The Council, in 
regard to its website, 
will ensure that;   

a) The information 
required to be 
published by the 
Transparency Code 
for 2019/20 will be 
published.   

b) The number of 
marked out 
controlled on and 
off-street parking 
spaces within their 
area, or an estimate 
of the number of 
spaces where 
controlled parking 
space is not marked 
out in individual 
parking bays or 

Medium 31 
January 
2020 

Head of 
Finance  

Head of Town 
Centres 

65



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 5 

surplus on its parking 
account will be published.     

d) The Council will 
publish the number of 
marked out controlled on 
and off-street parking 
spaces within their area, 
or an estimate of the 
number of spaces where 
controlled parking space 
is not marked out in 
individual parking bays or 
spaces.   

 e) The Council will 
publish information on 
Fraud.     

f) Details of invitation to 
tender for contracts to 
provide goods and/or 
services with a value that 
exceeds £5,000 will be 
published. 

marked out in individual 
parking bays or spaces   

b) Details of invitation to 
tender for contracts to provide 
goods and/or services with a 
value that exceeds £5,000   

Details surrounding car 
parking facilities within the 
area are published on the 
Council’s website, however 
there is no information 
explicitly stating the number of 
spaces estimated at each 
facility.    

The management action is 
therefore ongoing. 

spaces will be 
published.   

c) Details of 
invitation to tender 
for contracts to 
provide goods 
and/or services with 
a value that exceeds 
£5,000 

2. 5.17/18 Cyber security  

a) Once the maximum 
password age is agreed 
management will ensure 
that the Password Policy 
for the Domain Users 
Group and the 
Councillors Group will be 
updated.    

b) The updated Password 
Policy will be 
communicated to staff. 

31 July 
2019 

Low Discussions with the Head of 
Customer Service and 
Software and Technical 
Projects Team Leader 
confirmed that current 
password procedures require 
a change of password every 
90 days.  

The Software and Technical 
Projects Team Leader did 
inform that there have been 
ongoing issues with 
Councillor's user accounts in 
that they are never required to 
change their password.    

2 Upon completion of 
the Agile Working 
Project becoming 
live;    

a) The Password 
Policy for the 
Domain User Group 
and Councillor's 
group will be 
updated.   

b) The updated 
Password Policy will 
be communicated to 
staff. 

Low 31 
January 
2020 

Head of 
Customer 
Experience 

66



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 6 

Under the new Agile Working 
Project all Councillors will be 
given new technical 
equipment which will reflect 
current password procedures.  

Upon completion of the Agile 
Working Project resulting in it 
becoming live, the relevant 
policy's will be updated and 
communicated to staff. 

The management action is 
therefore being reiterated. 

3. 19.17/18 Right to Buy 

EPCs for all properties 
are held on the central 
government Landmark 
EPC database site 
accessible to all. PDF 
copies of EPCs for RTB 
sales will be provided to 
the Council’s solicitor via 
the Income Team Co-
ordinator from January 
2019 in line with the 
management action. 

28 
February 
2019 

Medium It was advised by the Head of 
Improvement and Repairs that 
PDF EPCs are communicated 
to the Councillor's solicitor via 
the Income Team Coordinator. 
However, at the time of audit 
sufficient evidence was not 
provided to verify this.   

The management action is 
therefore being reiterated. 

3 EPCs for all 
properties are held 
on the central 
government 
Landmark EPC 
database site 
accessible to all.  
PDF copies of EPCs 
for RTB sales will be 
provided to the 
Council’s solicitor via 
the Income Team 
Co-ordinator from 
January 2019 in line 
with the 
management action. 

Medium 31 
January 
2020 

Head of 
Improvement 
and Repairs 

4. 2.18/19 Pre-Application 
Fees 

a) The reconciliations 
between February 2018 
to February 2019 will be 
carried out; and     

b) Going forward the 
reconciliations will be 
carried out monthly. 

29 March 
2019 

Medium The Head of Development 
Management advised that 
there has been ongoing 
difficulty completing monthly 
reconciliations. The system 
used by the department 
dealing with pre application 
fees and the finance system 
cannot be used in conjunction 
with one another as they do 
not hold and record the same 

3 a) The 
reconciliations 
between February 
2018 to February 
2019 will be carried 
out; and     

b) Going forward the 
reconciliations will 
be carried out 
monthly. 

Medium 30 April 
2020 

Head of 
Development 
Management 

67



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 7 

information. This has made 
performing a reconciliation 
impossible.    

The Head of Development 
Management did advise that 
brief discussions have been 
undertaken to introduce a new 
system that would incorporate 
a feature that made 
reconciliations possible, 
however at the time of audit 
no confirmation of this was in 
place. 

1.19/20 Follow Up 1        

Ref Management action Original  
date 

Original 
priority  

Audit finding Current 
status 

Updated 
management 
action 

Priority 
issued 

Revised  
date 

Owner 
responsible 

5. 6.18/19 Recruitment 
and Retention 

Recruitment procedures 
will be condensed into a 
single document and a 
flowchart will be 
produced to show the 
process from start to 
finish. 

31 July 
2019 

Low Discussions with the HR 
Department confirmed that the 
department no longer decided 
to condense all of its 
recruitment procedures into a 
single document. Instead it 
was decided that all current 
recruitment procedures would 
be uploaded to one area of the 
Council's internal intranet 
system thereby making it 
easily accessible and user 
friendly. The uploading of 
current recruitment 
procedures has been 
implemented.    

The Council is currently 
undergoing trials of its new 
online recruitment process. 
Upon completion of the trials 
resulting in the system 

2 A flowchart will be 
produced to show 
the recruitment 
process from start to 
finish. 

Low 31 
January 
2020 

Head of 
Organisational 
Development 

68



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 8 

becoming live, a flowchart will 
be produced to show the 
recruitment process from start 
to finish.  

The management action is 
therefore being reiterated. 

6. 8.18/19 Land Charges 

We will ensure changes 
made to the register are 
independently reviewed 
to supporting 
documentation and 
checked for accuracy by 
another member of the 
team after the change 
has been made. 

31 August 
2019 

Medium The Head of Development 
Management advised at the 
time of audit that a new 
system was currently about to 
go live which would allow 
registered changes to be 
reviewed and checked for 
accuracy.   

The Head of Development 
Management explained that 
due to staffing issues faced by 
the department it has not been 
possible to review the backlog 
of registered changes.  

The Head of Development 
Management did, however, 
explain that a new apprentice 
has recently been recruited 
who is currently undergoing 
training to be able to perform 
this role. It is estimated that 
this will allow for completion of 
the management action by the 
end of the year.   

The management action is 
therefore being reiterated. 

3 We will ensure 
changes made to the 
register are 
independently 
reviewed to 
supporting 
documentation and 
checked for 
accuracy by another 
member of the team 
after the change has 
been made. 

Medium 31 March 
2020 

Head of 
Development 
Management 

7. 10.18/19 Purchase 
Orders and Creditors 

a) Monthly monitoring 
reports will be produced 

28 June 
2019 

Medium The Head of Finance advised 
that the Council is currently 
looking to ensure that 
purchase orders are received 
prior to goods being ordered 
and that payment would not 

3 a) Monthly 
monitoring reports 
will be produced and 
reviewed to identify 
repeat offenders.    

Medium 31 
January 
2020 

Head of 
Finance 

69



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 9 

and reviewed to identify 
repeat offenders.   

b) Repeat offenders will 
be reminded of the 
importance of ensuring a 
purchase order is raised 
prior to the ordering of 
goods or services from 
suppliers.  

c) An escalation process 
will be implemented. 

be made without the presence 
of a purchase order. From this 
an escalation process will be 
implemented to deal with 
repeat offenders.  

However, the Head of Finance 
did inform us that the Council 
is currently implementing a 
new cash receipting process 
and that this has taken priority, 
meaning that this 
management action is yet to 
implemented.    

The management action is 
therefore being reiterated. 

b) Repeat offenders 
will be reminded of 
the importance of 
ensuring a purchase 
order is raised prior 
to the ordering of 
goods or services 
from suppliers.   

c) An escalation 
process will be 
implemented. 

8. 13.18/19 Fire Safety 

Emergency lighting will 
be checked in 
accordance with the Fire 
Safety Arrangements and 
Fire Log Book. 

28 June 
2019 

Medium Discussions with Assets and 
Estates Manager confirmed 
that all Emergency Lighting 
tests across the relevant sites 
are now being carried out 
every six months and 
recorded within the Fire Log 
Book. However, upon review 
of the Fire Log Book it was 
found that the Emergency 
Lighting tests are not being 
completed before their due 
date. 

2 Management will 
ensure that the 
Emergency Lighting 
tests are completed 
before their due 
date. 

Medium 30 April 
2020 

Assets and 
Estates 
Manager – 
General Fund 
Assets 

9. 13.18/19 Fire Safety 

On completion of the 
surveys of the sheltered 
accommodation and 
flatlets with communal 
facilities, the Stay Put 
Policy will be amended 
for each property based 
on the findings of the 
survey. 

30 
September 
2019 

Low Discussions with the Head of 
Improvement and Repairs 
identified that the survey work 
on the sheltered housing 
accommodation is ongoing 
and once all surveys have 
been completed the Stay Put 
Policy will be amended 
accordingly. A schedule log 
outlining the completion of 
surveys is being kept. Out of 

2 On completion of the 
surveys of the 
sheltered 
accommodation and 
flat with communal 
facilities, the Stay 
Put Policy will be 
amended for each 
property based on 

Low 29 
February 
2020 

Head of 
Improvement 
and Repairs 

70



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 10 

21 surveys to be completed, at 
the time of audit three have 
been fully completed. It is 
anticipated that the remaining 
surveys will be completed 
within the next few months.    

The management action is 
therefore ongoing. 

the findings of the 
survey. 

10. 13.18/19 Fire Safety 

a) Fire Risk Assessments 
will be undertaken on 
completion of the 
surveys.    

b) Going forward the Fire 
Risk assessments will be 
reviewed annually for all 
properties where one is 
required based on the 
structure and layout of 
the property.   

c) Where the use or 
layout of the building 
changes requiring a new 
Fire Risk Assessment, 
these will be carried out 
and any arising actions 
implemented. 

30 
September 
2019 

Medium Discussions with the Head of 
Improvement and Repairs 
confirmed that surveys of the 
sheltered accommodation are 
still underway, with the view to 
having all surveys completed 
within the next few months. 
Upon completion of the 
surveys Fire Risk 
Assessments will be carried 
out and reviewed annually 
where appropriate. For 
instances where the surveys 
have been completed a Fire 
Risk Assessment is in place.    

The management action is 
therefore ongoing. 

2 a) Fire Risk 
Assessments will be 
undertaken on 
completion of the 
surveys.     

b) Going forward 
Fire Risk 
Assessments will be 
reviewed annually 
for all properties 
where one is 
required based on 
the structure and 
layout of the 
property.    

c) Where the use or 
layout of the building 
changes requiring a 
new Fire Risk 
Assessment these 
will be carried out 
and any arising 
actions 
implemented. 

Medium 29 
February 
2020 

Head of 
Improvement 
and Repairs 

11. 14.18/19 Payroll and 
Expenses 

The Expenses Policy will 
be reviewed and updated 

31 May 
2019 

Low The Head of Finance advised 
that payroll has recently been 
outsourced and the payroll 
and expenses policies are 
being reviewed and updated 
to reflect this.    

3 The Expenses Policy 
will be reviewed and 
updated to reflect 
current working 
practices. 

Low 31 
January 
2020 

Head of 
Finance 

71



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 11 

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included only those actions graded as 2 and 3. Each action followed up has been categorised in line 
with the following:

to reflect current working 
practices. 

The Expenses Policy will be 
reviewed and updated as part 
of the wider review following 
the outsourcing of payroll.   

The management action is 
therefore being reiterated. 

12. 14.18/19 Payroll and 
Expenses 

A reminder will be issued 
to all staff to ensure that 
a corresponding receipt is 
uploaded onto the payroll 
system when making any 
expense claims. 

31 May 
2019 

Low The Head of Finance advised 
that as payroll has recently 
been outsourced and that a 
review of the expenses and 
payroll policies are being 
undertaken in accordance with 
this.    

As part of this review, 
management will ensure that a 
reminder is issued to all staff 
to ensure that a corresponding 
receipt is uploaded onto the 
payroll system when making 
expense claims.   

The management action is 
therefore being reiterated. 

3 A reminder will be 
issued to all staff to 
ensure that a 
corresponding 
receipt is uploaded 
onto the payroll 
system when making 
an expense claim. 

Low 31 
January 
2020 

Head of 
Finance  

72



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 12 

Scope of the review 
The internal audit assignment has been scoped to provide assurance on how South Kesteven District Council 
manages the following objective:   

Objective of the area under review 

To meet internal auditing standards, and to provide assurance on action taken to address management actions 
previously agreed by management. 

When planning the audit, the following areas for consideration and limitations were agreed: 

Areas for consideration: 

As part of the approved internal audit periodic plan we will review the 25 (15 'Medium' and 10 'Low') management 
actions agreed in the following Internal Audit reviews: 

 9.18/19 Members Allowances and Expenses; 

 17.18/19 Follow Up 2; and 

 1.19/20 Follow Up 1. 

Limitations to the scope of the audit assignment:  

 Detailed testing will only be carried out on high and medium priority management actions. 

 We will obtain a management update in relation to low priority management actions, but no detailed testing will be 
carried out. 

 We will not review the whole control framework of the areas listed above. Therefore, we are not providing 
assurance on the entire risk and control framework of these areas. 

 Testing will be completed, where appropriate, on a sample basis over the period since actions were implemented 
or controls enhanced.  

 Our work does not provide absolute assurance that material errors, loss or fraud do not exist. 

 

 

APPENDIX A: SCOPE 

73



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 13 

From the testing conducted during this review we have found the following actions to have been fully implemented and 
are now closed: 

Assignment title Management actions 

9.18/19 Members 
Allowances and 
Expenses 

a) The Constitution will be updated to reflect the pay award increase applied 
from 1 April 2018; and   

b) Going forward the Constitution will be update on a timely basis following an 
increase in the Allowances. 

9.18/19 Members 
Allowances and 
Expenses 

a) Members will be reminded to submit expense claims on a regular and timely 
basis (soon after the end of the month);   

b) Members will be reminded that payment may not be made for claims 
submitted outside of the approved timeframes (soon after the end of the month); 
and        

c) Where the claim form states “all claim forms must be completed on a monthly 
basis wherever possible” this will be amended to state, “all claim forms must be 
completed on a monthly basis”. 

9.18/19 Members 
Allowances and 
Expenses 

a) Following review by the Assistant Director Resources, the Members 
Expenses report for 2017/18 will be published on the Council’s website; and      

b) Going forward, the Members Expenses report will be published soon after the 
publication of the Council’s approved year-end financial accounts. Management 
Comment Evidence was provided by the client to show that an email was sent 
to ‘Communications’ on 31 August 2018 with the 2017/18 Members Allowances 
on for them to publish on the Council’s website. This action however was not 
completed at the time of the audit (week ending 4 October 2018) but has since 
been completed. 

17.18/19 Follow Up 2 The Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules will be updated to signpost the 
guidance on third party / contractor health and safety. This is found within 
Section 5 of the Procedure Rules. 

17.18/19 Follow Up 2 a) Information regarding the presence or absence of asbestos in a property will 
be communicated to contractors prior to works commencing unless the work is 
non-intrusive. Appropriate supporting notes will be made.      

b) A record of the communication and the supporting documents will be kept on 
file.  

c) A review will be undertaken to ensure that all the contractor repairs are being 
captured in the daily report. 

17.18/19 Follow Up 2 The third-party access register will be updated to include the following 
information:   

a)  Period for which access is required;   

b) Review period for granting access; and   

c) Confirmation of a confidentiality agreement been signed and retained. 

APPENDIX B: ACTIONS COMPLETED AND 
SUPERSEDED 

74



 

  South Kesteven District Council  Follow Up 2 12.19/20  | 14 

17.18/19 Follow Up 2  The Head of Improvement and Repairs advised that under Council guidance for 
undertaking an assessment it is expected that the assessment is graded as 
either a pass or a fail. 

A narrative is only provided in instances where assessments have failed and 
aims to outline details of the failure in line with Council guidance.  

The management action has therefore been superseded. 

17.18/19 Follow Up 2 The Head of Improvement and Repairs advised that due the nature of 
responsive repairs being for short periods of time it is not possible to monitor 
and observe contractors. Formalities surrounding health and safety are 
addressed as part of an initial briefing and risks assessments regarding external 
contractors are carried out accordingly.  

Details of responsive repairs may be discussed within wider team progress 
meetings; however, it is not possible to conduct such meetings on individual 
repairs due to their short nature. Works are monitored on site during the time of 
the repair job however regular meetings are not held in the same manner as on 
longer term planned maintenance programmes. 

The management action has therefore been superseded. 

17.18/19 Follow Up 2  The Council is currently in the process of rolling out an Agile Working Project 
which will enable all employees to work remotely. This project is due for 
completion by the end of the calendar year. As a result, the remote working 
form is no longer applicable, and the conditions of remote working will be 
covered within the wider Agile Working Project. The management action has 
therefore been superseded. 

1.19/20 Follow Up 1 a) All staff will be required to and will undertake refresher fire awareness 
training on an annual basis as per the Fire Log Book.   

b) Monitoring arrangements will be put into place to ensure that the training is 
being undertaken and on a timely basis.    

c) A regular reconciliation will be performed of the new starters recorded onto 
the e-learning system and new starters to ensure that all have been recorded. 

1.19/20 Follow Up 1 Recruitment training will be delivered to all staff with Line Management 
responsibilities and refreshed on a cyclical basis to communicate any changes 
in legislation, hiring practices, changes to policies, etc. 

1.19/20 Follow Up 1 We will update the guidance on temporary staff to state the process for placing 
orders and making payments for temporary staff. 

1.19/20 Follow Up 1 We will ensure an Evaluation Checklist is in place and fully completed for the 
appointment of all temporary staff. 

 

75



 

rsmuk.com 

This report is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in 
respect of this report to any other party. 
 
The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are 
not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. 
Actions for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact. This report, or our work, should not be taken 
as a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. We emphasise 
that the responsibility for a sound system of internal controls rests with management and our work should not be relied 
upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may exist. Neither should our work be relied upon to identify all 
circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there be any. 
 
Our report is prepared solely for the confidential use of South Kesteven District Council, and solely for the purposes 
set out herein. This report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party 
wishing to acquire any rights from RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP for any purpose or in any context. Any third 
party which obtains access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on it (or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in 
respect of this report to any other party and shall not be liable for any loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature 
which is caused by any person’s reliance on representations in this report. 
 
This report is released to you on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save 
as otherwise permitted by agreed written terms), without our prior written consent. 
 
We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.  
 
RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales no. OC389499 at 
6th floor, 25 Farringdon Street, London EC4A 4AB. 
 

 
Chris Williams, Head of Internal Audit 

Chris.Williams@rsmuk.com 

Tel: 07753 584993  

 

Amjad Ali, Senior Manager 

Amjad.Ali@rsmuk.com 

Tel: 07800 617139 

 

Iain Daire, Assistant Manager 

Iain.Daire@rsmuk.com 

Tel: 07528 970048 

 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT 

76



 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 
Internal Audit Indicative Plan 2020/21 
Presented at the Governance and Audit Committee 
meeting of: 18 December 2019 
 

77

Appendix 3



 

 

 South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit indicative plan 2020/21 | 1 

CONTENTS 
1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2   Internal audit indicative plan 2020/21 ........................................................................................................................... 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

78



 

 South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit indicative plan 2020/21 | 2 

1.1 Background 
The Council’s internal audit plan comprises a Strategic Plan which incorporates a three year cycle of proposed internal 
audit assignments. On an annual basis the Strategic Plan is revisited and an annual internal audit plan for the 
forthcoming financial year is devised and agreed with the Governance and Audit Committee and the Council’s Senior 
Management Team. The 2019/20 annual internal audit plan was presented to the Governance and Audit Committee 
on 21 March 2019. This document also included a Strategic Plan covering the years 2019/20 to 2021/22. 

As part of the early stage development of the annual internal audit plan for 2020/21, we have extracted the indicative 
plan from the March 2019 document, and this is presented to the Committee in Section 2 for early comment. We 
recognise that the Council’s risk profile is likely to have changed and the 2020/21 plan will require updating following 
detailed discussions with the Senior Management Team. 

Following input from the Governance and Audit Committee and Senior Management Team, the updated 2020/21 
internal audit plan will be presented to the Committee meeting on 18 March 2020 for review and final approval. 

1.2 Governance and Audit Committee Input 
We would welcome input from the Governance and Audit Committee which will be incorporated into the development 
of the 2020/21 internal audit plan. 

Section 2 of this report sets out the individual internal audit areas proposed for inclusion in 2020/21 and will be 
supplemented by the follow up of previously agreed management actions, RSM management time and a contingent 
element set aside to deal with matters arising in-year. 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 
Our approach to developing your internal audit plan is based on analysing your corporate 
objectives, risk profile and assurance framework as well as other factors affecting South Kesteven 
District Council in the year ahead, including changes within the wider public sector.  

79



 

 South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit indicative plan 2020/21 | 3 

Audit High Level Scope for 
2020/21 

  

Finance 

Corporate Governance Continued annual assurance focussing on compliance with the constitution. We will 
also consider the key elements of governance and the effectiveness and ability to react 
to and provide informed decisions. 

Purchase Orders and 
Creditors 

This audit will include whether financial procedures and policies are being adhered to, 
that invoices are only paid when matched to an appropriately authorised purchase 
order, and goods are received prior to payments being made. This review will also 
cover the process in place to ensure that supplier details are accurate. 

Members Code of 
Conduct 

To ensure that the organisation maintains and monitors effective governance 
arrangements in line with documented guidance and regulations. 

Treasury Management This review will consider whether all investments and withdrawals made, and loans 
taken, are subject to appropriate approval. We will also review the controls in place 
surrounding the levels of cash held both in Council bank accounts and in other 
institutions, and how the Council ensures sufficient cash is available to meet its ongoing 
liabilities. 

GDPR To ensure the Council has established effective systems to support compliance with the 
GDPR requirements in respect of data storage, archiving, security and subject access. 

Council Tax Our audit will provide assurance that procedures in relation to Council Tax are followed 
and correct charges are being applied, and will include identification and recording of 
persons liable for Council Tax, billing methods and payment collection, recovery and 
write offs, segregation of duties, exemptions, discounts and refunds. 

Procurement and 
Contracts 

We will focus on whether policies and procedures are being adhered to with regards 
obtaining tenders and quotations, and the level of due diligence performed on potential 
new suppliers. We will also review the level of contractor performance management 
undertaken across the Council and how this results in payments being made to 
contractors. We will review pre, mid and post contract processes for each of the 
sampled contracts. 

IT Review  To review the processes employed by the Council and for the management of risks in 
relation to the Council’s IT network. Detailed scope to be agreed with management. 

Transformation and Change 

Programme and 
Performance 

To ensure that a Performance Policy/Criteria is in place that sets out agreed 
performance indicators against the Council's objectives and review a sample of Council 
projects to ensure that clear milestones and outcomes have been clearly defined. 
We will ensure that Council and project key performance indicators are monitored 
and/or investigated regularly to ensure that the quality of the service is not 
compromised and the Council are able to identify and act upon non-achievement of its 
objectives. 

2   INTERNAL AUDIT INDICATIVE PLAN 2020/21 

80



 

 South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit indicative plan 2020/21 | 4 

Audit High Level Scope for 
2020/21 

  

Commercial and Operational

Ground Maintenance To ensure the Council provides an effective grounds maintenance service within the 
District contributing to the better health and well-being of the residents and wildlife of 
South Kesteven. 

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation 

To ensure the Council are complying with legislation and have procedures in place to 
identify, licence and monitor Houses in Multiple Occupation within the District. 

Trade Waste This review will ensure that operational procedures are fit for purpose and are complied 
with. We will also ensure that income is collected appropriately and accounted for. 

Growth  

Car Parks To ensure the Council’s car park provision is reviewed to determine whether the 
requirements of users are being met, and also that each facility has been risk 
assessed. We will include a review of the signage in place at each car park, ensuring 
this reflects the Council statutory responsibilities, the approved fees and charges for 
parking and complaints. We will also include a review of the contract in place for the 
provision of car park enforcement. 

Leisure Centres We will review the Service Level Agreements in place between the Council and the 
outsourced company for the Leisure Centres to ensure that the service and 
performance as per the agreements are being provided to the required standard to the 
public.  

Resident Involvement To ensure that the quality of accommodation, neighbourhood or services are 
maintained for residents to reduce any dissatisfaction with residents leading to 
increased management time and loss of reputation. 

Other internal audit activity 

Contingency To allow additional reviews to be undertaken in agreement with the Governance and 
Audit Committee or management based in changes in risk profile or assurance needs 
as they arise during the year.  

Follow up To meet internal auditing standards and to provide assurance on action taken to 
address previously agreed management actions. 

Management  This will include: 
• Annual planning; 
• Preparation for, and attendance at, Governance and Audit Committee; 
• Regular liaison and progress updates; 
• Liaison with external audit and other assurance providers; and 
• Preparation of the annual opinion. 

   

 

81



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance and Audit 
Committee
18 December 2019

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

        

Risk Management Annual Report 2018-19 including 
proposed changes to the Risk Management 
Framework  
In accordance with the terms of reference of the Committee it is a requirement to produce an annual 
report on risk management and business continuity arrangements in place.  Risk management and 
business continuity are fundamental to the Council’s achievement of its strategic objectives.  The 
report being presented covers the financial year 2018-19 and summarises the work delivered during 
the year.  The report also includes proposed changes to the Risk Management Framework which is 
due for a review in 2020-21. 

Report Author

Tracey Elliott, Governance & Risk Officer

 01476 406038

 t.elliott@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright – Head of Finance 3 December 2019

Approved by: Richard Wyles – Director of Finance 6 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 9 December 2019

Recommendation to the decision maker

1. The Governance and Audit Committee is asked to note the contents of this report 
and approve the proposed actions detailed at Appendix B.

83

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
One of the key areas for Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, 
is to monitor and review the risk management arrangements in place and the activities that 
are being undertaken to mitigate those risks.  The first part of this report summarises the 
risk management and business continuity undertaken in 2018-19.

The Risk Management Framework is due for a review in 2020-21 and it is considered good 
practice to undertake such a review to identify how the risk management framework can be 
strengthened whilst also remaining proportionate.  The second part of this report details the 
proposed changes to the Risk Management Framework.

2 Summary of position
Risk Management Annual Report

2.1 The Risk Management Framework
The Risk Management Framework was revised and approved by Governance and Audit 
Committee at its meeting in September 2018.  The framework provides details of the risk 
environment the Council operates within and the controls and mechanisms that are in place 
to ensure risk is sufficiently managed by officers and members.  Throughout 2018-19 the 
risk management activities have been undertaken in accordance with the framework.  

2.2 Risk Management Internal Audit
Internal audit undertook a review of Risk Management in November 2017 and the next audit 
is due in December 2019 as part of the internal audit plan 2019-20.

2.3 Risk Management Group
Risk Management Group, consisting of all Heads of Service (or their representative) plus 
other key officers, and chaired by the Governance & Risk Officer, met three times during 
the year to discuss issues relating to risk management, internal audit, insurance, counter 
fraud, governance, procurement, business continuity and safeguarding.

2.4 Service Risk Register
A refresh exercise of service risks was undertaken in March 2018 and another exercise has 
just been undertaken in October 2019.   The exercise assessed if:

 all the previous risks identified were still relevant

 those risks were being managed and what controls were in place

 there were any emerging risks that needed to be included

The review covered both the ‘business as usual’ and ‘exceptional’ risks.  The exceptional 
risks are those risks which are scored as high or they may be a new risk to the service which 
is causing sufficient concern to warrant inclusion on the Exceptional Service Risk Register 
which is further discussed at Risk Management Group.

2.5 Corporate Risk Register
The Committee last approved the Corporate Risk Register in March 2019.  The proposed 
changes to the way the Council will manage its risks are captured within the proposed 
changes to the Risk Management Framework in point 2.

84



2.6 Business Continuity
The annual update and review of service level business continuity plans was undertaken 
based on risk.  Review meetings with those responsible for critical teams within the Council 
(those with functions that should be restored within 48 hours) were conducted.  These 
reviews were carried out and tested based on a loss of premises, IT and staffing.  Risk 
assessments have been completed for the key potential consequences that were identified 
and, where appropriate, measures have been taken to reduce or mitigate any impacts.  The 
Council’s drive to enable a more agile workforce has improved our resilience and mitigates 
certain impacts of any non-IT related business continuity incident. This remains an ongoing 
process.  

The Council’s Emergency Plan has been continuously reviewed throughout the year with a 
specific focus on strengthening the response structure and to develop and include a 
Strategic Officer role within that structure. The role provides an overview of the more tactical 
responses of the Incident Management Group during any emergency, as well as ensuring 
effective liaison with Members.  Multi-agency Strategic-level training for County 
emergencies was delivered during 2018/19 to a number of senior officers by the Local 
Resilience Forum. 

Risk Management Framework – proposed changes
2.7 The Council wants to ensure it is best placed to manage public finances, assets and 

resources and demonstrate to its stakeholders that this is the case.

It is proposed that the Council reviews its approach to risk management based on existing 
arrangements, incorporating the suggested changes and refinements, therefore enabling 
an improved focus on the achievement of objectives through:

 a defined set of strategic risks that the Council Leadership team will monitor/manage

 ensuring that the key control environment is effective making use of the corporate 
assurance reporting process set out 

 identifying, reporting, monitoring and managing emerging and exceptional risk 
recognising that these are more fluid as compared to the elements above

2.8 The Council’s risk management objective is to ensure (as far as possible) that it identifies 
risks and mitigates appropriately (dependent on its risk appetite).

The Council proposes the following changes to its approach to risk management:

 Strategic Risk management - focussing on the major risks (positive and negative) that 
directly affect achievement of the Council’s strategic objectives. This would be new and 
subsume the risks from the Corporate Risk Register. 

 Corporate Controls Assurance - focussing on assessing the on-going effectiveness of the 
Council key controls. This would be a revised process for the Annual Assurance 
Statement and may include elements of the current Corporate Risk Register – attached 
as Appendix A.

 Exceptional risks - risks that are identified outside of the strategic risk management and 
corporate controls assurance arrangements. There will no longer be an operational risk 
register – any significant risks will be captured through the above and the associated 
processes to update the risk and control profile of the Council. This would remove the 
need to formally capture the business as usual service risks.

85



 Emerging risks - risk events (positive or negative) that are morphing or may be unclear 
but may have an impact on the Council’s objectives or activities.

These are further explained in the points below.

2.9 Strategic Risks
Strategic risks are defined as those business risks that, if realised, could fundamentally 
affect the way in which the Council operates or conducts its business. These risks could 
have a detrimental effect on the Council’s achievements of its key business objectives. The 
risk realisation will lead to material failure, loss or lost opportunity.

Management Team recently undertook a risk appetite exercise and identified the following 
themes:   

 Enabling community transformation

 Achieving Council transformation

 Efficient and effective internal control/compliance

 Ensuring financial resilience

 Creating the right culture, capacity and capability

 Ability to be agile and shift focus in response to policy and political change

It is proposed that these are adopted as the Council’s strategic risks, with appropriate 
narrative, as these are more aligned with the Council objectives than the current corporate 
risks. The current corporate risks will be subsumed within the strategic risks or corporate 
controls assurance.

Having the strategic risks also driving the risk appetite means that there is greater alignment 
with the Council’s strategic objectives. 

As part of further alignment, the Council’s approach to risk scoring will be reviewed to better 
reflect the risk appetite. This will be undertaken as part of the review of the Risk 
Management Framework.

2.10 Exceptional and emerging risks
Exceptional risk
These are risks that are identified outside of the strategic risk/corporate controls assurance 
elements. In all cases they would be of sufficient magnitude to require monitoring or further 
mitigating actions.

These risks might be identified by staff or management and escalated as appropriate via 
the Governance & Risk Officer who facilitates the process. They may also be identified by 
reports being considered by Cabinet for decision making. 

Emerging and exceptional risks will be a key area of focus of the Council’s Risk 
Management Group. 

Emerging risk
These are risks that could be positive or negative but are still developing and may not be 
clear. They will be monitored until such a point that it becomes clear and a response is 
initiated ie the creation of the necessary controls to mitigate the risk.

86



2.11 Corporate Controls Assurance
Corporate controls assurance is focused on the effectiveness of core/key controls on which 
the Council is reliant to undertake its day to day business in an effective and efficient 
manner. It is suggested that this will include assurance over the following:

(a) Financial control

(b) Data protection and confidentiality

(c) Health & Safety

(d) Safeguarding

(e) Contract management 

(f) Procurement

(g) Cyber security

(h) Physical security and contingency/business continuity

(i) Training (and development)

(j) Fraud, Code of Conduct and ethics

(k) Programmes and projects 

In each case a specific owner will be identified and provide cyclical updates on the risk 
exposure that may exist, including the controls effectiveness, recognising that the controls 
may be specifically applied by someone else within the Council. This would, in most cases, 
be a first or second line of assurance.

The service area Annual Assurance Statement will be aligned with the areas above. This 
will provide a further source of assurance that the controls in these areas are effective 
across service areas and would, in most cases, provide a first line of assurance.

It is proposed that a new template for the service area’s Annual Assurance Statement is 
adopted, including a basis of the judgement/assessment and a forward look. It is also 
suggested that the Annual Assurance Statement is automated making use of a specific 
piece of software enabling the process to be more efficient and improve ability to report.

Independently, Internal Audit will also be able to align their reviews around or across these 
areas. This would provide a third line of assurance.

Through the above, the Council will be able to build up a good level of assurance over its 
core/corporate control environment, all of which can be cyclically reported to Governance 
and Audit Committee, providing an increased level of visibility. The output from this can also 
be referenced within the Annual Governance Statement.

3 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
3.1 The Governance and Audit Committee are asked to approve the following proposed actions 

which are further detailed in Appendix B where appropriate:

 The creation of a Strategic Risk Register which will subsume the current corporate risks

 The move away from capturing business as usual service risks to focussing on emerging 
and exceptional risks 

87



 The improvement to the Annual Assurance Statement process which will capture 
corporate controls 

 The utilisation of software which will provide greater visibility and strengthen 
accountability

4 Reasons for the Recommendation
4.1 Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, is required to monitor 

and review the risk management arrangements in place and the activities that are being 
undertaken to mitigate those risks.

5 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
5.1 N/A

6 Financial Implications 
6.1 These are contained within the report where appropriate.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

7 Legal and Governance Implications 
7.1 One of the areas for the Committee as part of its terms of reference is to monitor and review 

the risk management arrangements in place and activities that are being undertaken in order 
to mitigate those risks.  The Risk Management Framework therefore provides details of the 
risk environment within which the Council operates and the controls and mechanisms that 
are in place to ensure risk is sufficiently managed by officers and members. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Monitoring Officer

8 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
8.1 None

9 Risk and Mitigation
9.1 None

10 Community Safety Implications 
10.1 None

11 Background Papers
11.1 None

12 Appendices
12.1 Appendix A Corporate Risk Themes

12.2 Appendix B Risk Management Framework – proposed changes Action Plan

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  18 December 2019

88



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Themes

1. Maintaining an effective internal control environment (able to mitigate against material 
failure)
This risk focuses on the potential for failure of the Council’s core internal control (and governance) framework but leading to 
a significant loss ie financial and otherwise eg H&S failing. 

In effect the Council should be in a position to mitigate such a risk through rigorous review of design and application of the 
controls, hence ensuring that internal audit and other assurance activities are appropriately focussed. 

The Council is entering a new phase including changes in behaviour, management structure, working styles and culture which 
will (in the short term) require a flexible and adaptive internal control environment.

The ramifications of a significant control risk failure are substantial, not only with regard to the loss but often the rectification 
costs post event, including financial and reputational.

2. Ensuring ongoing resilience and quality in third parties ie partners, major providers, 
suppliers etc
This risk relates to the potential for the failure of a major supplier of Council services or partner with whom the Council co-
delivers/enables provision of services or operations. In the event of such a failure, either in resilience or quality, then the 
Council would be significantly compromised and would have to undertake major remedial work.

The Council has strengthened its contract management process, particularly focussing on post-award. However, this is still 
in the process of embedding and demonstrating that it is fully effective, including provision of contract management training 
to all relevant staff. 

3. Achieving future financial resilience
This risk relates to the Council being unable to properly execute and achieve its Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 

The Council has recently developed a transformation plan which will deliver savings and efficiencies over the medium term.  
The successful transformation of the Council will not only impact on the Council outlook and culture ie a council that makes 
good evidenced based decisions and gets things done but will also have a significant impact on the Council finances. 

The current budget incorporates approximately £3m of savings and new income streams being identified and realised to 
ensure that spending on budgets initiatives can be undertaken without use of reserves. 

This risk is also closely linked to Risk 4 in that the delivery of the Council transformation plan is reliant on ensuring that the 
Council has available suitable skills and experiences to support initiatives. 

4. Building a suitable level of capacity, skills and culture within the Council workforce to 
achieve the change expected, whilst also still delivering business as usual
This risk relates to the Council being unable to successfully achieve the level of change expected and required by the Council 
leaders and stakeholders. In creating the change will come a new culture and outlook that is described as “agile” and 
“outcome focussed” ie we do what we say we will.  

Key to the above will be ensuring that: 
• The Council keeps under close watch recruitment, talent development and retention, as well as use of external specialists
• Partnership and collaborative working is optimised across the district
• An appropriate operating environment and culture is created that will enable the necessary changes to occur – this may 

require a review of the scheme of delegation and a re-assessment of risk appetite at all levels in the Council, including 
members

• Member/officer mind sets are aligned regards the change initiatives enabling the appropriate cultural change

89

Appendix A



Appendix A – Corporate Risk Themes

5. Ensuring robust security measures to protect the Council’s data and assets from cyber 
threats
This risk relates to the Council’s ability to defend itself against the constantly evolving threat from cyber based attack. The 
Council, in common with other public bodies, should be regarded as a high-profile target given the impact and publicity a 
successful attack can have.

The Council, through the measures in place, repels almost on a daily basis “attack vectors” launched by adversaries from 
across the globe. The risk to the Council of not maintaining these effective controls and it’s continuing to invest in these 
countermeasures is very high.

The consequences of a successful attack can have a number of consequences, not just operational but also reputational. The 
impact is not just an internal one, but it also has consequences for our customers if we cannot provide our essential services.

90



Appendix B

Risk Management Framework – proposed changes

Action plan

Action Owner Output Implementation 
Date 

DateCommittee1. Revise Risk Management 
Framework
a. Incorporate all the proposed changes 

Governance & 
Risk Officer

Risk Management 
Framework 2020-22 March 2020

2. Create Strategic Risk Register
a. Adopt themes identified as part of risk 

appetite exercise
b. Review inclusion of corporate risks
c. Review risk scoring to better reflect risk 

appetite

Governance & 
Risk Officer

Assistant 
Directors and 

Directors

Strategic Risk Register March 2020

3. Revise Annual Assurance 
Statement 
a. Align to corporate controls assurance
b. Review inclusion of corporate risks
c. Move to automated on-line process

Governance & 
Risk Officer

Heads of 
Service

Referenced within 
Annual Governance 

Statement (AGS)

June 2021 
as part of the AGS 

2020/21

91

Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance and Audit 
Committee
18 December 2019

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

        

Treasury Management Activity 2019-20 – Mid Year Review

This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to produce 
regular reports on treasury and debt management operations during the financial year.
This report meets the requirements of the CIPFA code of practice on Treasury Management (the 
code). 

Report Author

Sue Scott, Treasury Officer

 01476 406209

 Sue.scott@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Regulatory All Wards

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 26 November 2019

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance 3 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 5 December 2019

Recommendation to the decision maker (s)
1. It is recommended that Members of Governance and Audit Committee note and 

approve the contents of the mid-year review of Treasury Management activity for 
2019-20

93

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 Introduction
1.1 Treasury Management is the term used to cover the Council's borrowing and investment 

strategies.  The Council has formally adopted the key recommendations of the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (revised 2017).  In line with the Code the Council has adopted a treasury 
management policy statement that requires regular reports on treasury and debt 
management operations during the financial year.

1.2 Additionally, under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003, the Council is required to 
have regard to the Prudential Code for Capital Finance including the setting of Prudential 
Indicators.  Relevant treasury management indicators were incorporated into the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2019/20 approved by Council on 1st March 2019. From 2019/20 all 
local authorities were required to produce a Capital Strategy; this report was presented 
and approved by Council on 1 March 2019. 

1.3 This report is submitted in accordance with these requirements and provides a review of 
treasury management for the period ended 30 September 2019 and reviews current 
developments. The following elements are covered by the report:

 A review of debt management operations

 A review of investment operations

 An update on the treasury management Prudential Code Indicators

 An economic update for the first part of the 2019/20 financial year
1.4 The CIPFA Treasury Management Panel promotes the view that Council’s monitor 

performance at least half yearly. In addition to this, a report by the Audit Commission 
entitled ‘Risk and Return’ identifies the need for Local Authorities to report regularly to 
members in addition to the annual review.

2 Treasury Management Update
Debt Management Operations
Borrowing

2.1 No additional borrowing was required during the first half of 2019/20.  All Council 
borrowing is with the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) and the average rate of interest 
paid on the debt portfolio was 2.78%.  Appendix A shows loans outstanding as at 30 
September 2019.  Regular reviews are undertaken to consider redemption costs of natural 
maturity against new borrowing to settle the outstanding debt early. 

2.2 At 30 September 2019, the council had short term borrowing, which is defined as 
borrowing due to be repaid within 365 days, of £3.222m.  This will be repaid in instalments 
of £1.611m on 28 March 2020 and 28 September 2020.  The average annual rate of 
interest on these loan repayments is 3.03%.  The Council has a loan of £25m which is 
maturing in March 2020.  This loan was taken out at the time of the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) self- financing.  Given the focus of the reserves to fund the HRA house 
building programme it will be necessary for the Council to refinance this loan at the 
appropriate time.

Investment Operations
2.3 The average size of the investment portfolio for the 6-month period was £65.505m 

compared to an average portfolio size of £78.178m during the same period in 2018/19. 

94



The reduction in the portfolio is due to the use of reserves for capital investment instead of 
additional external borrowing. These cash balances include balance sheet reserves and 
provisions, unapplied capital receipts and grants, plus cash arising due to the timing of 
large receipts and payments. Investment Activity in the period ended 30 September 2019.

2.4 The Council operates a diverse portfolio and uses a number of methods to invest its 
reserves which include direct deposit, certificate of deposits, notice accounts and money 
market funds.  As at 30 September 2019 the Council held short term investments of 
£62.023m (specified investments), and no long-term investments (non-specified 
investments). As at 30 September the Weighted Average Rate of Return was 0.96% 
compared with that of the Link Investment Benchmarking Analysis group which was 0.92% 
The Treasury Management Strategy stipulates that the Council should not ordinarily hold 
more than 35% of investments as non-specified investments and this was adhered to 
during the first half of 2019/20.  A schedule of investments at 30 September 2019 can be 
found at Appendix B. 

2.5 Short Term Fixed Deposits – In the period ended 30 September 2019, £57m of short-term 
fixed deposits were placed; £47.2m of investments matured within this same period. 

2.6 Long Term Fixed Deposits – In the period ended 30 September 2019, £2m of long-term 
fixed rate building society deposits were placed; with £7m maturing within this same 
period.  

Treasury Management Prudential Code Indicators
2.7 Prudential Code indicators specific to treasury management are designed to ensure that 

treasury management is carried out in accordance with professional practice.  Indicators 
for 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 were approved by Council on 1 March 2019 as part of 
the Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20.

2.8 The 2019/20 indicators and actual figures for the 6 months to 30 September 2019 are set 
out at Appendix C.  All investment activity has been maintained within the indicator limits.

Economic Update from Link (the Council’s Treasury Advisors)
2.9 The first half of 2019/20 has seen UK economic growth fall due to the uncertainty 

surrounding Brexit. In its Inflation Report of 1 August, the Bank of England were not 
optimistic   about the outlook for both the UK and major world economies. The MPC 
meeting on 19 September reemphasised their concern about the downturn in world growth 
and also expressed concern that prolonged Brexit uncertainty could impact on the  UK 
economy, especially in the context of a downturn in world growth. This is also reflected in 
investor concerns around the world who are now expecting a significant downturn or 
possibly even a recession in some major developed economies.

2.10 The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) left the Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% 
throughout 2019, so far, and no changes are anticipated until there is some clarity 
regarding Brexit. 

2.11 In October, the PWLB increased borrowing rates by 100bps (one percent). The reasoning 
behind this was to bring rates back to the levels that were available in 2018 as the cost of 
borrowing had fallen to record lows. The Government will monitor the impact of this 
change and keep rates policy under review.  This will have no short term impact on the 
council as there are no immediate borrowing requirements.

95



3 Amendments to the Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20
3.1 There are no mid-year policy changes recommended; the details in this report update the 

position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes already 
approved.

4 Other Options Considered
4.1 None

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 Committee Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the authority.

6 Financial Implications 
6.1 The financial implications are included throughout this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

7 Legal and Governance Implications 
7.1 This report provides details of the Councils performance in respect of Treasury 

Management against policy set out as part of the Budget and Policy Framework.  
Members should note the performance, and scrutinise any elements to assist the role of 
the Governance and Audit Committee in its review of the Treasury Management Strategy.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal

8 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
8.1 Not applicable

9 Risk and Mitigation
9.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are included in 

the table below:

Category Risk Action/Controls

Financial Risk The treasury strategy has been complied in 
conjunction with the Council’s treasury 
advisors and is monitored by the 
Committee on a regular basis.

10 Community Safety Implications 
10.1 Not applicable

11 Other Implications (where significant) 
11.1 Not applicable

12 Background Papers
12.1 Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20:

http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s22392/Appendix%20G%20TM%20Strategy%2020
19-20.pdf

13 Appendices

96

http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s22392/Appendix%20G%20TM%20Strategy%202019-20.pdf
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s22392/Appendix%20G%20TM%20Strategy%202019-20.pdf


13.1 Appendix 1 – Debt Maturity Analysis

13.2 Appendix 2 – Investment Maturity Analysis

13.3 Appendix 3 – Treasury Management Prudential Indicators

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Governance and 
Audit Committee

26 July 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  18 December 2019

97



APPENDIX 1

Debt Maturity Analysis - Public Works Loan Board as at 30 September 2019

All current external borrowing is classified under the HRA

Duration Amount    
£’000

Less than one year £28,222
Between one and two years £3,222
Between two and five years £9,665
Between five and ten years £16,109
Between ten and fifteen years £16,109
Over fifteen years £24,162
Total £97,489

98



APPENDIX 2                

Investment Maturity Analysis

Schedule of Cash Funds

As at 30 Sept 2019 
£’000

Interest Rate                   
%

Short Term Investments
Lloyds Bank 12,000 1.10
Santander Bank plc 10,000 0.875
Close Brothers 3,000 1.14
Qatar National Bank 6,000 0.91
HELABA 3,000 1.13
DBS 1,000 0.79
Aberdeen Liquidity Funds MMF 2,818 variable
BNP Paribas MMF 5,000 variable
Federated Cash Plus 5,000 variable
Invesco MMF 205 variable
Sumitomo Mitsui 2,000 0.79
Nottingham Building Society 2,000 0.92
West Bromwich Building Society 2,000 0.92
Principality BS 2,000 1.15
Newcastle BS 2,000 0.92
Cumberland BS 2,000 1.02
Local Authority 2,000 1.35

Total £62,023 (average rate) 
0.941

99



APPENDIX 3

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRUDENTIAL CODE INDICATORS

Treasury Management Indicators – Comparison for 2019/20 to actual position for the 6 months to 
30 September 2019.

External debt indicators

Authorised limit 

This represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited and needs to be set and revised by 
members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short 
term, but is not sustainable.  It is the expected maximum borrowing need with some headroom for 
unexpected movements.  This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003.

Authorised Limit for external debt 2019-20
£000

As at 30 September 
2019 £000

General Fund Debt 48.000 0
HRA Debt 108.765 97.489
Other long term liabilities 0 0
Total 156.765 97.489

Operational boundary

This indicator is based on the probable external debt during the course of the year; it is not a limit 
and actual borrowing could vary around this boundary for short times during the year.  It should act 
as an indicator to ensure the authorised limit is not breached.

Operational Limit for external debt 2019-20
£000

As at 30 
September 2019 

£000
General Fund Debt 30.000 0
HRA 108.765 97.489
Other long term liabilities 0 0
Total 138.765 97.489

100



Governance and Audit 
Committee
18 December 2019

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

        

Review of Financial Regulations
This report sets out the proposed changes to the Council’s Financial Regulations which form part 
of the Constitution.

Report Author

Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance

01476 406208

Alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Claire Morgan, Senior Accountant 3 December 2019

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance 5 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 9 December 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Governance and Audit Committee is asked to recommend to Council the updated 
Financial Regulations shown at Appendix A. 

101

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
The Council’s Financial Regulations set out the overarching framework of rules for the
proper financial administration of the authority and the responsibilities of those carrying
out duties with a financial implication. The Financial Regulations have been reviewed
by Governance and Audit Committee to ensure they are in line with best practice and
the latest CIPFA guidance.

2 Financial Regulations Review
The Financial Regulations were last reviewed in 2016 have been reviewed and updated in 
line with the CIPFA Good Practice Guide and are attached as Appendix A. An integral part 
of this review has been to benchmark our regulations with other district councils and an 
internal survey of key users of the regulations has also been undertaken. Taking this 
information into account, the current Financial Regulations have been updated and some 
minor amendments required.

3 Proposed Changes
The proposed changes to the Financial Regulations are outlined below;

 New sections to include partnerships, procurement cards, grants and external funding

  Amendments to reflect the current management structure of the Council

 A review of the authorisation limits for officers of the Council

 A review of the budget virement (transfer of budget) limits for officers and members of 
the Council

 An updated layout of the regulations to ensure they are clear and easy to understand 
for users

 Introduction of in-year budget framework amendments including financial thresholds for 
both Cabinet and Council

Due to the format and layout of the proposed Financial Regulations being different to the 
current Regulations, it is not possible to provide a side by side comparison but the 
summary above provides a listing of the changes. 

4 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
4.1  Governance and Audit Committee is asked to review the proposed Financial Regulations

5 Available Options Considered
5.1 None considered

6 Preferred Option
6.1 This is set out in the report.

7 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
7.1 It is recommended good practice to review the Regulations on a timely basis in order to 

ensure they provide the appropriate financial framework for the Council to operate within.

8 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision

102



8.1 The Financial Regulations are an integral element of the Council’s Constitution.

9 Financial Implications 
9.1 These are considered as necessary in the draft Financial Regulations.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

10 Legal and Governance Implications 
10.1 The Financial Regulations, if approved, will be incorporated into the Council’s Constitution.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Head of Legal Services

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
11.1 N/a

12 Risk and Mitigation
12.1 N/a

13 Community Safety Implications 
13.1 N/a

14 Other Implications (where significant) 
14.1 N/a

15 Background Papers
15.1 N/a

16 Appendices
16.1 Appendix A – Revised Financial Regulations

16.2 Current Financial Regulations 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23381/Financial%20Procedure%20R
ules.pdf

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

N/a

Previously Considered by: Governance and 
Audit Committee

N/a

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  N/a

103

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23381/Financial%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23381/Financial%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

1

Financial Regulations

Table of Contents
Introduction.....................................................................................................................................2
1. The Medium Term Financial Strategy......................................................................................2
2. Revenue Budget Plan...............................................................................................................3
3. Capital Programme ..................................................................................................................4
4. Budget Guidance and the Budget Timetable...........................................................................6
5. Budget Control and Monitoring...............................................................................................7
6. Scheme of Virement ................................................................................................................9
7. Accounting Policies ................................................................................................................10
8. Accounting Records and Returns...........................................................................................12
9. Annual Statement of Accounts ..............................................................................................14
10. Maintenance of Reserves ......................................................................................................15
11. Internal Controls ....................................................................................................................16
12. Risk Management ..................................................................................................................17
13. Insurance ...............................................................................................................................20
14. Treasury Management ..........................................................................................................21
15. Internal Audit.........................................................................................................................24
16. External Audit ........................................................................................................................25
17. Preventing and Detecting Fraud and Corruption (including Bribery) ....................................26
18. Anti-Money Laundering.........................................................................................................28
19. Gifts, Hospitality and Register of Interests ............................................................................29
20. Asset Management................................................................................................................30
21. Intellectual Property ..............................................................................................................33
22. Staffing...................................................................................................................................34
23. Financial Systems...................................................................................................................35
24. Income Collection and Management.....................................................................................37
25. Ordering and Payment of Works, Goods and Services ..........................................................40
26. Grant Payments .....................................................................................................................43
27. Purchase Cards ......................................................................................................................44
28. Payments to Employees and Members .................................................................................45
29. Taxation .................................................................................................................................47
30. Document Retention .............................................................................................................49
31. Partnerships (including Joint Ventures and Companies) .......................................................50
32. External Funding ....................................................................................................................51
33. Work for External Parties ......................................................................................................53
APPENDIX A – AUTHORISED LIMITS...............................................................................................55
APPENDIX B – RECOMMENDED PERIODS FOR THE RETENTION OF RECORDS ..............................59

105

Appendix 1



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

2

Introduction

Financial Regulations provide the internal framework for managing the Council’s financial 
affairs. They apply to every Member and officer of South Kesteven District Council and 
anyone in the public or private sector who acts on behalf of the Authority.
 
Throughout these Financial Regulations, the title Chief Finance Officer will be used to 
denote the designated Section 151 Officer of the Council. The responsibilities of the Chief 
Finance Officer are documented within each of the specific areas listed. 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the 
Financial Regulations and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the Council 
for approval. 

It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that all officers in their directorates are aware 
of the existence and content of the Council’s Financial Regulations, as well as other 
internal regulatory documents, and also confirm that they comply with them. 

It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer to provide advice and guidance to 
reinforce the Financial Regulations that Members, officers and others acting on behalf of 
the Council are required to follow.

1. The Medium Term Financial Strategy 

What is the Medium Term Financial Strategy? 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy is the plan which sets out the Authority’s 
commitment to provide services that meet the needs of people locally and that represent 
good value for money. It sets out what we aim to do over the next three years, having 
listened to the views of our communities and considers funds available to the Council.  

Why is the Medium Term Financial Strategy important? 

The Strategy helps us to meet our statutory responsibilities in respect of financial planning 
and is critical to ensuring that the Council has a clear understanding of the level of 
available resources, the costs of delivering existing services and plans for new services. 
Financial planning facilitates strategic choices around service delivery, efficiency and 
service reductions. 

The Strategy is approved by Full Council and includes information on the spending plans 
of all services and the intended level of Council tax. 

Key Controls 
 The strategy is reviewed every three years in line with the processes for reviewing 
and updating the Council’s Corporate Strategy but updated annually to make sure it 
reflects: 

- the most recent estimate of resources available  
- the budget requirement – which may change as a result of updating estimated resources 

106



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

3

- updated operational plans for each Council Service 
- any changes in the national Local Government Funding  
 

2. Revenue Budget Plan 

What is the Budget Plan? 
The Council’s budget plan is a three-year income and expenditure plan. It details all known 
expected expenditure and income from the delivering of Council Services and compares 
these requirements to the funding available. The budget plan focuses on the priorities set 
by Council. 

Why is the Budget Plan important? 
The budget plan helps us to meet our statutory responsibilities for financial planning. All 
local authorities are required to prepare a budget annually which is then approved by Full 
Council. This is supported by a statement by the Chief Finance Officer regarding the 
robustness of the budget as proposed and the adequacy of general balances and 
reserves. 

The plan also helps us ensure, at a more detailed level, that resources are allocated 
towards the delivery of council priorities. The process of developing the budget helps us 
to assess and balance any gaps between what we estimate it will cost us to deliver plans, 
and the money available to do this. 

Key Controls 
Budget planning begins in July of the preceding financial year and the following year’s 
budget proposals together with an indicative two-year budget is presented to Members in 
February/March at full Council. 

Detailed estimates of costs and income are developed for each service.

There may be additional in-year changes agreed in line with the approved levels, if so, 
both these costs and any ongoing costs will need to be built into the ongoing budget plan.

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To develop the budget plan on an annual basis and to ensure a balanced budget is 
approved. 

 To present the budget to Members for approval in February/March prior to the start of 
each financial year. 

 To undertake the budget plan in accordance with accounting/statutory guidance. 

 To ensure the impact of any additions to budgets in-year are understood and the 
impact of this change on the overall financial position of the Council

 To ensure any additions to budgets in-year are built into future budget planning 
processes.

107



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

4

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To provide information that may be requested in relation to the budget plan. 

 To support the budget setting process. 

 To produce an accurate business case to form part of any request for additional in-
year increases to budgets (see Appendix A)

3. Capital Programme 

What is the Capital Programme? 
The Capital Programme is the budgeted plan of the capital schemes that the Authority is 
undertaking or planning to undertake.  The development of the Capital Programme is in 
accordance with the Council’s Capital Strategy.
Each year, Directors consider Capital schemes to be included in the Capital Programme, 
which are then scrutinised through an approval process before being included in the 
Capital Programme for consideration by Cabinet and ultimately Council. 

Why is the Capital Programme important? 
Capital assets shape the way services are delivered in the long term and create financial 
commitments for the future in the form of financing costs and revenue running costs. It is 
important that the ‘Whole Life Cost’ of any capital schemes are considered before approval 
is given, to ensure adequate funding has been identified. This is an integral part of the 
budget setting process. 

The Government places strict controls on the financing capacity of the Authority. This 
means that capital expenditure should form part of an investment strategy and should be 
carefully prioritised in order to maximise the benefit of scarce resources. 

Having a structured approach which reviews all capital scheme proposals helps ensure 
that the Capital Programme links into the Council’s priorities. 

The Capital Programme ensures the Authority takes a structured approach to the 
management of its assets.

There may be additional in-year changes agreed in line with the agreed levels, if so, both 
these costs and any ongoing costs will need to be built into the ongoing budget plan.

Key Controls 
 All schemes included in the Capital Programme require a business case completing 
which would cover: 

- project overview; 
- objectives and critical success factors; 
- capital expenditure; 
- associated revenue expenditure to be completed; 
- the source of funding to be identified. 

108



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

5

 These are subject to a rigorous review process, culminating in approval by full 
Council. 

 Where appropriate, schedules of individual projects, within large schemes approved 
by the full Council must be submitted to Cabinet for approval. 

 The capital schemes are developed from asset management plans or invest to save 
schemes. 

 Accountability for each proposal is accepted by a named manager. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To develop the capital programme on an annual basis for approval. 

 To present the budget to Council for approval prior to the start of each financial year. 

 To identify the funding sources of the proposed Capital Programme ensuring any 
revenue consequences are taken account of in the overall budget setting process. 

 To determine the definition of ‘capital’ having regard to government regulations and 
accounting requirements. 

 To ensure the impact of any additions to budgets in-year are understood and the 
impact of this change on the overall financial position of the Council.

 To ensure any additions to budgets in-year are built into future budget planning 
processes.

Responsibilities of Directors 
 Where a capital scheme is required to be included in or added to the Capital 
Programme, the responsible officer shall submit a capital business case for the scheme, 
including possible alternatives with up-to-date estimates of capital and revenue costs; 

 To comply with guidance concerning capital schemes and controls. 

 To ensure that adequate records are maintained for all capital contracts. 

 Ensure that no capital expenditure is incurred on any scheme unless: 

- it is within the approved budget for that scheme 
- the nature of the spend is in line with the original purpose approved for the scheme 
- government approval to the scheme has, where appropriate, been obtained 
- the source of funding has been identified 
- any revenue consequential expenditure which arises from the proposed capital 
expenditure has been accepted as a commitment by the Council 

 Ensuring that the appropriate approval is obtained to incur additional capital 
expenditure which is to be financed wholly by additional grants or other income (see 
Appendix A).

109



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

6

 To produce an accurate business case to form part of any request for additional in-
year increases to budgets (see Appendix A)

4. Budget Guidance and the Budget Timetable 

What is Budget Guidance and the Budget Timetable? 

Budget Guidance sets out what we need to do in order to prepare the Council’s annual 
budget. The Budget Timetable outlines the timeframe against activities which will take 
place, including the key deadlines we ask all involved in budget preparation to follow. 

Why is Budget Guidance and the Budget Timetable important? 
The guidance ensures that budgets are produced accurately and consistently in line with 
financial procedures. It also ensures that the level of detail and what is included meets 
legal requirements. 
The timetable ensures that the budgets are produced and approved by Council within the 
dates set out in legislation. 

Key Controls 
 The budget guidance and timetable are produced on an annual basis 

 The guidance and timetable will focus on the following: 
- The full year effect of previous year’s decisions 
- Consequences of the approved capital programme 
- Adjustments in relation to specific ‘one year only’ allocations and other time expired 
funding 
- Other specific Council decisions 
- Budget assumptions on: 
 Levels of pay and the price inflation which is to be applied 
 Council Tax increase 
 Funding allocations from Central Government 
 Superannuation contribution rates 
 Levels of Discretionary fees and charges 
 Levels of Levies 

 Ensuring approval of budget by full Council 

 Ensuring Council Tax is set by statutory dates 

 The format complies with legal requirements and reflects the accountabilities of 
Service Delivery 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To determine the format of the budget that is approved by the Council 

 To set a balanced budget in order to meet the Section 151 Officers responsibilities 

110



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

7

 To produce and distribute the guidance and timetable on an annual basis to officers 
and Members 
 
 To present the timetable to Members for approval prior to the start of the process 

 To ensure returns are made to central government in line with their requirements 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with the accounting guidelines and timetable provided. 
 

5. Budget Control and Monitoring 

What is Budget Monitoring and Control? 
A budget is the planned income and expenditure for a service area or cost centre. 
Budgetary control and monitoring is the process used by budget managers, supported by 
officers within Financial Services, to review revenue and capital expenditure against their 
budgets, and project estimated spending to the end of the financial year. Accountability is 
achieved through formal reporting of the budget position, carried out at agreed times, and 
in line with the risk ratings referred to as RAG (red, amber, green) ratings. 

Why is Budget Monitoring and Control important? 
Budget monitoring ensures that once the budget has been approved by the Council, 
resources allocated are used for their intended purposes and are properly accounted for. 
Budgetary control is the process of monitoring financial activity against the financial plan 
and, where necessary, taking the appropriate action in a timely manner to address any 
movement from the plan. 

Budget monitoring and control also provides the mechanism that calls to account 
managers responsible for defined elements of the budget. It is therefore key that effective 
processes for monitoring of budgets are in place and adhered to. 

To assist with the above it is essential that quality information is available to budget 
managers to ensure that sound financial decisions can be made, especially where 
spending may differ from planned expenditure. 

To ensure that the Authority in total does not overspend, each Service is required to 
manage its own expenditure within the budget allocated to it. 

Key Controls 
 Budget managers should be responsible only for income and expenditure that they 
can influence. 

 There is a nominated budget manager for each cost centre heading. 

 Budget managers accept accountability for their budgets, the level of service to be 
delivered and understand their financial responsibilities. 

 Budget managers follow an approved certification process for all expenditure. 

111



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

8

 Income and expenditure are properly recorded and accounted for. 

 Performance levels of service are monitored in conjunction with the budget and 
necessary action is taken to align service outputs and budget. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To establish an appropriate framework of budgetary management and control that 
ensures that: 

- budget management is exercised within annual cash limits unless the Council agrees 
otherwise 
 
- each Director has available timely information on income and expenditure which is 
sufficiently detailed to enable managers to fulfil their budgetary responsibilities 

 To ensure compliance with the agreed virement procedures 

 To prepare and submit reports on the Authority’s projected income and expenditure 
compared to budget on a regular basis and to make recommendations to Members 
regarding changes to the budget 

 To submit reports to Overview & Scrutiny, in consultation with the relevant Director, 
where a Director is unable to balance expenditure and resources within existing approved 
budgets under their control 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To maintain budgetary control within their service, as outlined above and to ensure 
that all income and expenditure is properly recorded and accounted for 

 To ensure that an accountable budget manager is identified for each item of income 
and expenditure under the control of the Director, grouped together in a series of cost 
centres. As a general principle, budget responsibility should be aligned as closely as 
possible to the decision-making that commits expenditure 

 To ensure that budget spending remains within the service’s overall budget, and that 
individual budget heads are not overspent. This may require appropriate corrective action 
to be taken where significant variations from the approved budget are forecast 

 To ensure that a monitoring process is in place to review performance levels of service 
in conjunction with the budget and that it is operating effectively 

 To report and obtain prior approval by Council and Cabinet, where appropriate, before 
incurring expenditure on schemes of whatever amounts, that: 

- create financial commitments in future years above the budget level (except where if this 
is wholly offset by external funding or charges for work carried out on behalf of third parties 
– see sections 33 and 34 respectively)
- change existing policies, initiate new policies or cease existing policies or 
- materially extend or reduce the Authority’s services 

112



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

9

 Emergency expenditure – no proposal should be submitted to Cabinet/Council 
involving expenditure during a financial year where no provision has been made in the 
current budget. Only in the case of either urgency or on a matter in which the Council is 
under a legal obligation, any Council director in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Finance, the Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer, shall have power to agree that 
the expenditure will be met subject to the action being reported to Cabinet (see Appendix 
A for limits)

 To ensure compliance with the scheme of virement 

 To consult with the relevant Director where it appears that a budget proposal, 
including a virement proposal, may impact materially on another service area 
 

6. Scheme of Virement 

What is a Virement? 
A virement is the transfer of budget from one specific area to another. This can either be 
a transfer within revenue budgets or capital budgets but not between revenue and capital. 
There are different limits depending on the reason for the change and whether or not it is 
a one-off transfer or a permanent one. The limits are set out in Appendix A.

Why is the Scheme of Virement important? 
The scheme of Virement is intended to enable the Directors and their officers to manage 
budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall framework determined by the Council, 
and therefore optimise the use of resources. 

The key controls are: 

Revenue and Capital 

a) Virement into a receiving budget may only occur provided that the donating cost centre 
will not subsequently become overspent; 

b) Virements which involve a key decision should be subject to a Cabinet Report and the 
Council’s decision-making process in line with the Council’s Constitution; and 

c) A record of all virements must be kept. 

Revenue 
a) Permanent virements can only be processed if the donating cost centre has permanent 
budget provision to fund the requested virement; 

b) Only in year virements can be agreed for Employee budgets unless the virement is 
linked to a structural change that has received the necessary approvals; and 

c) All virements must be authorised in line with the delegated authority approvals. 

113



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

10

d) Additions to any revenue or capital budget can be made in accordance with the limits 
set out in Appendix A.. 

Capital 
a) Provisional budgets into subsequent projects require Cabinet approval; 

b) Transfers between schemes require Cabinet approval; 

c) Capital Schemes must have a matching expenditure and financing budget; and 

d) Transfers that are contained within a scheme must be authorised in line with the 
delegated authority approvals. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
a) To prepare virement procedures for approval by the Council;

b) To monitor compliance with the agreed virement procedures; and

c) To report approved virements that change an overall budget. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
a) To ensure compliance with the agreed virement procedures; 

b) No virement relating to a specific financial year should be made after 31 March in that 
year; 

c) To ensure that virements are authorised as per the delegated powers approved by 
Council;

d) A virement that is likely to impact on the level of service activity of another Director, 
should be progressed only after agreement with the relevant Director; and

e) To ensure that requests for virements are not split into a series of smaller virements to 
circumvent approval requirements.

7. Accounting Policies 

What are Accounting Policies? 
Accounting policies are the accounting principles, rules and procedures selected and 
consistently followed by the Council, which dictate what and how financial information is 
accounted for and presented in the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts. 
The key accounting policy guidelines adopted by the Council are the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting. These interpret International Financial Reporting 
Standards for local authorities. 

Why are Accounting Policies important? 
They are important as they provide: 
- a clear and open view of the financial affairs of the Council; 

114



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

11

- a level of disclosure which is considered to be relevant, informative and appropriate; 
- a consistent standard in the process of preparation and presentation of financial 
statements; and 
- an ability to compare between local authorities as required. 

Key Controls 
 Systems of internal control are in place to ensure that financial transactions are lawful. 

 Accounting policies are reviewed annually to ensure they comply with the latest 
developments in the CIPFA code of practice. 

 Suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently and approved by 
Governance and Audit Committee. 

 Proper accounting records are maintained and to the required standard. 

 Financial statements are prepared which present fairly the financial position of the 
Authority and its expenditure and income. 

 Inspection of accounts by External Audit. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To select suitable accounting policies and to ensure that they are applied consistently. 

 To ensure the accounting policies are reviewed annually and are set out in the Annual 
Statement of Accounts, which is prepared in line with legislative requirements. 

 To present any amendments to the accounting policies to the Governance and Audit 
Committee. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with the accounting policies and guidelines approved by the Chief Finance 
Officer and to supply the Chief Finance Officer with the information when required. 

 To keep proper accounting records that are in line with accounting policies. 

8. Accounting Records and Returns 

What are Accounting Records and Returns? 
All of the Council’s transactions, commitments, contracts and other essential accounting 
information must be recorded fully, accurately and on a timely basis. Accounting Records 
must also provide an audit trail leading from the source of income or expenditure through 
to the accounting statements. 

The Council’s corporate financial information system is considered the prime source of 
financial information. The Revenue and Capital accounts, balance sheet, and other 
financial records, are held within the General Ledger, and its sub-systems including 
Debtors, Creditors and e-Procurement. 

115



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

12

Together they form the Council’s financial records, from which, along with the Council Tax 
and Business Rates Systems and the Asset register, the financial statements and financial 
returns are produced. 

Why are Accounting Records and Returns important? 
During the financial year, the Council completes financial returns relating to the Council 
either as a whole or for certain individual services. These can be for a variety of reasons 
and to different audiences, including Central Government Departments, Members, 
Auditors and the general public. The information is mainly required by legislation. 
Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the Authority 
discharges its responsibilities for stewardship of public resources. The Authority also has 
to comply with legislation and statute, International Financial Reporting Standards, grant 
conditions and discharge its duties in line with Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 
(HMRC) requirements. 

The Authority has a statutory responsibility to prepare its annual accounts to present fairly 
the results of its operations during the year. These are subject to external audit who 
provide assurance that the accounts are prepared properly, that proper accounting 
practices have been followed and that quality arrangements have been made for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Authority’s resources. The auditors 
do this by examining the accounting records of the Authority. 

Key Controls 
 The key controls for accounting records and returns are: 

- all Directors, Budget Managers and Finance officers operate within the required 
accounting standards and timetables as outlined within the guidance issued; 

- all the Authority’s transactions, material commitments and contracts and other essential 
accounting information are recorded completely, accurately and on a timely basis; 

- procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be reconstructed in the event of 
systems failure; 

- reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions are correctly recorded; 
and 

- prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and other requirements. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To issue instructions considered necessary for carrying out the daily financial work of 
the Council, after consulting with Directors where needed. 

 To determine the accounting procedures and records for the Authority. 

 To arrange for the compilation of all accounts and accounting records under their 
direction. 

 To ensure the proper retention of financial documents in accordance with the 
requirements set out in the Authority’s document retention schedule. 

116



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

13

 To stipulate the date by which all financial records for any financial year shall be 
completed. 

 To prepare and publish the audited Statement of Accounts of the Authority for each 
financial year, in accordance with the statutory timetable and with the requirement for the 
Council to approve the Statement of Accounts before the statutory deadline. 

 To make proper arrangements for the audit of the Authority’s Annual Statement of 
Accounts in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations. 

 To administer the Authority’s arrangements for under and overspendings to be carried 
forward to the following financial year, 

 To comply with the following principles when allocating accounting duties: 

- separating the duties of providing information about sums due to or from the Authority 
and calculating, checking and recording these sums from the duty of collecting or 
disbursing them; and 

- officers with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash transactions must 
not themselves be engaged in these transactions. 

 To ensure that all claims for funds, including grants, are made accurately and by the 
due date. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with the principles outlined above when allocating accounting duties. 

 To ensure that all claims for funds including grants are made by the due date. 

 To maintain adequate records to provide a management trail leading from the source 
of income/expenditure through to the accounting statements. 

 To be responsible for all receipts and claims in relation to salary expenses and 
disbursements made by staff in their service. 

 To supply information required to enable the Statement of Accounts to be completed 
in accordance with the guidelines issued. 

9. Annual Statement of Accounts 
What is the Annual Statement of Accounts? 
The Annual Statement of Accounts is a financial summary of the state of the financial 
affairs of the Council over the course of a year.  The Council is required to follow the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom, supported 
by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Accounts and Audit 
Regulations, as amended from time to time, set out the statutory dates for approval and 
publication of the Annual Statement of Accounts. The Statement of Accounts is made 

117



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

14

available for inspection by interested parties and is subject to external audit to ensure that 
it presents a fair view of the financial position of the Council. 

Why is the Annual Statement of Accounts important? 
By legislation, the Council is required to produce an Annual Statement of Accounts each 
financial year (1 April – 31 March). The Statement of Accounts shows not only a snapshot 
of the financial position as at the 31 March each year, but also provides the reader with 
an understanding on how the Council has performed financially during that financial year. 
After audit, the Statement of Accounts give assurance to key stakeholders that the 
financial affairs of the Council have been conducted properly and appropriately, and that 
they give what is considered to be a ‘true and fair’ view of the financial position of the 
Authority.
 
Key Controls 
The key controls for the Annual Statement of Accounts are: 
 The Authority is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its 
financial affairs and to ensure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the 
administration of these affairs. In this Authority, that officer is the Chief Finance Officer; 

 To manage the Authorities affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources and safeguard its assets; and 

 The Authority’s Statement of Accounts must be prepared in accordance with proper 
practices as set out in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in Great Britain: 
“the code of Practice” (as amended from time to time). 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To comply with the Code of Practice. 

 To comply with statute and regulations. 

 To draw up the timetable and guidance notes for financial accounts preparation and 
to advise staff and external auditors accordingly. 

 To sign and date the Statement of Accounts, stating that it presents fairly the financial 
position of the Authority at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the 
financial year ended 31 March. 

 To ensure that the Statement of Accounts are approved by the Governance and Audit 
Committee.

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with accounting guidance provided by the Chief Finance Officer and to 
supply the Chief Finance Officer with the information when required. 

 To keep proper accounting records that are up to date. 

118



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

15

10. Maintenance of Reserves 

What are Reserves? 
Reserves are amounts set aside to fund specific or unexpected expenditure. There are 
different reserves held by the Authority, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can 
be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and unusable reserves for 
accounting purposes. 

Useable reserves are analysed into those that are earmarked for specific purposes and 
those that are held to ensure that the Council can continue to provide services if an 
unexpected event occurs.  It is the responsibility of Council to review the allocation and 
levels of reserves and may put in place specific delegations with respect to their use during 
any financial year in accordance with the specific policy of the reserve.

Why is Maintenance of Reserves important? 
By legislation (the Local Government Act 2003), the Chief Finance Officer must report to 
Council, immediately prior to setting the Budget and Council Tax, on the robustness of the 
budget as proposed and the adequacy of general balances and earmarked reserves. The 
Council then agrees on the level of reserves it will maintain before it then decides on the 
level of Council Tax. Reserves are maintained as a matter of prudence. They enable the 
Council to provide for unexpected events and thereby protect it from overspending, should 
such events occur. Reserves for specific purposes are also maintained, such as the 
insurance reserve, regeneration reserve and local priorities reserve.

Key Controls 
 Reserves are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure compliance with the Local 
Government Act 2003. 

 To maintain reserves in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom, supported by International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 For each reserve clearly establish its purpose, usage and amount to be set aside. 

 Authorisation to establish and add to a reserve is by the relevant Committee or Council 
following advice from the Cabinet Member for Finance and the Chief Finance Officer. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To advise the Council on prudent levels of balances for the Authority. 

 To establish guidelines on the setting up of reserves and then to advise Directors 
accordingly. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with guidance provided by the Chief Finance Officer and ensure that 
reserves are used only for the purpose for which they were intended. 

 

119



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

16

11. Internal Controls 

What are Internal Controls? 
Internal Controls include the policies, processes, tasks, behaviours and other areas of the 
Council that taken together: 
- enable it to react to significant risks in achieving its objectives. This includes protecting 
anything which is considered valuable to the organisation from misuse or loss and fraud; 
- help ensure the quality of internal and external reporting. This requires the maintenance 
of proper records, and processes which create a flow of timely, relevant and reliable 
information from both within and outside the organisation; and 
- help ensure relevant laws and regulations are followed, as well as internal policies with 
respect to the conducting of the business. 

Why are Internal Controls important? 
The Authority is complex and beyond the direct control of individuals. It requires, therefore, 
internal controls to manage and monitor progress towards strategic objectives.

The Authority has statutory obligations, including those set out within the Local 
Government Act 1972 and Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011, which require 
internal controls to be established to ensure compliance with these obligations.

The Authority faces a wide range of financial, administrative and commercial risks, both 
from internal and external factors, which threaten the achievement of its objectives. 
Internal controls are necessary to manage these risks.

The system of internal controls is established in order to provide measurable achievement 
of: 
- efficient and effective operations; 
- reliable financial information and reporting; 
- compliance with laws and regulations; and 
- risk management. 

Key Controls 
 Key controls should be reviewed on a regular basis and the Authority should make a 
formal statement annually to the effect that the Authority has a sound system of internal 
control which facilitates the effective exercise of the Authority’s functions and which 
includes arrangements for the management of risk. 

 Managerial control systems, including defining policies, setting objectives and plans, 
monitoring financial and other performance, and taking appropriate anticipatory and 
remedial action. The key objective of these systems is to promote ownership of the control 
environment by defining roles and responsibilities. 

 Financial and operational control systems and procedures, which include physical 
safeguards for assets, segregation of duties, authorisation and approval procedures and 
information systems. 

 

120



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

17

 An effective Internal Audit function that is properly resourced. It should operate in 
accordance with the principles contained in the Auditing Practices Board’s auditing 
guidelines Guidance for Internal Auditors, CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Internal Audit in 
Local Government in the United Kingdom and with any other statutory obligations and 
regulations. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To direct and assist the Authority to put into place an appropriate control environment 
and effective internal controls which provide reasonable assurance of effective and 
efficient operations, financial stewardship, probity and compliance with laws and 
regulations. This will ensure compliance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972 which requires every local authority to make arrangements for the proper 
administration of its financial affairs and to ensure that one of the officers (the Chief 
Finance Officer) has responsibility for the administration of those affairs. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To establish and maintain controls as well as processes which ensure such controls 
are being adhered to and evaluated, in order to be confident in the proper use of 
resources, achievement of objectives and management of risks on an ongoing basis. 

 To review existing controls in the light of changes affecting the Authority and to 
establish and implement new ones in line with guidance from the Chief Finance Officer. 

 Ensure that officers have a clear understanding of the consequences of a lack of 
control or not adhering to agreed processes. 

12. Risk Management 

What is Risk Management? 
All organisations, whether private or public sector, face risks to people, property and the 
day-to-day running of the business. Risk is the chance of something going wrong, and the 
possibility of loss, damage, injury or failure to achieve objectives caused by an unwanted 
action or event, which we have no control over. Risk can impact upon all officers within 
the Council as well as the Council’s partners and citizens. 

Risk Management is a planned and methodical way of identifying areas of risk, evaluating 
them and taking a look at how the risks can be controlled. Risk Management looks at the 
measures which an organisation already has in place to deal with identified risks, the 
adequacy of these measures and the actions required to control these risks effectively. 

It is the overall responsibility of the Cabinet to approve the Authority’s Risk Management 
Strategy, and to promote a culture of risk management awareness throughout the 
Authority. 

Why is Risk Management important? 
The challenges that the Authority faces, and the rate of change, puts the organisation 
under increasing pressure to improve the quality of management at all levels. This means 

121



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

18

that the Authority needs to make sure that risk management processes are structured, as 
well as being instinctive and intuitive. If management are to meet these challenges, high 
quality risk management needs to be at the core of decision making at all levels of the 
Council. 

There is an ongoing requirement from the Accounts and Audit Regulations to produce an 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS) which is attached to the Annual Accounts, setting 
out the processes in place for managing the most significant risks to the achievement of 
objectives. Risk management processes are an integral part of the AGS. 

All local authorities are increasingly being held to account by external assessors for the 
way in which risk management has been implemented. The Council needs to continue to 
demonstrate that all Services have a structured approach, which is embedded into 
planning and reporting cycles and decision-making processes at all levels. 

Key Controls 
The key controls for Risk Management are: 
 The Council has adopted a Risk Management Strategy which has been approved by 
Governance and Audit Committee and is regularly updated. 

 The Council maintains and reviews a register of its corporate business risks linking 
them to strategic business objectives and assigns named individuals to lead on the actions 
identified to mitigate each risk. 

 Procedures are in place to identify, assess, prevent or contain material known risks, 
and these procedures are operating effectively throughout the Authority. 

 The Governance and Audit Committee receive reports on a regular basis and take 
appropriate action to ensure that corporate business risks are being identified and 
effectively managed. 

 A monitoring process is in place to review regularly the effectiveness of risk reduction 
strategies and the operation of these controls. 

 Managers know that they are responsible for managing relevant risks and are 
provided with relevant information on risk management initiatives. 

 A Risk Register IT system is provided to assist Directors to manage their risks. 

 A Risk Management Group meets regularly to co-ordinate and supports all aspects of 
strategic business risk management. 

 Committee reports to support strategic policy decisions must include reference to the 
risks associated along with the decisions being taken, in both a positive and negative 
scenario (i.e. the risks of taking the decision as recommended and the risks of doing 
nothing). 

 Documents for all major projects include a risk assessment which must be completed. 

122



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

19

 The risk management process specifically considers risks in relation to significant 
partnerships and provides for assurances to be obtained concerning the management of 
those risks. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To prepare and promote the Authority’s Risk Management Strategy. 

 To develop risk management controls in conjunction with other Directors. 

 To report to Members of the Governance and Audit Committee on the effectiveness 
of the risk management process and any changes to it in the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To take responsibility for risk management, having regard to advice from the Chief 
Finance Officer and other specialist officers. 

 The Risk Management Strategy requires Directors to: 

- Identify corporate and operational risks; 
- Maintain a risk register; 
- Assess the risks for likelihood and impact; 
- Prioritise risks; 
- Identify mitigating controls; and 
- Allocate responsibility for the mitigating controls. 

 To ensure that there are regular reviews of all risks within Services. 

 To appoint a Service based Risk Champion to report to and work with the Risk 
Management Group in promoting, co-ordinating and developing risk management 
initiatives. 

 Ensure risk management is a key area of consideration when preparing annual 
Service Plans. 

 Complete an annual Risk Management Self-Assessment and report the outcome to 
the Risk Management Group. 

 

13. Insurance 

What is Insurance? 
Insurance for the Council is, in many ways, similar to the insurance that private individuals 
take out to protect items that they either: 
- cannot replace easily; or 
- are required to insure as a condition of purchase, i.e. a house purchased via a mortgage 
etc. 

123



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

20

The decision to insure an item or not is based on: 
- its replacement cost; 
- the likelihood of it needing to be replaced; and
- the cost of the insurance.

The Council has to go through a similar process for the various risks it faces, e.g. the 
security of physical assets or the work carried out by its officers. Where the Council 
believes it is not able to manage risks internally, it will take out insurance in the same way 
a private individual would, e.g. the Council insures its buildings, its officers (employee 
liability), and cover for members of the public when using Council facilities (public liability) 
etc. 

Why is Insurance important? 
Insurance is a major area within risk management, enabling risks from unfortunate events 
to have less of a negative effect due to taking out cover policies. However, insurance is 
not without a cost, and risk prevention is always preferable to paying higher premiums, 
where this is possible. 

Key Controls 
 Adequate insurance is in place to cover assets of the organisation. 

 Policies are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that they continue to provide 
adequate cover for the Authority in line with current risk management strategies and to 
confirm exclusion clauses are being complied with. 

 Procedures are in place to investigate claims within required timescales. 

 Acceptable levels of risk are determined and insured against where appropriate. 

 The Council has an Insurance Strategy which provides details of the Council’s 
insurance cover and procedures for claims. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that the Authority has the appropriate insurance cover in place. 

 To include all appropriate officers of the Authority in a suitable fidelity guarantee 
insurance. 

 To arrange all insurance cover through external insurance and internal funding and 
negotiate any claims in consultation with appropriate Directors and outside claims 
agencies. 
 
 To inform Directors of any conditions affecting insured risks. 

 To review all insurances in consultation with appropriate Directors either annually or 
when necessary. 

 To administer any self-funding arrangement set up to run alongside or replace 
conventional externally provided insurance. 

124



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

21

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that all officers are aware of their responsibilities with regard to the use of 
insurance policies. 

 To identify and report to the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer any 
amendments which could be required for the insurance of the Authority. 

 To notify the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer immediately of any loss, 
liability or damage that may lead to a claim against the Authority, together with any 
information or explanation required by the Chief Finance Officer or the Authority’s insurers. 

 To ensure that any conditions affecting insured risks are met and that their actions do 
not invalidate any claims. 

 To notify the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer promptly of all new risks, 
properties or vehicles that require insurance and any alterations affecting existing 
insurances. 

 To inform the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer of the terms of any 
indemnity that the Authority is requested to give. 

 Do not admit liability or make any offer to pay compensation that may prejudice the 
assessment of liability in respect of any insurance claim. 

14. Treasury Management 

What is Treasury Management? 
CIPFA defines Treasury Management as: 
“The management of the Council’s investments, borrowing and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash 
raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the Treasury Management 
operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available 
when it is needed. Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering investment return. 

The second main function of the Treasury Management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the 
Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet 
its capital spending obligations. This management of longer term cash may involve 
arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses. Any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

On an annual basis the Council approves a Treasury Management Strategy that is 
compiled to meet CIPFA requirements with respect to Treasury Management.  During the 

125



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

22

course of each financial year, Governance and Audit Committee receive monitoring and 
outturn reports in order to ensure compliance with the Strategy.

Why is Treasury Management Important? 

It is critical that financial resources are properly managed in a way that balances risk with 
return whilst ensuring the Council can meet its financial obligations. The scale of 
borrowing, the inter-relationship between capital and revenue cash management and the 
fact that the Council may have surplus funds for investment require the development of 
sound borrowing and investment strategies that encompass all of these activities in a safe, 
efficient and consistent manner. 

The main objectives of the Treasury Management function are: 
- To effectively manage and control risks; 
- To ensure that sufficient cash is available to enable the Council to discharge its financial 
obligations when they become due; 
- To undertake all borrowing at or below budgeted rates on the basis of best value, and 
also seek opportunities to reduce the cost of servicing existing debt; 
- To plan cash flows and minimise the cost of any temporary borrowing (which is required 
for day to day cash flow reasons); 
- To invest prudently having regard to the security and liquidity of Investments and the 
predictability of returns; and 
- To aim to achieve the optimum return on investments commensurate with the proper 
levels of security and liquidity. 
 
Key Controls 
The Council has adopted the recommendations of CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management and the Prudential Code. The Council has developed its own Treasury 
Management Strategy in accordance with these documents. The Strategy outlines the 
Council’s:

 Key Treasury Management Principles; 

 Scheme of Delegation and Reporting Requirements; 

 Key Prudential Indicators – covering financing requirements, borrowing limits, debt 
maturity / type, cost of borrowing and investment income; and 

 Policy for both borrowing and investments. 

Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer 
 To prepare the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement in accordance 
with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Local Authorities for 
approval by Cabinet and Full Council at the Annual Budget Meeting. 

 To arrange for all Council borrowing and investment in such a manner as to comply 
with this Strategy. 

126



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

23

 To borrow on behalf of the Council under powers contained in the Local Government 
Act 1972 and subsequent legislation in accordance with the agreed proactive borrowing 
strategy. 

 To arrange for the investment or utilisation for the Council’s own purposes of surplus 
funds in accordance with agreed creditworthiness criteria. 

 To ensure that all investments of money are made in the name of the Council or in 
the name of nominees approved by Cabinet. 

 To ensure that all securities that are the property of the Council or its nominees and 
the title deeds of all property in the Council’s ownership are held in the custody of the 
appropriate officer. 

 To undertake all borrowings in the name of the Council. 

 To act as the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages, and to maintain 
records of all borrowing of money by the Council. 

 To ensure that there is adequate monitoring of Treasury Management activities, 
involving both Members and senior Finance officers. 

 To report to Governance and Audit Committee at regular intervals on Treasury 
Management activities 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that loans are not made to third parties and that interests are not acquired 
in companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without the approval of the Council 
following consultation with the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
 To inform officers with responsibility for Treasury Management of significant 
movements and changes in the Council’s anticipated cash flows. 

15. Internal Audit 

What is Internal Audit? 
Internal Audit is an assurance function that provides an independent and objective opinion 
to the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in achieving 
the organisation’s objectives. It objectively examines, evaluates and reports on the 
adequacy of the control environment as a contribution to the proper, economic, efficient 
and effective use of resources. 

The Council is required to have an Internal Audit function in order to comply with section 
6 of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 which requires the Authority to 
“undertake an adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records and of its 
system of internal control in accordance with the proper practices in relation to internal 
control”. Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 also requires every local authority 
to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs. 

127



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

24

All Internal Audit reviews are reported to and discussed by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and the Governance and Audit Committee, the latter being the Committee 
charged with overall responsibility for governance within the Council. 

Why is Internal Audit important? 
Internal Audit is a key element of the overall governance structure of the Authority which 
is designed to ensure that appropriate controls are in place throughout the organisation. 
Through the provision of a high quality independent appraisal of all of the activities of the 
Council, Internal Audit aims to improve operational efficiency, risk management and 
internal control systems, and also provide reliable and effective support to management 
to ensure that their objectives are achieved. 

Key Controls 
The key controls for Internal Audit are: 
a) that it is independent in its planning and operation and determines its own priorities in 
providing unrestricted coverage of the Council’s operations; 

b) The Head of Internal Audit has direct access to the Chief Executive and all levels of 
management and Members; and 

c) The internal auditors comply with CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local 
Government in the United Kingdom. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that internal auditors have the authority to: 

a) Access premises when required; 
b) Access all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control systems; 
c) Require and receive information and explanation considered necessary concerning any 
matter under consideration; 
d) Require any employee of the Authority to account for cash, stores and any other 
Authority asset under the employee’s control; 
e) Access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when required; 
f) Directly access the Chief Executive. 

 To approve the strategic and annual audit plans prepared by the Head of Internal 
Audit, which take account of the current risk profile of all activities undertaken by the 
Authority. 

 To ensure that effective procedures are in place to investigate promptly any fraud or 
irregularity. 

 When initial evidence suggests that a criminal offence has been committed, to consult 
with the appropriate Director about involving the Police, in accordance with the Council’s 
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that Internal Audit are provided with any documents, information and 
explanations they require during the course of their work; 

128



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

25

 To consider and respond to recommendations in audit reports within one month; 

 Any agreed actions arising from audit recommendations are carried out as per the 
agreed timetable; 

 New systems for maintaining financial records, records of assets, or changes to such 
systems, are discussed with, and agreed by, the Head of Internal Audit before 
implementation; and 

 To notify the Head of Internal Audit immediately of any suspected fraud, theft, 
irregularity, improper use or misappropriation of the Authority’s property or resources. 

16. External Audit 

What is External Audit? 
External Audit provides an important contribution to the stewardship of public resources 
and corporate governance of public services by: 
a) Giving an independent opinion on whether the public bodies financial statements fairly 
present its financial position and its expenditure and income for the year in question; and 

b) Reviewing and reporting on aspects of the arrangements which are put in place by 
public bodies to ensure the proper conduct of their financial affairs, and for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

The basic duties of the external auditor are defined by the Audit Commission Act 1998 
and the Local Government Act 1999. 

Why is External Audit important? 
Independent external audit is a key process of evaluation of governance processes which 
seek to protect the management of public money. It is, however, the responsibility of 
management to put arrangements in place to ensure proper governance, and to regularly 
review the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 

The Authority’s financial statements are scrutinised by external auditors, who must be 
satisfied that the statement of accounts ‘presents fairly’ the financial position of the 
Authority and its income and expenditure for the year in question and complies with all 
relevant legal requirements. 

Key Controls 
 External auditors must follow the Code of Audit Practice for Local Government when 
carrying out their audits. 

 External auditors are regulated by the Financial Reporting Council. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 

129



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

26

 To ensure that external auditors are given access at all reasonable times to premises, 
personnel, documents and assets that the external auditors consider necessary for the 
purposes of their work. 

 To ensure there is effective liaison between external and Internal Audit. 

 To work with the external auditor and advise the Council, Cabinet and Officers on their 
responsibilities in relation to external audit. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that external auditors are given access at all reasonable times to premises, 
personnel, documents and assets that the external auditors consider necessary for the 
purposes of their work. 

 To ensure that all records and systems are up to date and available for inspection. 

17. Preventing and detecting Fraud and Corruption (including 
Bribery) 

What is Fraud and Corruption? 
The Fraud Act 2006 defines three separate ways of committing fraud: 
• Fraud by false representation; 
• Fraud by failing to disclose information; and 
• Fraud by abuse of position. 

“Dishonesty” and “intent to make gain or cause loss” are core themes involved in the 
committing of fraud. 

Corruption is ‘the offering, giving, soliciting, or acceptance of an inducement or reward, or 
showing any favour or disfavour which may influence any person to act improperly.’ It is 
an offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 – 1916, as amended, and 
Section 117(3) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Bribery can be described as giving someone a financial inducement or other form of 
advantage to encourage that person to perform their functions or activities improperly, or 
to reward that person for having already done so, in order to gain a personal, commercial, 
regulatory or contractual advantage. 

Why is Fraud and Corruption important? 
There is an expectation and requirement that all Members, officers, consultants, 
contractors, and service users be fair, honest and act with the utmost of integrity at all 
times. 

The Council is resolute that the culture and tone of the Authority is one of honesty and 
opposition to fraud and corruption. 

There is an expectation and requirement that all individuals, businesses and organisations 
dealing in any way with the Council will act with high standards of probity, openness and 

130



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

27

integrity and that Council officers or its agent(s) at all levels will lead by example in these 
matters. 

The Council's Codes of Conduct for Members and officers set out an approach to work 
that is honest, fair, accountable and, as far as possible, transparent. Members and officers 
must act in line with the codes at all times. 

Key Controls 
 The Authority should maintain an effective Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and a 
culture of zero tolerance to fraud and corruption. 

 All Members and officers should act with integrity and lead by example. 

 Officers should raise any concerns that they may have about fraud and corruption 
preferably with their line manager or another senior manager identified in the Anti-Fraud 
and Corruption Strategy. 

 Any information reported by officers will be dealt with fairly and confidentially. 

 Senior managers are required to deal swiftly and firmly with those who defraud or 
attempt to defraud the Authority or who are corrupt. 
 
 High standards of conduct should be promoted amongst Members. 

 The maintenance of a register of interests to record gifts and hospitality received in 
accordance with the officers’ and Members’ Codes of Conduct. 

 Whistle blowing procedures should be in place and operating effectively. 

 All relevant legislation should be complied with including the Fraud Act 2006, the 
Bribery Act 2010 and the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998. 

 The Authority should maintain an adequate internal control framework. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To develop and maintain an effective Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy. 

 To develop and maintain an effective Anti-Bribery Policy 

 To maintain adequate and effective internal control arrangements 

 To ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the Head of Internal Audit 
without delay. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the Head of Internal Audit 
without delay. 

131



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

28

 To instigate the Authority’s disciplinary procedures where the outcome of an 
investigation into suspected fraud or corruption indicates that improper behaviour has 
taken place. 

 To ensure that where financial impropriety is discovered, the Chief Finance Officer is 
informed. 

 To take advice and support from relevant parts of the Council e.g. Internal Audit, HR 
before referring matters to the Police for cases where it is apparent that a criminal offence 
may have been committed. 

 

18. Anti-Money Laundering 

What is Money Laundering? 
Money laundering means: 
- Concealing disguising, converting or transferring criminal property or removing it from 
the UK; 
- Entering into, or becoming concerned in, an arrangement which you know or suspect 
facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by or on behalf of 
another person; 
- Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property; and 
- Becoming concerned in an arrangement facilitating concealment, removal from the 
jurisdiction, transfer of nominees, or any other retention or control of terrorist property. 

These are the primary money laundering offences and prohibited acts under the 
legislation. 

Why is Money Laundering important? 
Although the risk to the Council of contravening the legislation is low, it is extremely 
important that all officers and Members are familiar with the legislation and their legal 
responsibility as serious criminal sanctions may be imposed for breaches of the legislation. 
Potentially any officers could be caught by the money laundering provisions if they suspect 
money laundering and either become involved with it in some way or do nothing about it. 

The Anti-Money Laundering Policy applies to all employees of the Council and aims to 
maintain the high standards of conduct which currently exist within the Council by 
preventing criminal activity through money laundering. The Policy sets out the procedures 
which must be followed to enable the Council to comply with its legal obligations. 

Key Controls 
 A Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) is appointed to receive disclosures 
from officers concerning money laundering activity. 

 Implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering. 

 Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances. 

132



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

29

 Maintain record keeping procedures. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 Appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) who is to receive disclosures 
from officers concerning money laundering activity. 

 Implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering. 

 Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances. 

 Maintain record-keeping procedures. 

 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 Be aware of their roles and responsibilities in respect of Anti Money Laundering. 

 Ensure they and officers within their service are aware of who is the MLRO. 

19. Gifts, Hospitality and Register of Interests 

What are gifts, hospitality and a register of Interests? 
During day to day work, there may be times when officers or Members are offered gifts 
and/or hospitality; for example, a meal, a ‘thank you’ gift or a trip to a sporting event. 

A register of interests means that arrangements are in place for officers and Members to 
declare any interests that they have which may be seen to cause a conflict during the 
course of their work, or when making decisions in Committee meetings. For example: 
- an officer or Member being related to a Director of a company that the Council trades or 
deals with; or 
- a committee where a Member serves is being asked to make a decision that would affect 
the Member, either personally or in relation to a project he/she is supporting. 

Why are the receipt of Gifts and Hospitality and the Register of Interests important? 
In order to safeguard officers and Members in terms of independence (and therefore that 
of the Council) it is necessary for clear rules to be in place and adhered to. 
In relation to Register of Interest, there is the possibility of criminal liability in relation to 
corrupt practises by officers and Members. Under the Public Bodies Corrupt Practises Act 
1889 it is an offence: 
‘corruptly to solicit or receive for himself or for any other person any gift, loan, fee, reward 
or advantage whatever as an inducement to, or reward for, or otherwise an account of any 
member, officer or servant of a public body doing or forbearing to do anything in respect 
of any matter or transaction whatsoever in which the said public body is concerned.’ 

Key Controls 
 Small items such as chocolates, pens and diaries need not be declared unless they 
are offered on a regular basis by the same person or organisation. 

133



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

30

 Items over £25 should be recorded within 28 days of the receipt of the gift or 
hospitality. Written notification must be provided to the Monitoring Officer of the existence 
and nature of that gift or hospitality. 

 Officers must refuse all gifts or hospitality in excess of £100 (if received on one 
occasion) or in excess of a total of £100 (if received on more than one occasion in same 
financial year from the same individual or organisation) except with approval from the 
Chief Executive. 

 Officers must declare any interests they have in external organisations and/or 
partnerships who could potentially influence and are in business with the Authority. 

Responsibilities of Monitoring Officer 
To produce and maintain a register of gifts and hospitability received by officers. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with the guidance as provided by the Monitoring Officer. 

 To maintain an up to date list of gifts, hospitality and interests within their Service in 
adherence with the principles in the guidance. 
 

20. Asset Management 

What is Asset Management? 
Asset Management is the system of monitoring and maintaining items of value to the 
Authority. Asset management is a systematic process of operating, maintaining, upgrading 
and disposing of assets cost-effectively. 

Asset Management relates to land and buildings; furniture, vehicles and equipment; and 
stocks and stores. It covers their acquisition, disposal, security and recording. 

Why is Asset Management important? 
The Authority owns a diverse portfolio of assets in the form of property, vehicles, 
equipment, furniture and other items. It is important that these assets are safeguarded 
and used efficiently and effectively in supporting the delivery of services. The development 
of a comprehensive and effective approach to asset management is key to ensuring that: 
 utilisation of assets is maximised 
 maintenance expenditure is prioritised 
 major capital investment requirements are identified and quantified; and 
 surplus property and other assets are identified for rationalisation and/or disposal. 

Key Controls 
 A corporate asset management strategy is in place. 

 Asset Registers / inventories are in place to record all assets. 

 Accounting policies are in place to control asset classification, capitalisation, 
depreciation and disposal. 

134



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

31

 Assets are disposed of at the most appropriate time and only when it is in the best 
interests of the Council and that the best price is obtained. 

 Managers are responsible for the care, protection and security of assets within their 
control. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To maintain an Asset Register which contains details of all assets owned by the 
Council which exceed the capital de-minimis levels. 

 To ensure appropriate accounting entries are made for the addition and depreciation 
of assets into the Authority’s records. 

 To ensure that assets are valued in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To maintain proper security, care and protection of all building, equipment, vehicles, 
stocks, stores and cash under their control. 
 To inform the Chief Finance Officer and Head of Internal Audit of any missing 
equipment or significant shortfalls in stock as soon as possible after discovery, together 
with explanations for the loss, if known. 

Land & Buildings 
Key Controls 
 Land & Buildings are acquired in accordance with the Property Asset Management 
Strategy. 

 Land & Buildings are purchased only following appropriate authorisation and 
approval. 

 A terrier of all land and buildings owned is maintained, with assets recorded when 
they are acquired and this record is updated as changes occur. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 Ensuring that all acquisitions are properly recorded within accounting records. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 The Director for Growth shall maintain a terrier of all land and buildings owned by the 
Council. The terrier will record the holding Service, purpose for which each property/site 
is held, location and purchase details. 

 The Director for Growth shall arrange for condition surveys to be carried out 

 Arranging for the valuation of land and buildings as necessary to meet the accounting 
requirements of the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To ensure the proper security of all land & buildings under their control. 

135



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

32

Furniture, Equipment & Vehicles 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 The Head of Street Scene will maintain appropriate records of the vehicles held by 
the Council. 

 The Head of ICT will maintain appropriate records of the ICT equipment held by the 
Council. 

 Directors will maintain appropriate records of all other furniture and equipment held 
or deployed by their service. This will include maintaining an up to date inventory of all 
individual items with a purchase value in excess of £100. 
 
 Directors should arrange for the accuracy of the inventory to be verified periodically 
at a frequency appropriate to the risk of loss of the individual items recorded. 

 To ensure that Council property (owned or hired) should not be removed other than 
in the ordinary course of the Council's business except in accordance with directions 
issued by the Director concerned. 

 To ensure the safe custody of furniture, equipment and vehicles. 

Stocks & Stores 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To make arrangements for the maintenance of reasonable levels of stocks and stores 
in their control. 

 To ensure that appropriate up to date records of the level and value of stocks and 
stores held are maintained. 

 To ensure periodical physical examinations of stocks and stores held, against the 
stock records, should be carried out at a frequency based on the value and vulnerability 
of the stock. 

 To ensure proper security is maintained at all times for all stocks & stores. 

Disposal of Assets 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure appropriate accounting entries are made to remove the value of disposed 
assets from the Authority’s records and to include the sale proceeds if appropriate. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 Once land and buildings have been declared surplus to requirements, to arrange for 
the disposal of these assets in accordance with the Council’s strategy. 

 Details of any vehicles which are deemed surplus to requirements shall be advised to 
Fleet Services. Where the vehicle is considered no longer suitable for use within the 
Council, the Fleet Services Manager shall arrange for its suitable disposal. 

136



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

33

 Details of any ICT equipment which a Director deems surplus to requirements shall 
be advised to the Head of ICT.  ICT equipment can only be disposed of by ICT Services, 
and if it is considered redundant in accordance with the ICT Strategy. 

 The Head of ICT is responsible for ensuring that the standards, policies and guidelines 
of decommissioning of ICT equipment are well defined and communicated to all staff 
within the Council. The Data Protection Act must be a key consideration in the 
decommissioning of IT equipment. 

 To identify assets which are deemed surplus to requirements. 

 To secure the best price obtainable for the sale of assets. 

 To record all disposals of assets. 

 To ensure that income received for the disposal of an asset is properly banked and 
coded. 

 To consult with the Chief Finance Officer to ensure all financial implications, including 
accounting for Value Added Tax, are fully considered. 

21. Intellectual Property 

What is Intellectual Property? 
Intellectual Property is a generic term that includes inventions and writing. If these are 
created by the employee during the course of employment, then, as a general rule, they 
belong to the employer, not the employee. Various acts of Parliament cover different types 
of intellectual property. 

Certain activities undertaken within the Authority may give rise to items that may be 
patentable, for example, software development. These items collectively are known as 
intellectual property. 

Why is Intellectual Property important? 
Like any assets, Intellectual Property is an essential factor in ensuring business continuity 
within the Council, and the effective delivery of Council services. It is critical, therefore that 
the Council puts in place adequate controls over the ownership, storage and use of all 
Intellectual Property. 

The Council holds a large quantity of information for a variety of purposes. As such, it is 
essential that an overall strategy is in place and implemented for the management of such 
information to ensure consistency, value for money, accuracy and that any relevant laws 
are followed. 

Key Controls 

137



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

34

In the event that the Authority decides to become involved in the commercial exploitation 
of inventions, the matter should proceed in accordance with the authority’s approved 
intellectual property procedures. 

The Data Protection Act must be considered in relation to the creation, storage and 
distribution of Intellectual Property. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To develop and disseminate good practice through the Authority’s intellectual property 
procedures. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that controls are in place to ensure that officers do not carry out private 
work in Council time and that officers are aware of an employer’s right with regard to 
intellectual property. 

22. Staffing 

What are Staff? 
Council staff are an essential part of providing the highest level of quality services. Staff 
are the greatest single item on which the Council spends its budget. It therefore carries 
not only one of the highest degrees of risk but is also one of the most complex areas. It is 
therefore crucial that procedures and guidance issued by Human Resources are followed 
precisely. Examples of areas where procedures exist are: 
- recruitment; 
- pay and rewards; 
- attendance management; 
- health and safety; 
- discipline; and 
- grievances 

Why are Staff important? 
In order to provide the highest level of service, it is crucial that the Authority recruits and 
retains high calibre, knowledgeable staff, qualified to an appropriate level within the 
resources available. 

Key Controls 
The key controls for staffing are: 
 procedures are in place for forecasting staffing requirements and cost 

 controls are implemented to ensure that officer’s time is used efficiently and to the 
benefit of the Authority

 checks are undertaken prior to employing new officers to ensure that they are 
appropriately qualified, experienced and trustworthy 

138



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

35

 managers communicate all changes to staff (including starters and leavers) to Human 
Resources and Payroll as soon as possible to ensure financial and operational records 
are kept up to date 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that budget provision exists for all existing and new officers. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To produce an annual staffing budget. 

 To ensure that the staffing budget is an accurate forecast of staffing levels and is 
equated to an appropriate revenue budget provision. 

 To monitor officers’ activity to ensure adequate control over such costs as sickness, 
overtime, training and temporary officers. 

 To ensure that the staffing budget is not exceeded without due authority and that it is 
managed to enable the agreed level of service to be provided. 

 The Head of Human Resources to act as an advisor to Directors on areas such as 
national insurance and pension contributions, as appropriate. 

 To ensure that the Head of Human Resources and the Chief Finance Officer are 
informed if the staffing budget is likely to be materially over or under spent. 

 To ensure that all changes to staff (including starters and leavers) are communicated 
to Human Resources and Payroll as soon as possible to ensure financial and operational 
records are kept up to date and that appropriate check lists are completed. 

23. Financial Systems 

What are Financial Systems? 
Financial systems are all computerised systems that directly or via interface are 
responsible for generating payments to or from the Council.

Why are Financial Systems Important? 
Financial Systems are where details of all transactions with the Council are held.  
It is important that these are accurate so that the underlying transactions are 
correct.

Key Controls
 Access control and security of the Council’s Financial systems should be maintained.

 Systems should be reconciled periodically to ensure consistency of data stored within.

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 Approve any new financial systems and interfaces to be introduced.

139



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

36

  Ensure appropriate testing of new financial systems and testing of interfaces between 
systems prior to their introduction.

 Ensure appropriate reconciliation between all financial systems.

 For all corporate financial systems:
- Ensure all input is genuine, complete, accurate, timely and not previously 

processed
- All processing in carried out in a complete, accurate and timely manner
- Output from all systems is complete, accurate and timely in an agreed format
- Effective contingency and disaster recovery arrangements exist for all 

computerised systems, to include; back-up / rollback and processes to deal to an 
interruption to the system

- Ensure systems are documented and staff trained in the operation of them
- Correct any errors identified during the interfacing or reconciliation processes

Responsibilities of Directors
 Seek approval of the Chief Financial Officer before changing any existing system or 
introducing any new financial system.

 For all business area specific financial systems:
- Ensure all input is genuine, complete, accurate, timely and not previously 

processed
- All processing in carried out in a complete, accurate and timely manner
- Output from all systems is complete, accurate and timely in an agreed format
- Effective contingency and disaster recovery arrangements exist for all 

computerised systems, to include; back-up / rollback and processes to deal to an 
interruption to the system

- Ensure systems are documented and staff trained in the operation of them
- Correct any errors identified during the interfacing or reconciliation processes

24. Income Collection and Management 

What is Income Collection and Management? 
Some Services have the facility to charge for the services provided as part of their day to 
day operations. All charges must ensure compliance with the relevant statutes governing 
local authority activities. Charges may be levied in advance when a service is booked, at 
the point of sale or by the raising of a debtors invoice after the service has been delivered. 
Examples of these include: 
Charges at point of sale: 
- entrance fees; 
- cultural activities
- car parking; and 
- professional fees e.g. Local Search fees and Planning Permission Fees. 

Debtor Invoices 
- sundry debtors. 

140



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

37

The Council also collects income arising from local taxation, namely Council Tax and 
Business Rates, and income from parking penalty notices. 

Why is Income Collection and Management important? 
The collection of income is a significant part of the Council’s business and is a vulnerable 
asset. Effective revenue collection systems are necessary to ensure that all revenue due 
is identified, collected, receipted and banked securely and effectively. It is preferable to 
obtain revenue in advance of supplying goods or services as this improves the Authority’s 
cash flow and also avoids the time and cost of administering debts. 
In order to ensure that cash flow is maximised and costs are minimised, it is essential that 
income is collected in as complete and timely manner as is possible. This would normally 
be at the point of sale or service. 

Key Controls 
 All debtor invoices must be raised via the Corporate Debtors system. Invoices raised 
need to be appropriate and legitimate and are calculated correctly. 

 All income due to the Authority is legitimate, recorded and charged correctly, in 
accordance with an approved charging policy, which is regularly reviewed. 

 Value Added Tax (VAT) at the appropriate rate must be levied and collected in line 
with VAT guidance. 

 All income is collected from the correct person, at the right time, using the correct 
procedures and the appropriate stationery. Appropriate supporting documentation is 
retained in the event of debt recovery procedures being invoked. 

 All money received by an employee on behalf of the Authority is banked in a timely 
manner, to the Authority’s bank and is properly recorded in the Council’s financial system. 
 
 There is adequate separation in duties in identifying amounts due and the 
responsibility for collection, as far as is practicable. 

 All debtor invoices must be raised via the Corporate Debtors system or other 
authorised debtor systems. 

 Effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined timescales. 

 Formal approval in accordance with the authorised limits (see Appendix A), for debt 
write-off is obtained. 

 Appropriate accounting adjustments are made following write-off action. 

 All appropriate income documents are retained and stored for the defined period in 
accordance with the document retention schedule. 

 Money collected and deposited is reconciled to the bank account by a person who is 
not involved in the collection or banking process. 

141



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

38

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To agree arrangements for the collection of all income due to the Council and to 
approve the procedures, systems and documentation for its collection and accounting for 
VAT. 

 To approve the design of controlled stationery and arrangements for its control and 
security. 

 To agree the write-off of bad debts in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation. To 
develop and maintain a Corporate Debt Management Policy. 

 To develop and maintain up to date procedural guidance for the collection of income 
due to the Council. 

 To ensure that appropriate accounting adjustments are made following write off 
action. 

 To establish and initiate appropriate recovery procedures, including legal action 
where necessary, for debts that are not paid promptly. 

 To seek approval from Council on an annual basis for discretionary fees which will 
apply to transactions in the following financial year. 

Responsibilities of Monitoring Officer 
 To provide guidance on the retention and storage of income related documents. 

 To provide guidance to ensure compliance with the relevant statutes governing local 
authority activities. 

 To arrange appropriate insurance for all Council safes, as necessary. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To establish a charging policy for the supply of goods or services, including the 
appropriate charging of VAT, and to review it annually, in line with corporate policies. 
 
 To determine where charges can be made at point of sale and where there is a need 
to raise a debtors invoice. 

 To establish adequate procedures and controls to ensure that all staff entrusted with 
Council money are properly accountable. 

 To separate the responsibility for identifying amounts due and the responsibility for 
collection, as far as is practicable and ensure staff are clear of their roles and 
responsibilities. 

 To issue official receipts or to maintain other documentation for income collection. 
Officers must issue machine printed or official receipt forms or tickets when receiving all 
monies due to the Council. All official receipt forms (miscellaneous receipt books) shall be 
pre-printed, and Officers must sign all such receipts when issued. 

142



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

39

 To ensure that at least two employees are present when post is opened so that money 
is received by post is properly identified and recorded under arrangements agreed with 
the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To hold securely receipts, tickets and other records of income for the appropriate 
period. 

 To order and issue all controlled stationery (receipt forms, books or tickets and similar 
items). The design of controlled stationery and arrangements for its control and security 
should be approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To lock away all income to safeguard against loss or theft, and to ensure the security 
of cash handling. 

 To ensure that income is paid fully and promptly into the appropriate Authority bank 
account in the form in which it is received.  

 To reconcile monies collected to evidence bankings in accordance with procedures 
determined by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To keep a record of all overs and shorts so that any necessary adjustments can be 
made by arrangement with the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To ensure income is not used to cash personal cheques or other payments. 

 To supply the Chief Finance Officer with details relating to work done, goods supplied, 
services rendered or other amounts due, to enable a sundry debtor invoice to be raised in 
a form approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To ensure that sundry debtor invoices are raised promptly and within seven calendar 
days of supply and the debt is supported by sufficient documentary evidence. 

 To ensure that VAT is appropriately applied and the correct VAT category is used.
  
 Directors have a responsibility to assist the Chief Finance Officer in collecting debts 
that they have originated, by providing any further information that may be requested by 
the debtor or by Legal Services in the event of Court action. 

 To ensure that cash held on premises does not exceed approved limits and adequate 
insurance coverage has been obtained. 

 To keep a record of every transfer of money between employees of the Authority. The 
receiving officer must sign for the transfer and the transferor must retain a copy. 

 To recommend to the Chief Finance Officer all debts to be written off and to keep a 
record of all sums written off up to the approved limits. Once raised, no bona fide debt 
may be cancelled, except by full payment or by its formal writing off. A credit note can only 
be issued in relation to a debt in order to correct a factual inaccuracy or administration 
error in the calculation and/or billing of the original debt. 

143



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

40

 To obtain the approval of the Chief Finance Officer when writing off debts in excess 
of the approved limit, and the approval of Cabinet where required. 

 To notify the Chief Finance Officer of outstanding revenue relating to the previous 
financial year as soon as possible after 31 March in line with the timetable determined by 
the Chief Finance Officer. 

25. Ordering and Payment of Works, Goods and Services 

What is Ordering and Payment for Goods and Services? 
Every day officers within the Council will order and/or authorise payments for goods and 
services. An order is a formal instruction requesting goods and services for which a 
payment will be given. An order should be electronic, represent a commitment on behalf 
of the Council, and form a contract with suppliers. 

The Council has Contract Procedure Rules in place which aim to achieve value for money 
in the purchase of goods and services. These rules set the framework to ensure that 
procurement delivers value for money across all services and directly contributes to the 
achievement of our corporate priorities. 

Why is ordering and payment important? 
Public money should be spent with demonstrable probity and in accordance with the 
Authority’s policies. Authorities have a statutory duty to achieve best value in part through 
economy and efficiency. The Authority’s procedures should help to ensure that services 
obtain value for money from their purchasing arrangements. These procedures should be 
read in conjunction with the Contract Procedure Rules. 

Key Controls 
 All goods and services are ordered only by appropriate persons and are correctly 
recorded. 

 Only authorised officers set up in the E-procurement system can authorise unless in 
exceptional circumstances as approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 Goods and services received are checked to ensure they are in accordance with the 
order. 

 Payments are not made unless a valid purchase order is provided, goods have been 
received by the Authority to the correct prices, quantity and quality standards unless in 
exceptional circumstances as agreed by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 All payments are made to the correct supplier, for the correct amount and are properly 
recorded, regardless of payment method. 

 Normal method for all payments is via BACS. 

 All appropriate evidence of the transaction and payment documents are retained and 
stored for the defined period, in accordance with the document retention guidelines. 

144



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

41

 All expenditure, including VAT is accurately recorded against the right budget and any 
exceptions are corrected. If VAT is being re-claimed there is a need to ensure that it is 
appropriate to do so and a VAT invoice is provided. 

 All invoices with Construction Industry Tax liability are accurately processed in 
accordance with the scheme. 

 All invoices are addressed to South Kesteven District Council. 

  In addition, the effect of e-business/e-commerce and electronic purchasing requires 
that processes are in place to maintain the security and integrity of data for transacting 
business electronically. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that the Authority’s main financial systems and procedures are sound and 
properly administered. 

 To approve any changes to existing financial systems and to approve any new 
systems before they are introduced. 

 To make payments from the Authority’s funds on the authorisation of officers in line 
with the Authorised Limits (see Appendix A) that the expenditure has been duly incurred 
in accordance with financial regulations. 

 To ensure the security, safe keeping and maintenance of blank cheques. 

 To ensure that payments are authorised in accordance with the bank mandate. 

 To ensure payments are processed for the correct amount. 

 To make payments, whether or not provision exists within the estimate, where the 
payment is specifically required by statute or is made under a court order. 

 To make payments to contractors based on the certification of the appropriate Director 
or nominated representative which must include details of the value of work, retention 
money, amount previously certified and amounts now certified. 

 To provide advice and encouragement on making payments by the most economical 
means. 

 To ensure that a budgetary control system is established that enables commitments 
incurred by placing orders to be shown against the appropriate budget allocation so that 
they can be taken into account in budget monitoring reports. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that officers use e-procurement for the raising of purchase orders and 
details of goods/services receipted are recorded in the system unless there are 
exceptional circumstances as approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

145



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

42

 To ensure that goods and services are purchased in accordance with the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

 To ensure orders for goods and services are correctly addressed. 

 To ensure that orders are only used for goods and service provided to the department 
or are purchased for recharge to voluntary organisations providing services that 
complement those provided by the Council. 

 To ensure individuals do not use official orders to obtain goods or services for their 
private use. 
 
 Each order sent to a supplier must include the contract price or quotation obtained as 
well as the contract/quotation reference. 

 All invoices are in the name of South Kesteven District Council and contain accurate 
information in line with the order. 

 To ensure invoices are processed in a timely manner. 

 To ensure that where access to the computerised ordering system is available it is 
used to create a commitment to be shown against the budget head. Any exemption from 
this requirement to be subject to the approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To ensure that there are sufficient officers authorised to act on the Directors behalf 
for approving orders and paying invoices without orders.  The approval limits should not 
exceed the Authorised Limits (see Appendix A).
 

26. Grant Payments 

What are Grant Payments? 
South Kesteven District Council recognises and values the contribution that community 
and voluntary organisations make to their communities. Accordingly, grants are given to 
them to deliver services and activities that are in line with the Council’s priorities, aims and 
objectives. This funding supports a range of activities including grants to the third sector. 
 
Why are Grant Payments important? 
Grant payments are important as they are designed to help and support those 
organisations, often those who may have access to only limited resources, who provide 
services and organise activities for the local community. As this funding is sourced from 
public sources, it is important to ensure that it is spent in an appropriate way. 

Key Controls 
 Checks are undertaken on the integrity and financial standing of organisations to be 
funded. 

 All applications are facilitated through a standard application form which requires 
various information including up to date accounts, bank statements, constitution, DBS 

146



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

43

information and child protection policies (where applicable) and expected outcomes which 
will arise from the funding provided. The amount of information requested will be 
proportionate to the amount of funding granted. 

 Procedures are in place for the review and approval of grant applications, ensuring 
that expected outcomes align with Council priorities, aims and objectives. 

 Funding agreements are signed off by both parties to confirm the terms and conditions 
on which the provision of funding is based. This will include the outcomes expected, 
performance indicators, and reporting requirements. 

 Monitoring arrangements are established to ensure that evidence is provided by the 
organisation on a periodic basis to confirm that outcomes have been achieved in line with 
the grant funding agreement and that systems, processes and financial controls remain 
appropriate. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that all grant payments are properly recorded in the Council’s accounts. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that grant awards are consistent with Council priorities, aims and 
objectives. 

 To ensure grants awarded are in line with available budgets. 

 To ensure that appropriate monitoring arrangements are in place, thereby obtaining 
assurance that funding has been applied for the purposes intended. 

 
 To ensure that all grant payments are subject to annual consideration and approval. 

27. Purchase Cards 

What are Purchase Cards? 
Purchase cards are a form of company charge card that allows goods and services to be 
procured. Purchase cards are issued directly to employees. 

Why are Purchase Cards important? 
Purchase cards provide the Council with another method of payment for goods and 
services and reduces the need for cash within the Authority. Purchase cards also provide 
the Authority with greater visibility of ad-hoc transactions. 

Key Controls 
 All purchase card transactions must be logged on the financial system. 

 All purchase card transactions must be matched to the bank transaction and 
authorised by the authorising manager. 

147



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

44

 Cards must be held securely and not shared. 

 Purchase cards must not be used for personal transactions. 

 Purchase cards must only be used by the individual who it is assigned to. 

 Purchase cards will only be issued to individuals who have received appropriate 
training. 

 Individual transaction and monthly limits must be agreed by the authorising manager. 

 Purchase cards must only be used in accordance with the prevailing policy.

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To provide guidance to all officers on the proper use of Purchase Cards within the 
Council. 

 To ensure that appropriate accounting guidelines are in place for transactions where 
the purchase card is used, including the accounting for VAT. 

 To approve purchase cards to be issued to individual officers and approve individual 
and monthly transaction limits. 

 To arrange cancellation of the Purchase Cards when an officer leaves the Authority. 

 To provide guidance on receipt retention. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with the rules and guidance provided by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To set the individual and monthly transaction limits. 
 
 To ensure that officers who are allocated Purchase Cards and their Managers are 
aware of their responsibilities regarding this (and further detail contained within the 
Purchase Card User Guide). 

 To ensure that the card is returned to the Exchequer team, in person, in the event the 
cardholder leaves the Authority. 

 To ensure that VAT receipts are retained for the appropriate period. 

28. Payments to Employees and Members 

What are Payments to Employees and Members? 
As part of main Council business, the Council has to pay officers their salaries. In addition, 
payments can be made for other expenses which they have occurred on behalf of their 
duties. 

148



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

45

Salaries and wages are paid in accordance with the approved Establishment List for the 
Council. Salaries are paid on the third Friday of each month, partly in advance and partly 
in arrears. All payments are made by BACS. 
Members’ allowances are paid monthly through the payroll system. 

Why are Payments to Employees and Members important? 
Officer costs are the largest item of expenditure for most Councils. It is, therefore, 
important that payments are made accurately, timely, made only when they are due and 
that payments accord with individuals’ conditions of services. 

It is also important that all payments are made accurately, recorded and accounted for 
and that Members allowances are authorised in accordance with the scheme adopted. 

Key Controls 
Key controls are: 
a) Proper authorisation procedures are in place and that there is adherence to corporate 
timetables and procedures in relation to the prompt notification of all changes including: 

- Starters; 
- Leavers; 
- Variations; and 
- Enhancements. 

b) All payments are made in accordance with the terms and conditions of employment, 
and approved timesheets and claims where appropriate; 

c) Frequent reconciliation of payroll expenditure against approved budget and bank 
account; 

d) All appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the defined period in 
accordance with the document retention schedule; and 

e) HMRC regulations are complied with. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 

 To arrange and control secure and reliable payment of salaries, wages, compensation 
or other emoluments to existing and former officers, and to determine and approve the 
associated procedures. 

 To record and make arrangements for the accurate and timely payment of tax, 
superannuation and other deductions complying with statutory requirements. 

 To make arrangements for payment of all travel and subsistence claims or financial 
loss allowance. 

 To make arrangements for paying Members travel or other allowances upon receiving 
the prescribed form, duly completed and authorised. 

149



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

46

 To provide advice to secure payment of salaries and wages by the most economical 
means. 

 To ensure that there are adequate arrangements for administering superannuation 
matters on a day-to-day basis. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure appointments are made in accordance with the regulations of the Authority 
and approved establishments, grades and scale of pay and that adequate budget 
provision is available. 

 To notify the HR Service of all matters affecting payments as soon as possible and in 
the required manner. In particular: 

- appointments, resignations, dismissals, suspensions, secondments and transfers; 
- absences for sickness or other reason, apart from approved leave; 
- changes in pay rates, other than pay awards and agreements of general application; and 
- information necessary to maintain records of service for superannuation, income tax and 
national insurance. 

 To ensure that adequate and effective systems and procedures are operated so that: 

- payments are authorised to bona fide officers only; 
- payments are only made where there is a valid entitlement; 
- conditions and contracts of employments are correctly applied; and 
- officer’s names listed on the payroll are checked at regular intervals to verify accuracy 
and completeness. 

 To ensure all officers’ expenses are paid via payroll. 

 To certify travel and subsistence claims and other allowances. Certification is taken 
to mean that journeys were authorised and expenses properly and necessarily incurred, 
and that allowance are properly payable by the Authority, ensuring that cost-effective use 
of travel arrangements is achieved. Due consideration should be given to tax implications 
and that the Chief Finance Officer is informed where appropriate. 

 Officers’ claims submitted more than six months after the expenses were incurred will 
be assessed and determined, for payment or otherwise, by the Director. The Chief 
Finance Officer will provide guidance on which the assessments and determination can 
be made. 

 To ensure that the Chief Finance Officer is notified of the detail of any employee 
benefits in kind, to enable full and complete reporting within the income tax self-
assessment system. 

 To ensure that all appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the 
defined period in accordance with the document retention guidelines. 

150



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

47

29. Taxation 

What is Taxation? 
There are five types of taxation which the Council will be aware of and take account of 
when it carries out its business. These are: 
- Value Added Tax (VAT); 
- Income Tax and National Insurance; 
- Construction Industry Scheme (CIS) Tax; 
- Insurance Premium Tax; and
 Corporation Tax (on companies it controls) 
Each has its own rules and relates to different areas of the Council’s business. 

Why is Taxation important? 
Like all organisations, the Authority is responsible for ensuring its tax affairs are in order. 
Tax issues are often very complex and the penalties for incorrectly accounting for tax are 
severe. It is therefore very important for all Officers to be aware of their role. 

Detailed consideration of future spending is required to ensure that the Council can 
continue to recover all the VAT it incurs, both on new schemes and on its existing 
expenditure. It is therefore important for all officers to be aware of their role in ensuring 
the Council’s compliance with and adherence to HMRC's VAT Regulations and the 
requirements of the Council’s VAT guidance. 

It is important that the Council does not waste resources through under recovery of VAT, 
failing to identify taxable transactions and account for VAT due at the correct time, 
unnecessarily incurring non-UK VAT that is generally unrecoverable, or by making poor 
decisions due to inadequate information. 

Key Controls 
 Budget Managers are provided with the relevant information and kept up to date on 
tax issues. 

 Budget managers are instructed on required record keeping. 

 All taxable transactions are identified, properly carried out and accounted for within 
stipulated timescales. 

 Records are maintained in accordance with instructions. 

 Returns are made to the appropriate Authorities within the stipulated timescale. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that there are proper arrangements in place for the administration and 
accounting of the four areas of taxation. 

 To ensure that all arrangements comply with the Council’s statutory responsibilities. 

 To complete a monthly return of VAT input and outputs to HMRC. 
 

151



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

48

 To provide details to HMRC regarding the CIS Tax deduction scheme. 

 To maintain up-to-date guidance for officers on taxation issues in the taxation manual 
on the Intranet with updates on significant changes. 

 Complete the Council’s annual partial exemption calculation and ensure that, as far 
as possible, this is not exceeded. 

 Provide VAT advice, both strategically and operationally. 

 To complete all HMRC returns regarding PAYE, on a timely basis. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that the correct VAT liability is attached to all income due. 

 To ensure that all VAT recoverable on purchases complies with HMRC regulations. 

 To ensure that all capital work and revenue development is notified to the Council's 
VAT Officer at the earliest opportunity where any of the following apply: 
- significant VAT is incurred; 
- any VAT-exempt income is generated; or 
- there are non-cash benefits, e.g. Land swap or provision of services at below market 
price. 

 To fund any interest charges or penalties falling upon the Council from HMRC that 
result from their Directorate's failure to account for the correct VAT at the correct time. 

 To retain all VAT-related documents in accordance with the Council’s document 
retention policy. 

 To ensure that, as far is possible, tax is accounted for in the correct tax accounting 
period. 

 To ensure that, where construction and maintenance works are undertaken, the 
contractor fulfils the necessary construction industry tax deduction requirements. 

 To ensure that all persons employed by the Authority are added to the Authority’s 
payroll and tax deducted from any payments, except where the individuals are bona fide 
self-employed or are employed by a recognised agency. 

 To ensure officers are aware of and follow the guidance on taxation issued by the 
Chief Finance Officer in the Authority’s Tax manual. 

 To ensure that officers are aware of their responsibilities in relation to self-billing (see 
self-billing regulation). 

30. Document Retention 

152



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

49

What is Document Retention? 
Laws and best practice provide requirements and guidelines for the retention and 
maintenance of documents, along with details as to how long they should be kept. A 
Document Retention Policy provides a systematic way of deciding to keep or destroy 
documents which have been received or created in the course of business. It gives 
guidance on how documents should be kept and how they should be destroyed. 

Why is Document Retention important? 
Document Retention is important as it provides a means of supplying evidence which 
verifies that income and expenditure recorded in the Council’s financial statements is valid, 
accurate and complete. External organisations also require such confidence. There are 
strict guidelines and legal requirements in place to satisfy bodies such as HMRC. 

A document retention policy will help to simplify the running of a Service by promoting 
efficiency and freeing up valuable storage space. Also, a document retention policy can 
protect you, ensuring you have evidence for your practice when required, and help makes 
sure laws are being followed. 

Key Controls 
 An understandable and clearly communicated Document Retention Policy is in place. 

 All key areas of the Councils operations are covered within the policy. 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that a comprehensive Document Retention Policy is in place and this is in 
line with statutory guidance. 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure compliance with the guidance within their services. 

 To ensure that any amendments to the guidance are reported to the Records Manager 
on a timely basis. 

31. Partnerships (including Joint Ventures and Companies) 

What are Partnerships? 
Partnerships provide alternative arrangements for the Council to ensure services 
are delivered to the local community.  This may be better than providing the 
services directly or by procuring a service from another agency.

Why are Partnerships, Joint Ventures and Wholly Owned Companies Important? 
The distinctive role of the Council is one of leadership to bring together the 
contributions of the various agencies.  We therefore need to deliver a shared vision 
of services based on user wishes.  Partnerships play a key role in delivering 
community strategies and in helping to promote and improve the well-being of the 
area. The Council can work in partnership with others - public agencies, private 
companies, community groups and voluntary organisations. 

153



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

50

There are many reasons to enter into partnerships including:
- Providing new and better ways of delivering services to our residents
- Creating formal structures to bind partners to work together long-term for 

shared objectives
- Sharing risk with others
- Accessing new resources, including funding
- Forging new relationships

Key Controls 
 All partnerships should be appropriately constituted, with clear and unambiguous 
rules for decisions, expenditure, goals and responsibilities.
 
 All partnerships should file accurate annual returns in a timely manner, in an 
appropriate form to the nature of the partnership.

 The key aims of the partnership should be agreed and committed to from all partner 
agencies.

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that the accounting arrangements to be adopted for each partnership are 
satisfactory. 

 To ensure that corporate governance arrangements and legal issues have been 
considered.

 To ensure that risks are fully appraised and reported before agreements are entered 
with external agencies.

 To ensure that any specific insurance is considered for any officers or members acting 
formally as a Director to any formally constituted company.

 To ensure that the Council’s share of any financial impact is appropriately fed into the 
financial statements, medium term financial planning and budget planning processes.

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To develop a suitable business case setting out the purpose of each partnership 
proposed and why the proposed route is the best to meet the Council’s objectives.

 To ensure appropriate approvals are obtained before any negotiations are concluded 
with external agencies.

 To ensure that appropriate processes are put in place to represent the interests of the 
Council, in line with their stake in any partnership arrangement.

 To monitor the Council’s share of any financial impact of the partnership is 
incorporated into the Council’s budget monitoring processes.
 
 To monitor all other performance aspects of the partnership.

154



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

51

32. External Funding 

What is External Funding? 
Sources of external funding provide additional resources to enable the Council to deliver 
services to the local community. This can be provided by the in-house service, or by 
commissioning partners or other agencies. Care needs to be taken, to ensure that the 
funding conditions meet the aims and objectives of the Council. 

Smaller organisations may be prohibited from bidding for directly accessing some sources 
of external funding, relying on the Council to effectively sponsor their business case.  If 
the Council accepts, then it becomes the accountable body for the grant; making it 
ultimately responsible for its correct use.

Why is External Funding important? 
External funding is a very important source of income, especially at a time when the 
Council’s resources are limited and scarce. However, funding conditions need to be 
carefully considered to ensure that they are compatible with the aims and objectives of the 
Authority. 

Local authorities are increasingly encouraged to provide seamless service delivery 
through working closely with other organisations and private service providers. Funds from 
external agencies provide additional resources to ensure that the Council objectives are 
achieved.  By acting as Accountable Body for others, the Council may enable projects to 
proceed and support the achievement of wider objectives within its area.

Key Controls 
The key controls for external funding are: - 

 to ensure that the key conditions of funding are understood and complied with; 
including planning and approval for any match funding and revenue costs associated with 
any capital grant (such as ongoing maintenance costs).

 to ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities approved in the policy 
framework by the Council; 

 to ensure that risks associated with the funding are known and mitigated – particularly 
around the potential future clawback of external funding

 to ensure any long-term constraints on assets is understood, recorded and adhered 
to, which arise from conditions attached to accepted grants. 

 to assign a service area responsible for oversight of performance of any agency where 
the Council is acting as Accountable Body for external funding.  

 to have a developed exit strategy for when the grant concludes.

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 

155



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

52

 To ensure that all funding notified by external bodies is received and properly 
recorded in the Authority’s accounts. 

 To ensure that any match funding requirements are considered prior to entering into 
agreements and the future revenue budgets reflect these requirements. 

 To ensure that the revenue implications that arise from one off capital grants are 
understood before the grant is accepted. 

 To ensure that any necessary claims or returns are made within the deadlines set. 

 To ensure that audit requirements are met.

 To include the income and expenditure in the Council’s Annual Statement of 
Accounts. 

 To advise on requirements for ensuring that the Council’s duties as Accountable Body 
for external funding are met 

 To adjust the budgets in line with appropriately approved and awarded grants.

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure all applications for funding are consistent with the Council’s priorities.

 To seek appropriate approval to accept any external funding in line with the authorised 
limits (see Appendix A).

 To ensure risks, constraints and any ongoing funding commitments are documented 
and fully considered against the benefits of any grants received.

 To ensure that all claims for funds and other returns are made accurately and duly 
signed by the due date. 

 To ensure that the project progresses in accordance with the agreed programme and 
that all expenditure is properly incurred and recorded. 

 To ensure that the appropriate approval is obtained prior to incurring additional 
expenditure on schemes, projects, programmes etc. which is to be financed wholly by 
additional grants or other income. 

 To ensure that relevant documentation is retained in accordance with the terms of the 
grant as per the Council’s document retention scheme. 

 To provide on an annual basis details of external funding which have been agreed. 

 To provide a breakdown of projected income and expenditure each year so that these 
can be properly budgeted for in the Council’s financial system.

 To ensure appropriate performance monitoring of any funding where the Council is 
acting as Accountable Body.

156



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

53

33. Work for External Parties 

What is Work for External Parties? 

Legislation enables the Council to provide a range of goods services to both individuals 
and organisations.  Various pieces of legislation cover whether costs can be recovered, 
the extent a surplus can be earned and whether there are restrictions on the use of any 
income received.  The requirements may be directly agreed with the Council, or it may 
choose to bid to provide a service via a tender process.

Why is Work for External Parties important? 
Work may be chargeable and enable a unit to maintain economies of scale and existing 
expertise.  Depending on the service and the recipient then the income may contribute to 
the Council’s central running costs.  

Key Controls 
 Ensure that the work falls within the Council’s statutory powers.

 Ensure all parties are clear about what services are being provided and the basis of 
any such provision.

 Ensure risks associated with the work are known, documented and appropriately 
managed.

 Ensure proposals are costed properly and any charges are within Council’s statutory 
powers.

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 Ensure that all income and expenditure relating to External parties is contained within 
the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts.

 Support business areas to calculate costs associated with any service offered.

 Adjust budgets in line with any agreed changes in income and expenditure resulting 
from any approved works for External Parties.

Responsibilities of Directors 
 Ensure that appropriate approval is sought in advance of any formal agreement to 
proceed in line with the Authorised Limits (see Appendix A).

 Ensure that the business area has the appropriate expertise and capacity to 
undertake any work before committing the Council into provision.

 Ensure that appropriate documentation is agreed between the parties including what 
services are being provided, charges, timing and trigger points of payments.

157



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

54

 Ensure risks are identified in advance and a risk management plan put in place; this 
could include:

- Appropriate insurance provision
- Appropriate timing of payments
- Appropriate contract management

 To provide a breakdown of any projected income and any additional expenditure each 
year so that these can be properly budgeted for in the Council’s financial system and 
included within the Statement of Accounts.

158



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

55

APPENDIX A – AUTHORISED LIMITS
Operationally there are a series of decisions that are required to allow the Council to operate efficiently without seeking approval from 
Council each time (for example moving budgets, accepting grants or writing off bad debt).  This appendix sets out limits and 
responsibilities for these matters.  The amounts provided are the limits per scheme or project.  The Chief Finance Officer is 
responsible for maintaining this document to maintain operational effectiveness (with any changes to limits taken in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member responsible for Financial matters).  Any changes to limits should be included within the next financial monitoring 
report.

Nothing contained within this Appendix prohibits formal delegation by Full Council or Cabinet to delegate greater limits or a project, 
scheme or area basis.

Virements - Revenue Budgets (sections 6, 33 and 34 of Financial Regulations)
Virements (adjustments) to revenue budgets can take place under a range of circumstances:

- Revenue (current year only) – can be between employee to employee budgets or non-employee to non-employee budget 
lines (see section 6 of Financial Regulations) *

- Revenue (grant funded) – note such changes will only be for the period of the grant (see section 33 of Financial Regulations)
- Revenue (external income) – this should only be for the duration of any contract, unless there is an expectation that income 

will be sustainable (see section 34 of Financial Regulations)
* One-off virements should only be used when moving budgets from one area of responsibility to another.  If they are maintained 
within one service area, consider reporting an underspend in one area, offset by an overspend in the other.

The table below sets out as a minimum the approval required from the business, finance and members depending on the size of the 
change: 

Business Lead Finance Lead Member Lead Consultation Revenue
(in-year)

Revenue 
(grant 

funded)

Revenue 
(external 
income)

Head of Service Team Leader N/A Assistant Director Up to £25,000 Up to £25,000 Up to £25,000
Assistant Director Chief Finance 

Officer or deputy
N/A Strategic Director £25,000 - 

£50,000
£25,000 - 
£50,000

£25,000 - 
£50,000

Strategic Director Chief Finance 
Officer

N/A Cabinet Member £50,001 - 
£100,000

£50,001 - 
£100,000

£50,001 - 
£100,000

Strategic Director Chief Finance 
Officer

Cabinet Member N/A £100,001 - 
£150,000

£100,001 - 
£150,000

£100,001 - 
£250,000

Strategic Director Chief Finance 
Officer

Cabinet N/A £150,001 - 
£500,000

£150,001 - 
£500,000

£250,001 - 
£500,000

Strategic Director Chief Finance 
Officer

Full Council N/A Over £500,000 Over £500,000 Over £500,000

159



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

56

Virements – Capital Budgets (Section 3 of Financial Regulations)

Virements to capital budgets can take place under a range of circumstances:
- Capital (grant funding) – if we have successful in securing grant funding
- Capital (external contribution) – if we have received income from another external source (such as a developer contribution)
- Capital (intra-scheme transfer) – if a scheme is going to overspend and this can be contained by transferring from another 

scheme in the same financial year without a risk that this will lead to an overspend in that scheme

The table below sets out as a minimum the approval required from the business, finance and members depending on the size of the 
change:

Business Lead Finance Lead Member Lead Consultation Capital (grant 
funding)

Capital 
(external 

contribution)

Capital (intra-
scheme 
transfer)

Head of Service Team Leader N/A Assistant Director Up to £10,000 Up to £10,000 N/A
Assistant Director Chief Finance 

Officer (or deputy)
N/A Strategic Director £10,001 - 

£25,000
£10,001 - 
£25,000

Up to £50,000

Strategic Director Chief Finance 
Officer

N/A Cabinet Member £25,001 - 
£50,000

£25,001 - 
£50,000

£50,001 - 
£100,000

Strategic Director Chief Finance 
Officer

Cabinet Member N/A £50,001 - 
£150,000

£50,001 - 
£150,000

£100,001 - 
£150,000

Strategic Director Chief Finance 
Officer

Cabinet N/A £150,001 - 
£250,000

£150,001 - 
£250,000

£150,001 - 
£200,000

Strategic Director Chief Finance 
Officer

Full Council N/A Over £250,000 Over £250,000 Over £200,000

160



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

57

Additions to Budgets (Sections 2 (Capital) & 3 (Revenue) of Financial Regulations)
Additions to the approved budget framework where no external funding has been secured (including creation of new business areas) 
can be agreed by Cabinet or Full Council depending on the size of the area:

Approval Body Revenue and Capital
Cabinet Up to £150,000 per addition up to 

£500,000 cumulative per financial year
Full Council Over £150,000 per addition and over 

£500,000 cumulative (per year)
Note that these limits do not apply if being fully funded from an external contribution or grant – see the virements section for 
approach and limits in these circumstances.

Authorised Signatories (Section 26 of Financial Regulations)
The following table sets out the limit per transaction for raising orders, approving invoices (without an order) and approving expenses 
to employees; noting that no payment should be split into smaller components to circumvent these limits. 

Authorised By: Authorised Limit for Orders & Invoices

£

Authorised Limit for Payroll & Expenses

£

Team Leaders Up to £10,000 Up to £500

Heads of Service £10,001 - £30,000 £501 - £2,000

Assistant Directors £30,001 - £200,000

Strategic Director/Chief Finance 
Officer

Over £200,000

Over £2,000

The Chief Finance Officer can, based upon a satisfactory explanation of need, agree an increase for officer(s) within a business area, 
for any amount up to the Chief Finance Officer’s current limit.

Bad Debt Write-Off (Section 25 of Financial Regulations)
Any debit or credit balance under £50 per individual debt can be written-off by a Head of Service (or equivalent) without the need to 
be counter-signed.  In all other cases, each write-off will be countersigned by the Chief Finance Officer or their deputy as appropriate 
as laid out in the table below.

161



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

58

Proposed by: Authorised By: Delegated Limit (per 
debt)

£

Heads of Service (or 
equivalent)

Relevant Heads of Service & Assistant Director - Resources £50 - £2,000

Assistant Director Assistant Director & Assistant Director - Resources £2,001 – £5,000

Strategic Director/ Chief 
Finance Officer

Strategic Director & Chief Finance Officer (in consultation with Cabinet 
Member for Finance)

£5,001 – £25,000

Cabinet Strategic Director, Chief Finance Officer & Cabinet Over £25,000

Emergency Payments under the Emergency Plan (Section 5 of Financial Regulations)

          Director (in consultation with Chief Executive or Chief Finance Officer) up to £100,000
          Leader and Chief Executive in excess of £100,000

Other

Inventories Threshold £1,000
Cheques and electronic payments countersigned £25,000 (subject to approval by 

bankers)
Capital Threshold As per the accounting policy

Definition of Roles

Throughout the document references are made to job titles and roles.  During the period of the Regulations it is possible that titles 
will change.  Therefore the updated title shall be equivalent (in terms of the management structure) to the title used in this document.

162



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
December 2019

59

 

163



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
April 2019

60

APPENDIX B – RECOMMENDED PERIODS FOR THE RETENTION OF RECORDS

Type of Document Retention Period (Years)

Accountancy/Financial

Abstract of accounts 6

Audited accounts Retain indefinitely

Budgetary control records 6

Costing records 6

Estimate working papers 2

Financial ledgers 6

Grant claim records 6

Investment records 2

Journals 6

Leasing records 2

Loans records Retain indefinitely

Records re closing ledgers 6

Telephone call records 2

VAT claims 6

VAT records 3

Voluntary fund accounts 6

Bank Related Records

164



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
April 2019

61

Bank paying-in books/slips 6

Bank reconciliation 6

Bank statements 6

Cancelled cheques 2

Cheque books and counterfoils 6

Cheque lists (creditors/payrolls) 2

Loan records and correspondence 2

Paid cheques 4

Returned cheque records 2

Contracts

Final accounts of contracts executed under hand 6

Final accounts of contracts executed under seal 12

Successful tenders 3 years after final payment

Unsuccessful tenders Retain until final 
payment is made

Creditor Records

Copy orders 2

Credit notes 6

Creditor invoices 6

Delivery notes 2

Imprest documentation 2

Periodic payment records 6

165



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
April 2019

62

External Funding

Funding documentation and associated invoice/payment 
details

6 years or in accordance with
 the terms of the individual

grant requirements

Income Records

Cash books 6

Correspondence (income) 2

Debtor accounts (records non-current) 2

Income posting slips and tabulations 2

Periodic income records 2

Receipt books 2

Record of receipt books issued 2

Registrar’s quarterly returns 2

Sales records 2

Miscellaneous Records

Annual report Retain indefinitely

Bound copies of minutes Retain indefinitely

Capital works tabulations 2

Car leasing and mileage records 3

Car loans 3

Computer system documentation 2

Inland Revenue documentation 6

Inventory records 6

Land searches 6

166



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
April 2019

63

Member allowances 2

Minutes 2

Postal remittance registers 2

Stock lists 2

Travel claims 6

Valuation lists Retain indefinitely

Vehicle logs 2

Insurance Records

Expired insurance contracts Retain indefinitely

Insurance claims 6

Insurance policy documentation Retain indefinitely

Insurance register Retain indefinitely

Payroll

BACS amendments and output 3

Building society tabulations 3

Copy payslips 6

Correspondence 6

Life certificates (pensions) 2

Monthly BACS listing 3

NI file cashbook 2

NI number changes 2

167



South Kesteven District Council Financial Regulations

South Kesteven District Council
Financial Regulations 
April 2019

64

Payroll adjustment documentation 6

Part time employees’ claim forms 6

Pensions personal records Retain indefinitely

SSP records 4

Staff transfer records 6

Starters’ forms 2

Superannuation Records Retain indefinitely

Tax and NI records 6

Tax code notifications 2

Timesheets 6

Union documentation 2

Weekly BACS listings 3

Note:

 The period of years shown, relates to a complete period following the end of the 
financial year to which the record relates.

 No documents or records should be disposed of until notification has been 
received from the District Auditor of the completion of the audit of accounts for the 
year to which the records relate.

 If a suitable period of retention is in doubt, please refer to the Chief Finance Officer.

168



Governance and Audit 
Committee
18th December 2019

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member 
for Communities and HR
Councillor Adam Stokes, 
Cabinet Member for Finance

        

Contract Procedure Rules Update
This report recommends that the Committee consider and recommend to Council updated 
Contract Procedure Rules.

Report Author

Clare Ellis, Procurement Lead

 01476 406079

 Claire.ellis@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 4 December 2019

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance 5 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Communities and HR 10 December 2019

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 10 December 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. That this Committee recommends to Council the adoption of this revised set of 
Contract Procedure Rules.

169

Agenda Item 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
tel:01476%20406210


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) form part of the Constitution and govern 

the way in which the Council procures goods, services and works.

1.2 They were last reviewed in 2016 following the implementation of the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015.

1.3 Procurement best practice has developed significantly since 2016 and with the Council 
also changing its procurement service from Procurement Lincolnshire to Welland 
Procurement, it was considered that a review was appropriate.

1.4 The amended CPR’s are also consistent with the other Welland partners so collaboration 
and shared working on procurement activities will be consistent (such as all the partners 
adopting the same procurement thresholds). 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 The re-drafted Contract Procedure Rules were developed by Welland Procurement and 

reviewed by the Council’s Procurement Lead to ensure they reflect best practice.

 Available Options Considered

2.2 The current CPRs do not meet the requirements of procurement practice today, for 
example the use of electronic tendering systems. Therefore retaining the current CPRs 
was agreed not to be an option. 

2.3 The Council has to have a set of CPRs to govern its procurement practice and so the only 
remaining option was to have a complete review.

3 Preferred Option
3.1 That these revised Contract Procedure Rules are adopted for use by the Council.

4 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
4.1 The revised set of CPRs reflect the role of Welland Procurement and the Council’s 

Procurement Lead. 

4.2 The revised CPRs allow for the full use of an electronic tendering system as required by 
Regulation 53 of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and best practice. 

4.3 The revised procurement thresholds align with other Councils in the Welland Procurement 
shared service arrangement and will allow the Council to maximise the procurement 
aggregation opportunities available to it. They will also work to ensure the Council 
maximises the value for money it achieves through effective competition. 

4.4 The revised CPRs cover requirements such as the need to investigate when an 
abnormally low bid is received and the requirements of GDPR. 

4.5 There are specific sections of contract variation and extension which clarify when these 
actions can be taken and what authority is needed to take those actions.

5 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
5.1 If approved, all staff will be notified to advise of the updated CPRs, where they can be 

found and the key changes. This communication will include the Quick Reference Guide 
available in Appendix 5.

170



5.2 Welland Procurement will be running procurement training during the early part of 2020 for 
those officers who undertake procurement activity. This will cover the requirements of the 
new CPRs. 

5.3 In the meantime, should officers have questions regarding the use of the new CPRs, the 
Council’s procurement lead will be available to answer those questions either via 
individual meetings or if necessary drop in sessions. 

6 Financial Implications 
6.1 The revised CPRs are designed to ensure that the Council maximises its opportunities to 

achieve value for money through its procurement processes. There is no financial 
implication to their implementation. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

7 Legal and Governance Implications 
7.1 The revised CPRs enable the Council to meet the requirements of the Public Contract 

Regulations (2015) and the Transparency Code (2015). 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Head of Legal Services

8 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
8.1 There are no safeguarding implications. 

8.2 The revised CPRs meet EU Procurement Directive principles of transparency, equal 
treatment, non-discrimination and proportionality.

9 Risk and Mitigation
9.1 The revised CPRs seek to mitigate procurement related risks and if followed will ensure 

that procuring officers meet legal requirements. 

9.2 The remaining risk is as a result of officers not complying with the requirements of the 
CPRs. This will be mitigated through effective communication and the implementation of 
robust internal processes that align with the CPRs.  

10 Community Safety Implications 
10.1 There are no community safety implications.

11 Other Implications (where significant) 
11.1 N/a

12 Background Papers
12.1 N/a

13 Appendices
13.1 Draft proposed Contract Procedure Rules

171



Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

N/a

Previously Considered by: Governance and 
Audit Committee

N/a

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  18 December 2019

172



1

CONTENTS

1 Introduction

2 Roles and Responsibilities

3 Exceptions

4 Procurements valued under £10,000

5 Procurements valued between £10,000 and £49,999

6 Procurements valued between £50,000 and Current Goods and Services EU Threshold

7 Procurements valued between Current Goods/Services EU Threshold and Current Works EU 
Threshold

8 Procurements valued over the Relevant EU Threshold

9 Procuring via a Framework Agreement or Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS)

10 Other Matters to Consider

10.1 Conflict of Interest

10.2 Abnormally Low Bids

10.3 GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018 Requirements

10.4 Organised Crime

10.5 Financial Sanctions

10.6 Sealing a Contract

11 Contract Management

11.1 Contract Management

11.2 Variations

11.3 Extensions

Appendix 1 Definitions

Appendix 2 Variable Information

Appendix 3 Approval Forms
1 Approval for use of a Framework Agreement
2 Approval to Award a Contract
3 Approval for a Contract Extension
4 Exception Approval

Appendix 4 Roles of Welland Procurement and Procurement Lead

173

Appendix 1



2

Appendix 5 Quick Reference Guide

174



3

1 Introduction

The purpose of these Contract Procedure Rules is to set out the principles, roles and processes 
involved in procurement at the Council. All procurements must comply with these rules, the Officer 
Scheme of Delegation, the Council’s Financial Regulations, English law and European law in force in 
England. 

All procurements must realise value for money through the optimum combination of whole life costs 
and quality of outcome.  

These Rules seek to protect the Council’s reputation by minimising the risk of allegations of 
corruption, dishonesty and failure to meet legal obligations, as such they must be followed in all 
procurement activity. 

These Rules are supported by detailed, practical guidance available in the Procurement Toolkit 
(http://wellandprocurement.org.uk/ ).

These Rules apply to: 
- All procurement activities must be carried out in a fair, open, transparent, proportionate and non-

discriminatory manner. 
- Contracts or agreements with external organisations where the Council pays for: 

- Goods and/or Services. 
- Works of any kind. 
- Hire, rental or lease of equipment, material and/or plant.

These Rules do not apply in the following circumstances:

o The purchase or lease of property, land acquisition, interest in land, transaction in land or 
disposal. This does not extend to any service, supplies or works contracts that may be 
required to make the land, existing buildings or immoveable property ready for acquisition, 
disposal or leasing.

o Direct employment of permanent or fixed term employees, for the avoidance of doubt these 
Rules do apply to consultancy and employment agency contracts.

o Instructing barristers or solicitors and those costs do not exceed the relevant EU Threshold.

o The lending or borrowing of money by the Council.

1.1 Estimating the Contract Value
1.1.1 Contract values should be calculated by working out the annual price and then 

multiplying it by the contract length (including any possible contract extensions). 
The Public Contract Regulations’ rules on aggregation must be considered.

1.1.2 Officers will ensure that values are not split in an attempt to avoid the applicability 
of these Rules or the Public Contract Regulations.

175

http://wellandprocurement.org.uk/


4

2 Roles and Responsibilities

Officers

2.1 The Officer responsible for the procurement must comply with these Contract and 
Procurement Procedure Rules and the Financial Regulations. The Officer is also responsible 
for ensuring that any Agents acting on behalf of the Council do so in compliance with these 
Rules and should seek written confirmation of their agreement.

2.2 The Officer must have regard to the guidance contained in the Procurement Toolkit.

2.3 The Officer must check whether a suitable Corporate Contract or other Publicly Available 
Contract exists before seeking to let another Contract. Where such a contract does exist, its 
use should be considered. 

2.4 The Officer must keep the records detailed in these Rules.

2.5 Where an EU procedure is required, the Officer must contact Welland Procurement before 
embarking on the procurement. Welland Procurement are available to provide advice on all 
procurement activity.

2.6 Officers should take all necessary legal, financial and other professional advice.  All officers, 
including the Senior Team are required to obtain the necessary approvals BEFORE 
commencing a procurement process. (The values stated are accumulated spends over the 
life of the contract.) These approvals vary according to value and whether the procurement 
is considered a Key Decision. 

2.7 Where any employee of the Council or of a Supplier may be affected by any transfer 
arrangement (TUPE), the Officer must ensure that the Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of 
Employment) issues are considered and obtain relevant advice.

2.8 Officers must ensure that the contracts for which they are responsible are effectively 
managed and monitored to ensure they deliver the requirement as intended. 

2.9 Where an Officer has a potential conflict of interest within a procurement, the Officer must 
declare this immediately to the relevant Strategic Director and Monitoring Officer. The 
Officer may be required to withdraw from the procurement process. Any Officer who fails to 
declare such a conflict of interest may be subject to disciplinary proceedings and sanctions 
and also risks being prosecuted under the Bribery Act 2010.

Senior Team

176



5

2.10 The Senior Team must ensure that they and their Officers comply with these Rules at all 
times and that sufficient budget is available and approved before procurement process 
begin. 

2.11 The Senior Team must ensure that Value for Money is achieved in all procurements and 
ensure officers have obtained the necessary approvals BEFORE commencing a procurement 
process. (The values stated are accumulated spends over the life of the contract.) These 
approvals vary according to value and whether the procurement is considered a Key 
Decision.  

2.12 The Senior Team must ensure that they have in place a scheme of delegation that records in 
writing what action Officers are authorised to take under these Rules and what action needs 
to be referred to Cabinet or Council.

2.13 In the interests of forward planning, the Senior Team should prepare, maintain and review a 
rolling schedule in respect of procurement activities valued over £50,000.

2.14 The Senior Team is responsible for ensuring that the Council’s Contracts Register is updated 
as required following procurement activity.

2.15 Where an Officer within the Senior Team has a potential conflict of interest within a 
procurement, the officer must declare this immediately to the relevant Strategic Director 
and Monitoring Officer. The Officer may be required to withdraw from the procurement 
process. Any Officer who fails to declare such a conflict of interest may be subject to 
disciplinary proceedings and sanctions and also risks being prosecuted under the Bribery Act 
2010.

3 Exceptions 

3.1 The exceptions listed in this Section do not apply to procurements valued over the relevant 
EU Threshold.  

3.2 Exceptions must be approved by the relevant member of the Corporate Management Team 
(CMT) upon completion of the Exception Form at Appendix 3 subject to one of more of the 
following criteria being fulfilled.

3.2.1 No genuine competition: proprietary or patented goods or services; requirement of 
such a specialist nature that it can genuinely only be fulfilled by one person or 
organisation; compatibility with existing goods or services is required and where 
those existing goods or services can only be sourced from the same supplier. 

3.2.2 Genuine emergencies: critical preventative or remedial work where there is a real 
and imminent risk to the safety of people or property arising from hitherto 
unforeseen ‘catastrophic’ events or incidents, for example fire, bombing, landslide 
etc.

177



6

3.2.3 Urgent Situations not of the Council’s own making: the urgency must have been 
reasonably unforeseeable (e.g. existing supplier going into liquidation) and 
genuinely be a case of time is of the essence. Urgency arising from the Council’s own 
making (e.g. lack of planning) shall not justify an exception. Where this exception is 
used, a compliant procurement must be implemented as soon as possible.

3.2.4 Collaborative/Joint Procurement: where another authority/public body is acting as 
the ‘lead buyer’ and provided that the Officer can demonstrate those arrangements 
comply with relevant Regulations and best practice. 

3.2.5 Grants which the Council may receive or make: except where the grant is the form of 
payment for a contract for services where the Council specifies the output or 
outcomes to be delivered. The awarding of grants by the Council or on behalf of the 
Council must be carried out under the principles of openness, fairness, non-
discrimination and value for money. Officers cannot choose to treat procurement as 
a grant in order to avoid conducting a competitive process. 

3.2.6 Contracts for the execution of either mandatory works or provision of goods or 
services which must be provided by Statutory Provider other than the Council. This 
includes but is not limited to public utility companies and other legal authorities

4 Procurements valued under £10,000

4.1 Where the contract is valued below £10,000, Officers are required to seek at least one 
written quotation. Value for money remains a primary objective and so Officers may decide 
to seek more than one quotation to ensure that objective is achieved. 

4.2 Quotations can be submitted via email but should be PDF documents to prevent tampering 
or accusations thereof. 

4.3 The quotation must be received before any order is processed and must include the 
following information:
a) A description of the goods, services or works to be supplied; 
b) When and where they will be supplied;
c) The value of the requirement;
d) Payment terms.

4.4 The contract award must be authorised by a member of the Senior Team using the relevant 
Approval Form in Appendix 3. 

4.5 The contract or terms and conditions must be signed by a member of the Senior Team.

4.6 Where the value of the contract is more than £5,000, the resultant contract must be added 
to the Contract Register to ensure compliance with Transparency Regulations. 

178



7

5 Procurements valued between £10,000 and £49,999

5.1 Where the contract is valued between £10,000 and £49,999, at least 3 written quotations 
must be obtained. Those quotations must be invited from identified suppliers as no 
procurement advertising can take place.

5.2 It is recommended that the Request for Quotation template document 
(http://wellandprocurement.org.uk/)  is used. In any case the criteria for selecting the most 
advantageous quotation must be established before the quotations are invited and be made 
clear in the procurement documentation.

5.3 At least one of the suppliers invited to submit a quotation should be local, where local 
means in the sub-region or region. 

5.4 Where fewer than 3 potential suppliers can be identified, the Officer must keep a written 
record of the reason and all potential suppliers should be invited to quote. It is accepted that 
the Officer may receive fewer than 3 quotations even where 3 or more suppliers have been 
invited to quote.

5.5 Quotations can be submitted via email but should be PDF documents to prevent tampering 
or accusations thereof.

5.6 The Officer must keep copies of the Council’s procurement documentation as well as copies 
of all quotations received and any communication between the Council and the bidders.

5.7 Evaluation of the quotations received must be carried out using the evaluation criteria 
identified in the procurement documentation. Clarification questions may be asked where 
responses would not result in a material change of the bid received.

5.8 The contract award must be authorised by a member of the Senior Team.

5.9 The contact or terms and conditions must be signed by a member of the Senior Team.

5.10 The resultant contract must be added to the Council’s Contract Register to ensure 
compliance with Transparency Regulations. 

5.11 If the contract is valued over £25,000, an award notice on Contracts Finder is required. 
Welland Procurement is responsible for such award notices.

6 Procurements Valued between £50,000 and the Current Goods and Services OJEU 
Threshold

6.1 For contracts valued between £50,000 and the current goods and services OJEU Threshold a 
single stage/open tender process must be completed. This means that all interested 
suppliers are eligible to submit a Tender.

179

http://wellandprocurement.org.uk/


8

6.2 The procurement must be advertised on Contracts Finder, Welland Procurement is 
responsible for managing this advertising. 

6.3 The procurement will be managed using an electronic tendering system; where the 
procuring Officer does not have access to the electronic tendering system they must contact 
Welland Procurement to access that system. 

6.4 It is recommended that the Open Tender template documents are used 
(http://wellandprocurement.org.uk/ ), in any case the Officer must ensure that the required 
Standard Suitability Questions are used. The Officer must ensure that all relevant 
procurement documents are finalised before the procurement is advertised, these will 
include at least the Specification, Terms and Conditions of Contract and weighted evaluation 
criteria. 

6.5 Tenders will be received via the electronic tendering system. The procuring Officer and the 
Procurement Lead will be responsible for opening and logging the tenders to meet Internal 
Audit requirements. 

6.6 Tenders must be evaluated in accordance with the advertised weighted evaluation criteria, 
clarification questions may be asked as long as the response would not have the affect of 
materially changing the tender received. 

6.7 The bidder with the highest evaluation score will be awarded the contract.  If this is not the 
case, the advice of Welland Procurement must be sought prior to award.

6.8 Contract award must be approved in writing by a member of CMT using the form in 
Appendix 3. 

6.9 All bidders must be notified of the Award decision simultaneously in writing (via the e 
tendering system) by the Officer, whether or not their bid was successful.

6.9 The contract must be signed by a member of CMT. In certain circumstances the contract 
may require sealing, please see Section 10.6 below.

6.10 The resultant contract must be added to the Council’s Contract Register to ensure 
compliance with Transparency Regulations. The Officer is responsible for ensuring the 
original signed contract is given to Legal Services for safekeeping.

6.11 The Officer must keep the following records:
a) The method of obtaining tenders.
b) Tender documents produced by the Council.
c) Tenders received from bidders. The successful tender should be retained for at least 

the life of the contract. Unsuccessful tenders should be retained for the first 12 
months of the contract.

d) A written record of the evaluation.

180

http://wellandprocurement.org.uk/


9

e) A record of the Award approval.
f) A signed copy of the Contract which should retained for the life of the contract and 

in normal circumstances for 6 years thereafter.
g) Communications to and from bidders during the procurement process. 

6.12 An award notice is required to be published on Contracts Finder, Welland Procurement is 
responsible for such award notices. 

 7 Procurements for Works Contracts Valued between the Goods and Services OJEU 
Threshold and the Works OJEU Threshold

7.1 For Works contracts valued between the Goods and Services OJEU Threshold and the Works 
OJEU Threshold, the Officer can choose either a single stage/open tender or two 
stage/restricted process. 

7.2 The procurement must be advertised on Contracts Finder, Welland Procurement is 
responsible for managing this advertising. 

7.3 The procurement will be managed using an electronic tendering system; where the 
procuring Officer does not have access to the electronic tendering system, they must 
contact Welland Procurement to access that system.

7.4 It is recommended that the Open Tender template or Restricted Tender template is used, in 
any case the Officer must ensure that the required Standard Suitability Questions are used. 
The Officer must ensure that all relevant procurement documents are finalised before the 
procurement is advertised, these will include at least the Specification, Terms and 
Conditions of Contract and weighted evaluation criteria. 

7.5 Tenders will be received via the e tendering system. The procuring Officer and thethe 
Procurement Lead will be responsible for opening and logging the tenders to meet Internal 
Audit requirements. 

7.6 Tenders must be evaluated in accordance with the advertised weighted evaluation criteria, 
clarification questions may be asked as long as the response would not have the affect of 
materially changing the tender received. 

7.7 The bidder with the highest evaluation score will be awarded the contract.  If this is not the 
case, the advice of Welland Procurement must be sought prior to award.

7.8 Contract award must be approved by a member of CMT using the form in Appendix 3. 

7.9 All bidders must be notified of the Award decision simultaneously in writing (via the e 
tendering system) by the Officer, whether or not their bid was successful.

181



10

7.10 The contract must be signed by a member of CMT. In certain circumstances the contract 
may require sealing, please see Section 10.6 below.

7.11 The details of the resultant contract must be added to the Council’s Contract Register to 
ensure compliance with Transparency Regulations. The Officer is responsible for ensuring 
the original signed contract is given to Legal Services for safekeeping.

7.12 The Officer must keep the following records:
a) The method of obtaining tenders.
b) Tender documents produced by the Council
c) Tenders received from bidders. The successful tender should be retained for at least 

the life of the contract. Unsuccessful tenders should be retained for the first 12 
months of the contract.

d) A written record of the evaluation
e) A record of the Award approval
f) A signed copy of the Contract which should retained for the life of the contract and 

in normal circumstances for 6 years thereafter.
g) Communications to and from bidders during the procurement process

7.13 An award notice is required to be published on Contracts Finder, Welland Procurement is 
responsible for such award notices

8 Procurements Valued Over the Relevant OJEU Threshold

8.1 Where the anticipated value of the contract exceeds the relevant OJEU threshold, the formal 
advice of Welland Procurement must be sought as early as possible and in any case before 
any procurement activity takes place. 

9 Procuring via a Framework Agreement or Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS)

9.1 A contract of any value can be procured via a framework agreement or DPS, compliance with 
these Rules and relevant national and EU law is achieved through compliance with the 
framework agreement/DPS terms and conditions. 

9.2 For the avoidance of doubt, a framework agreement or DPS is considered a compliant 
procurement route where:
a) It has been entered into by the Council in compliance with these Rules; or
b) Another contracting authority, purchasing consortium or Central Government has 

tendered the framework agreement or DPS in compliance with national and EU 
procurement law and the Council is named as a potential user of the arrangement. 

9.3 Contract award must be approved by a member of the Senior Team using the form in 
Appendix 3.

182



11

9.4 The contract must be signed by a member of the Senior Team except where a contract 
requires Sealing as set out at 10.6.

9.5 The resultant contract must be added to the Council’s Contract Register to ensure 
compliance with Transparency Regulations. The Officer is responsible for ensuring the 
original signed/sealed contract is given to Legal Services for safekeeping.

9.6 Where the contract is valued over £25,000 an award notice is required to be published on 
Contracts Finder, Welland Procurement is responsible for such award notices.

10 Other Matters to Consider

10.1 Conflict of Interest
10.1.1 Clause 2.9 and 2.15 define when a conflict of interest must be declared. 
10.1.2 All officers, Members and other stakeholders involved in procuring for the Council 

must sign a Declaration of Interest form at the start of the procurement process. 
This form is available from www.wellandprocurement.org.uk 

10.1.3 This form must be kept on file during the procurement and for the term of the 
contract.

10.2 Abnormally Low Bids
10.2.1 Under the Public Contract Regulations 2015, the Council is required to request an 

explanation of the price or costs proposed in a tender where that price or those 
costs appear to be abnormally low in relation to the requirement.

10.2.2 Advice should be sought from Welland Procurement during this investigation 
process to ensure that the requirements of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 are 
complied with.

10.3 GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018 Requirements
10.3.1 The General Data Protection Regulations and Data Protection Act 2018 impose 

greater obligations on the Council to protect an individual’s information. 
10.3.2 Officers conducting a procurement should ensure that the GDPR screening 

questions, available from Welland Procurement, are completed as early as possible 
in the planning stages of that procurement.

10.3.3 Should any of the GDPR screening questions be answered positively, further advice 
must be sought from Welland Procurement and the Council’s Data Protection 
Officer before any further action is taken. A non-disclosure data protection 
agreement (available from Legal Services) must be entered into either prior to or 
upon commencement of the Contract. 

10.4 Impact of Organised Crime
10.4.1 In 2016 a pilot study was undertaken which found links between organised crime 

and specific categories of public sector procurement.
10.4.2 Areas particularly at risk of involvement with organised crime are taxis/transport, 

waste and areas of low level spend, for example property maintenance. 

183

http://www.wellandprocurement.org.uk/


12

10.4.3 If an officer is seeking to procure in one of these higher risk categories, further 
advice should be sought from Welland Procurement.

10.5 Financial Sanctions Legislation
10.5.1 Financial sanctions are imposed by government and may apply to individuals and 

entities in the UK and abroad. In most cases it is illegal to contract with individuals 
and entities subject to financial sanctions.

10.5.2 Any officer concerned about whether the individual or entity they wish to enter into 
a contract with may be subject to financial sanctions should contact Welland 
Procurement for advice.

10.6 Sealing a Contract
10.6.1 A contract must be sealed where:

10.6.1.1 The Council wishes to enforce the contract for more than six years following 
its expiry (e.g. for land or construction works); or
10.6.1.2 The price paid or received under the contract is a nominal price and does 
not reflect the value of the goods, services or works; or
10.6.1.3 There is any doubt about the authority of the person signing for the other 
contracting party; or
10.6.1.4 A Bond is established on behalf of the Supplier(s) or their guarantors; or
10.6.1.5 Required by the Parties to the agreement; or
10.6.1.6 Any contract with a value over £75,000. 

10.6.2 Where contracts are completed by each side adding their common seal, the affixing 
must be attested by or on behalf of a relevant Strategic Director. The relevant 
Strategic Director (including the Chief Executive) is responsible for the process of 
sealing contract.

10.6.3 Any contract requiring sealing must be passed to Legal Services, accompanied by the 
relevant authority to enter into the contract.  For example, a key decision, non-key 
decision, an Officer Delegated Decision.  Any officer of the Senior Team, who gives 
authority by way of an Officer Delegated Decision, must ensure they have the 
necessary authority/permission to authorise the contract, especially relating to the 
value.

11 Contract Management

11.1 Contract Management
11.1.1 The named Contract Manager should be noted in the Contract Register. All contracts 

must have a named Contract Manager for the entirety of the contract and that 
Contract Manager is responsible for the application of these Rules.

11.1.2 For all contracts valued over £50,000, the Contract Manager must identify the risks 
by maintaining a suitable risk register and ensure that suitable contingency 
measures are in place.

11.1.3 During the life of the contract, the Contract Manager must monitor the overall 
performance of the contract closely in order to ensure any issues of under 

184



13

performance are addressed as soon as possible and any areas of added value are 
identified as soon as possible. 

11.1.4 All contracts must contain the right to terminate the contract in the event of a 
contractor offering any inducement, committing fraud, or committing an offence 
under the Prevention of Corruption Acts. 

3.5 All contracts must require contractors to comply with the Council’s Corporate Counter 
Fraud Strategy.

11.2 Variation
11.2.1 In any case where a variation means that the value of a contract would exceed the 

relevant EU Threshold, or where there is any material change to the contract, the 
contract must be treated as a new procurement under these Rules.

11.2.2 A material change is one which:
11.2.2.1 Would have allowed the admission of other Bidders or the acceptance or 
another tender; or
11.2.2.2 Extends the scope of the contract considerably to goods, services or works 
not initially covered by the Specification; or
11.2.2.3 Changes the economic balance in favour of the contractor in a manner not 
provided for in the procurement documents.

11.2.3 For clarity, a change will be deemed immaterial if the value of the modification is 
both below the relevant EU Threshold and below 10 % of the original contract value 
(15% for works contracts) as provided by Regulation 72 of the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015.

11.3 Extension
11.3.1 A contract should not be extended beyond its initial term unless the contract 

documents allow.
11.3.2 A Framework Agreement shall only be extended if the contract documents allow and 

the original term and extension together should not exceed four years except in 
exceptional circumstances.

11.3.3 Where a business need has been identified which means that a contract is required 
to be extended beyond the term permissible in the original contract documents, 
advice must be sought from Welland Procurement in the first instance and authority 
sought (using the Extension form in Appendix 3) from the Monitoring Officer or the 
S151 Officer if such an extension is proposed.

11.3.4 The Officer must be satisfied that such an extension would achieve value for money 
and be reasonable in all circumstances. The Officer must record the reasons for 
these conclusions in writing.

185



14

Appendix 1: Definitions

Award Notice A notice published on OJEU and/or Contracts Finder which provides 
details of the winning bidder and the final value of the contract. 
Award notices are required for all procurements valued over £25,000

Bidder An individual or organisation who submits a tender or quotation in a 
competitive procurement process

Contracting Authority Has the definition contained within the Public Contract Regulations 
2015. It means the State, regional or local authorities, bodies 
governed by public law or associations formed by one or more such 
authorities or one or more such bodies governed by public law, and 
includes central government authorities, but does not include Her
Majesty in her private capacity

Contract management Is the process of managing contract creation, execution and analysis 
to maximize operational and financial performance at an organization, 
all while reducing financial risk.

Contract term Is the length of the contract including the initial term and any 
extension periods proposed.

Corporate Contract A contract that has already been let by the Council 
Dynamic Purchasing 
System (DPS)

Is similar to an electronic framework agreement, with two exceptions, 
new suppliers can join at any time and it is to be run as a completely 
electronic process. 

EU Procedure A procurement process over the relevant EU Threshold and so 
governed by EU procurement regulations as defined within the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015

EU Threshold The threshold established by the EU above which an EU procedure 
must be carried out. There are thresholds for goods/services, works 
and concessions. The current threshold is contained within Appendix 
2.

Evaluation The process of assessing received tenders or quotations against the 
published criteria to identify the winning bidder, i.e. the bidder with 
the highest evaluation score.

Extension (contract) An additional period identified within the contract, beyond the initial 
term which may be used to lengthen the contract term.

Framework Agreement A framework is an agreement with suppliers to establish terms 
governing contracts that may be awarded during the life of the 
agreement. It is a general term for agreements that set out terms and 
conditions for making specific purchases (call-offs).

Goods Tangible products that satisfy a need
Initial Term The initial period of a contract which may be subsequently extended 
OJEU The Official Journal of the European Union
Procurement Procurement is the process of finding, agreeing terms and acquiring 

goods, services or works from an external source, often via a 
tendering or competitive bidding process.

Publicly available 
contract

A contract that has been let by another Contracting Authority and 
which is available for use by the Council. The Council must have been 
named specifically or generally within the procurement 
documentation in order to enable access.

Quotation A formal statement setting out the estimated cost for a particular job 
or service.

186



15

Services A valuable action, deed, or effort performed to satisfy a need or to 
fulfil a demand.

Specification An exact statement of the particular needs to be satisfied, or essential 
characteristics that a customer requires (in a good, material, method, 
process, service, system, or work) and which a bidder must deliver.

Standard Suitability 
Questions/Questionnaire

The set of standard suitability or selection questions referred to in 
PPN 08/16 which must be used in all advertised procurements.

Tender A written invitation sent to potential suppliers of a good or service to 
inform them about the information required for the buyer to choose 
between them.

Terms and Conditions General and special arrangements, provisions, requirements, rules, 
specifications, and standards that form an integral part of an agreement 
or contract.

TUPE Stands for the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations. This is relevant to any redundancy decisions where a 
business or part of it is transferred from one owner to another

Variation Is an alteration to the scope, term or any other part of a Contract. The 
limitations of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 should be borne in 
mind when varying a contract.

Whole life costs The total cost of ownership over the whole length of the contract and 
sometimes beyond.

Works As defined by the Public Contract Regulations 2015. Means public 
contracts which have as their object any of the following:—
(a) the execution, or both the design and execution, of works related to one 
of the activities listed in Schedule 2;
(b) the execution, or both the design and execution, of a work;
(c) the realisation, by whatever means, of a work corresponding to the 
requirements specified by the contracting authority exercising a decisive 
influence on the type or design of the work

187



16

Appendix 2: Variable Information

The following information is subject to change during the currency of these Contract Procedure 
Rules and may be updated as changes occur by the relevant Strategic Director.

EU Thresholds

From 1st January 2020 to 31st December 2022, the EU Thresholds are:

Goods and services: £189, 330

Works: £4,733,252

Concessions: £4,733,252

Light Touch Regime: £663,540

Welland Procurement

Head of Procurement: Amy Myers (amyers@melton.gov.uk; 07876574944)

Procurement Strategy Manager: Paul Large (plarge@melton.gov.uk; 07769 918574)

Procurement Officer: Richard Moon (rmoon@melton.gov.uk; 07896 856842)

Senior Procurement Officer: Paul Williams (pwilliams@melton.gov.uk; 07887 894811) 

Senior Procurement Officer: Tina Rippingale (trippingale@melton.gov.uk;)

www.wellandprocurement.org.uk

188

mailto:amyers@melton.gov.uk
mailto:plarge@melton.gov.uk
mailto:rmoon@melton.gov.uk
mailto:pwilliams@melton.gov.uk
http://www.wellandprocurement.org.uk/


17

Appendix 3: Approval Forms

APPROVAL FOR USE OF A FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

Guidance Notes
a) A framework agreement is a contract let by another contracting authority, usually 

another Council, or an NHS body or a central purchasing authority (e.g. Crown 
Commercial Service). 

b) The framework agreement must have named the Council as one of its potential 
users, either generally or specifically. 

c) The framework agreement will have been published with rules and guidance 
notes; these must be followed in order for the call off contract to be compliant 
and valid.

d) The Contract Procedure Rules and Procurement Toolkit contain further guidance 
on using a framework agreement. 

e) Approval must be sought before the framework call off process is started.

Name of Officer seeking approval
Service area
Contract title
Description of contract (supporting 
documentation may be attached)
Estimated total value of the contract
Contract start date
Name of framework agreement
Owner of framework agreement
Further competition or direct award
Confirm that rules of the framework 
agreement have been followed
Proposed length of contract (detail any 
extensions)

Authorisation

Member of Senior Team Authorised: Yes ☐ No ☐

Reason for Rejection (if applicable):

Signature

Print Name

Date

189



18

APPROVAL FOR CONTRACT AWARD

Guidance Notes
f) The Contract Procedure Rules set out the rules which must be followed for each 

value of procurement. 
g) The Procurement Toolkit is available to help you with practical advice on 

completing a procurement process.
h) Welland Procurement is on hand to provide practical procurement advice and 

must be involved where the value of the procurement is over the relevant OJEU 
threshold (see Contract Procedure Rules for further details).

Name of Officer seeking approval
Service area
Contract title
Description of contract (supporting 
documentation may be attached)
Procurement process used
Summary of evaluation criteria and 
weightings (supporting documentation 
may be attached)
Copy of final evaluation schedule Please attach
Reason for contract award
Total value of the contract
Contract start date
Length of contract (detail any 
extensions)
Confirm that Contract Procedure Rules 
followed
If no, please provide further information

Yes ☐ No ☐

Authorisation

Senior Team/CMT Member Authorised: Yes ☐ No ☐

Reason for Rejection (if applicable):

Signature

Print Name

Date

Please remember to:
 let Welland Procurement have the relevant details to publish the contract award; and 
 add your Contract to the Contracts Register.

190



19

APPROVAL TO EXTEND A CONTRACT

Guidance Notes
i) In normal circumstances it is only possible to extend a contract where such a 

provision is included in the original terms and conditions.
j) In exceptional circumstances, as set out in 11.3 of these Rules it is possible to 

extend a contract even where there is no provision for such an extension within 
the original terms and conditions. However, advice must be sought from Welland 
Procurement before taking such action. 

Name of Officer seeking approval
Service area
Contract title
Description of contract (supporting 
documentation may be attached)
End date of initial term
Allowable extension period (as defined 
in the Terms and Conditions)
Requested extension period
Reason for extension request
If there is no provision for an extension 
in the original terms and conditions:
Has the advice of Welland Procurement 
been sought?
Has Welland Procurement agreed that 
the Regulation requirements for such an 
extension have been met?
What is the % value of the proposed 
extension?
Has the advice of Legal Services been 
sought? If so, please set out their advice 
here

Authorisation

Senior Team/CMT Member Authorised: Yes ☐ No ☐

Reason for Rejection (if applicable):

Signature

Print Name

Date

191



20

EXCEPTION REQUEST FORM

Name of Officer seeking Exception:    

Service Area:     

Contract Title:

Description of Contract (attach supporting documentation if applicable)

Estimated Total Value of Contract:     

Target Contract Start Date:

Date Justification for Exemption Request Authorised by CMT 
member

  

Must be from the criteria set out in 3.2 of these 
Rules

Signed:

Name:

This Form should be kept on file as evidence of compliance with Contract Procedure Rules.

LEGAL SERVICES (LS) ACTION
LS AUTHORISED:                          YES/NO

REASON FOR REJECTION (IF APPLICABLE):

SIGNATURE:                                                         PRINT NAME:

DATE:                    

192



21

APPENDIX 4: ROLES OF WELLAND PROCUREMENT AND PROCUREMENT LEAD

Procurement Cycle Stage Role Fulfilment 
Needs assessment/business case Procurement Lead with relevant client officer (this is a 

key stage in the identification of possible savings, to 
ensure compliance and that where possible a 
commercial approach is being taken)

Options analysis Procurement Lead with relevant client officer (for the 
same reasons as above)

Procurement Plan Welland Procurement (with relevant Council client 
officer) and with input from Procurement Lead as 
necessary. 

Market testing/market engagement Welland Procurement (with relevant Council client 
officer)

Production of procurement documentation 
including Specification, Request for 
Quotation an Invitation to Tender 
documents, Terms and Conditions of 
Contract

Welland Procurement (with relevant Council client 
officer and Legal Services)

Advertising (Contracts Finder and where 
necessary OJEU)

Welland Procurement

Tender Evaluation Welland Procurement (with relevant Council client 
officer) Legal Services advice should be sought where 
any challenge under Public Contract Regulations 2015 is 
anticipated.

Contract award notices Welland Procurement 
Contract award: contract signing, insertion 
in to Contract Register and contract 
management set up

Procurement Lead (with relevant client officer and Legal 
Services)

Contract Management support Procurement Lead

193



22

APPENDIX 5: QUICK REFERENCE GUIDE

Requirement Identified

Suitable publicly available or corporate contract Yes: follow instructions 
for use. Go to ‘No’ if not 
appropriate.

No

Value under £10,000? Value between 
£10,000 and £49,999?

Value between 
£49,999 and relevant 

EU Threshold?

Value over goods/ 
services EU 
Threshold?

1 written quotation 
required

Demonstrate Value 
For Money

At least 3 written 
quotations required 

with evaluation 
criteria

Evaluate according 
to documented 

evaluation criteria

Value over £25,000? 
Award notice 

required

Criteria for 
evaluation and other 

procurement 
documentation

Advertise on 
Contracts Finder

Evaluate according 
to published 

evaluation criteria

Award notice 
required

Contact Head of 
Welland 

Procurement

Contract signed/sealed by both 
parties before work commences

Contracts Register entry required

Start Contract Management

194



Governance and Audit 
Committee
18 December 2019

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid
Cabinet Member for Communities, 
Health and Wellbeing

        

Local Government Ombudsman Annual Report 
2018/19
This report provides the annual review of complaints received and decisions made from the Local 
Government Ombudsman Letter for 2018/2019

Report Author

Nova Roberts, Head of Customer Experience and IT

01476 406080

nova.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director – Transformation and 
Change 3 December 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive 5 December 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Communities, Health and Wellbeing 10 December 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

It is recommended that the Governance and Audit Committee notes the contents of 
the Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review Letter for the period 1 April 
2018 to 31 March 2019, which is attached to this report as an Appendix.

195

Agenda Item 12

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 Each year the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman produces an Annual 

Review Letter for local authorities detailing the number and type of complaints received 
and decisions made relating to each authority. The annual review letter for the period from 
1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 relating to South Kesteven District Council is attached to 
this report as an Appendix.

1.2 The statistics provided with the Annual Review Letter set out in the attached Appendix 
show that for the year up to 31 March 2019, the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) 
received 15 complaints relating to services provided by this Council. For the same period 
the LGO made 14 decisions relating to the services provided by this Council. One 
complaint received related to a complaint where the decision would be made in the 
following period from 1 April 2019.

1.3 Of the 14 decisions made during the period of the Annual Review Letter, 7 were referred 
to the Council for local resolution.

1.4 Of the remaining 7 decisions made by the LGO, 4 were closed by the LGO after initial 
enquiries, 2 were closed after advice given by the LGO, while the remaining one was 
subject to investigation by the Ombudsman this complaint was not upheld by the 
Ombudsman.  

1.5 The complaint that was not upheld related to Benefits and Tax; the LGO found no 
maladministration with the Council’s processes in response to an alleged breach in 
processes for collecting council tax arrears were appropriate. 

1.6 The 15 complaints were the same amount as from the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 
2018. Of the 15 complaints made, 5 related to Environmental Services, 4 related to 
Planning and Development, 2 related to Corporate Services, 2 related to Benefits and Tax, 
1 related to Housing and 1 related to Other (complaints process advice).

1.7 The 0% upheld rate has improved from 33% in 2017/18. The compliance of local 
authorities to make and monitor LGO recommendations is now included in the data for the 
annual review and is published for authorities included in the link provided in the 
background paper.

2 Available Options Considered
2.1 No other options considered as part of this report

3 Financial Implications 
3.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

4 Legal and Governance Implications 
4.1 The findings are to be welcomed from a governance perspective, as it strongly indicates 

that service delivery in the preceding twelve months has not been judged by the 
Ombudsman as being ‘maladministration’. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail Monitoring Officer

5 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
5.1 None

196



6 Risk and Mitigation
6.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no high risks were identified.

7 Background Papers
7.1 https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/south-kesteven-district-council/statistics

8 Appendices
8.1 Appendix – LGO Annual Review Letter 2018/19

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not applicable

Previously Considered by: Governance and 
Audit Committee

20 September 2018

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not applicable

197

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/south-kesteven-district-council/statistics


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

24 July 2019 
 
By email 
 
Aidan Rave 
Chief Executive 
South Kesteven District Council 
 
 
Dear Mr Rave 
 
Annual Review letter 2019 
 
I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the complaints made to the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman about your authority for the year ending 31 

March 2019. The enclosed tables present the number of complaints and enquiries received 

about your authority, the decisions we made, and your authority’s compliance with 

recommendations during the period. I hope this information will prove helpful in assessing 

your authority’s performance in handling complaints.  

Complaint statistics 

As ever, I would stress that the number of complaints, taken alone, is not necessarily a 

reliable indicator of an authority’s performance. The volume of complaints should be 

considered alongside the uphold rate (how often we found fault when we investigated a 

complaint), and alongside statistics that indicate your authority’s willingness to accept fault 

and put things right when they go wrong. We also provide a figure for the number of cases 

where your authority provided a satisfactory remedy before the complaint reached us, and 

new statistics about your authority’s compliance with recommendations we have made; both 

of which offer a more comprehensive and insightful view of your authority’s approach to 

complaint handling.  

The new statistics on compliance are the result of a series of changes we have made to how 

we make and monitor our recommendations to remedy the fault we find. Our 

recommendations are specific and often include a time-frame for completion, allowing us to 

follow up with authorities and seek evidence that recommendations have been implemented. 

These changes mean we can provide these new statistics about your authority’s compliance 

with our recommendations.  

I want to emphasise the statistics in this letter reflect the data we hold and may not 

necessarily align with the data your authority holds. For example, our numbers include 

199

Appendix 1



enquiries from people we signpost back to your authority, some of whom may never contact 

you. 

In line with usual practice, we are publishing our annual data for all authorities on our 

website, alongside our annual review of local government complaints. For the first time, this 

includes data on authorities’ compliance with our recommendations. This collated data 

further aids the scrutiny of local services and we encourage you to share learning from the 

report, which highlights key cases we have investigated during the year. 

New interactive data map 

In recent years we have been taking steps to move away from a simplistic focus on 

complaint volumes and instead focus on the lessons learned and the wider improvements 

we can achieve through our recommendations to improve services for the many. Our 

ambition is outlined in our corporate strategy 2018-21 and commits us to publishing the 

outcomes of our investigations and the occasions our recommendations result in 

improvements for local services.   

The result of this work is the launch of an interactive map of council performance on our 

website later this month. Your Council’s Performance shows annual performance data for all 

councils in England, with links to our published decision statements, public interest reports, 

annual letters and information about service improvements that have been agreed by each 

council. It also highlights those instances where your authority offered a suitable remedy to 

resolve a complaint before the matter came to us, and your authority’s compliance with the 

recommendations we have made to remedy complaints. 

The intention of this new tool is to place a focus on your authority’s compliance with 

investigations. It is a useful snapshot of the service improvement recommendations your 

authority has agreed to. It also highlights the wider outcomes of our investigations to the 

public, advocacy and advice organisations, and others who have a role in holding local 

councils to account.   

I hope you, and colleagues, find the map a useful addition to the data we publish. We are 

the first UK public sector ombudsman scheme to provide compliance data in such a way and 

believe the launch of this innovative work will lead to improved scrutiny of councils as well as 

providing increased recognition to the improvements councils have agreed to make following 

our interventions. 

Complaint handling training 

We have a well-established and successful training programme supporting local authorities 

and independent care providers to help improve local complaint handling. In 2018-19 we 

delivered 71 courses, training more than 900 people, including our first ‘open courses’ in 

Effective Complaint Handling for local authorities. Due to their popularity we are running six 

more open courses for local authorities in 2019-20, in York, Manchester, Coventry and 

London. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 

Finally, I am conscious of the resource pressures that many authorities are working within, 

and which are often the context for the problems that we investigate. In response to that 

situation we have published a significant piece of research this year looking at some of the 

200

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/about-us/our-aims/our-mission-and-objectives
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


common issues we are finding as a result of change and budget constraints. Called, Under 

Pressure, this report provides a contribution to the debate about how local government can 

navigate the unprecedented changes affecting the sector. I commend this to you, along with 

our revised guidance on Good Administrative Practice. I hope that together these are a 

timely reminder of the value of getting the basics right at a time of great change.  

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
 

Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

201

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/dec/councils-mustn-t-throw-out-the-rule-book-in-the-face-of-pressure-says-ombudsman
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/dec/councils-mustn-t-throw-out-the-rule-book-in-the-face-of-pressure-says-ombudsman
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/guidance-notes/principles-of-good-administrative-practice


Local Authority Report: South Kesteven District Council 

For the Period Ending: 31/03/2019  

 

For further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website  

 
Complaints and enquiries received  
 

Adult Care 
Services 

Benefits and 
Tax 

Corporate 
and Other 
Services 

Education 
and 

Children’s 
Services 

Environment 
Services 

Highways 
and 

Transport 
Housing 

Planning and 
Development 

Other Total 

0 2 2 0 5 0 1 4 1 15 

 

Decisions made 
 

Detailed Investigations  

Incomplete or 
Invalid 

Advice 
Given 

Referred 
back for 

Local 
Resolution 

Closed After 
Initial 

Enquiries 
Not Upheld Upheld Uphold Rate (%) Total 

0 2 7 4 1 0 0 14 

Note: The uphold rate shows how often we found evidence of fault. It is expressed as a percentage of the total number of detailed investigations we completed. 

 

Satisfactory remedy provided by authority  

Upheld cases where the authority had provided a satisfactory 
remedy before the complaint reached the Ombudsman 

% of upheld 
cases 

0 0 

Note: These are the cases in which we decided that, while the authority did get things wrong, it offered a 
satisfactory way to resolve it before the complaint came to us. 

202

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics


Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations  

Complaints where compliance 
with the recommended remedy 
was recorded during the year* 

Complaints where the 
authority complied with 

our recommendations on-
time  

 

Complaints where the authority 
complied with our 

recommendations late  
 

Complaints where the 
authority has not 
complied with our 
recommendations  

 

 
 
 

0 
0 0 0 Number 

0% - Compliance rate** 

Notes:  
* This is the number of complaints where we have recorded a response (or failure to respond) to our recommendation for a remedy during the reporting year. This includes complaints that may have been 
decided in the preceding year but where the data for compliance falls within the current reporting year. 
** The compliance rate is based on the number of complaints where the authority has provided evidence of their compliance with our recommendations to remedy a fault. This includes instances where an 
authority has accepted and implemented our recommendation but provided late evidence of that. 
 

 

203



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2019
	7 Internal Audit Update including Internal Audit Indicative Plan 2020/21
	Appendix A Progress Report December 2019 SKDC
	Appendix B Follow Up 2 12.19.20 FINAL SKDC
	Appendix C Internal Audit Indicative Plan 2020

	8 Risk Management Annual Report 2018-19 including proposed changes to the Risk Management Framework
	Appendix A Corporate Risk Register
	Appendix B Risk Management Framework - proposed changes - action plan

	9 Treasury Management activity 2019/20 mid-year review
	10 Review of Financial Regulations
	FINANCIAL REGULATIONS NEW SKDC ALTERNATIVE VERSION v1.6

	11 Contract Procedure Rules
	Draft CPRs V2

	12 Local Government Ombudsman Annual Report 2018/19
	South Kesteven District Council




